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)
27
( )
2015 12
616,054 — — 616,054
— 132,933 30,770 163,703
— 1,368 58,506 59,874
— — 9,974 9,974
616,054 134,301 99,250 849,605
2014 12
693,748 — — 693,748
= 158,809 44,707 203,516
— 1,780 64,280 66,060
_ — 3,586 3,586
693,748 160,589 112,573 966,910
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( )
2015 12
555,654 — — 555,654
— 72,913 43,472 116,385
— 14,194 101,742 115,936
555,654 87,107 145,214 787,975
— 3,502 — 3,502
— 7,446 24,852 32,298
— 10,948 24,852 35,800
555,654 98,055 170,066 823,775
2014 12
641,413 — — 641,413
— 85,846 53,291 139,137
— 16,149 129,427 145,576
641,413 101,995 182,718 926,126
— 1,928 586 2,514
— 5,899 10,801 16,700
— 7,827 11,387 19,214
641,413 109,822 194,105 945,340
( ( ) )
FRS 101
GS
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iTraxx CDX LCDX(
)
( )
( )
iTraxx CDX LCDX
(
)
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2015 12 2014 12 12.4
2015 12 2014 12
(
2015 12 2014 12
3.2 19.7 1.9 17.0
6.2 ) 3.8 )
18.0 70.0 57.1 57.1
(2015 12 2014 12 (33.7 ) G7.1 )
642 0.7 11.8 1.3 12.7
758 ) (5.4 ) G.7)
2.9 14.3 1.6 24.4
6.7 ) (5.5 )
0.0 70.0 0.0 70.0
(2015 12 2014 12 (58.8 ) (37.4 )
444 1.9 5.5 0.7 6.4
10.3 ) (3.1 ) (3.0 )
(
)
(2015 12 2014 12 0.9 14.5 0.9 6.3
152 2.4 ) 1.5 )
187 ) / 8.6 13.3 15.8 15.8
(1.4 ) (15.8 )
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ooooOoog
2015 12 2014 12 21.4 31.2
2015 12 2014 12
136 242
( / )
2015 12 2014 12
(2015 12 2014 12
22.8
33.6 )
46 99 57 99
(68 /66 ) @7 /75 )
(bps) 952bps (bps) 700bps
(174bps/131bps) (143bps/107bps)
88 84
(24 /20 (35 /16
) )
55 14 60
(34 /40 ) (30 /25 )
(2015 12 2014 12
(276) (65) 94 (34) 91
(484) ) (38 /45 ) (46 /42 )
14 59 68
(26 /26 ) (1 /21 )
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2015 12 2014 12
2015 12 2014 12
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2015 12 2014 12
2015 12 2014 12
2015 12 2014 12
( )
2015 12 ( )
48,198 17,501 1,238 66,937
14 544,300 4,803 549,117
48,212 561,801 6,041 616,054
— 132,933 — 132,933
— 1,368 — 1,368
48,212 696,102 6,041 750,355
21,038 3,584 62 24,684
28 528,277 2,665 530,970
21,066 531,861 2,727 555,654
— 72,842 71 72,913
— 10,715 3,479 14,194
21,066 615,418 6,277 642,761
— 3,502 — 3,502
— 5,322 2,124 7,446
— 8,824 2,124 10,948
21,066 624,242 8,401 653,709
(14) 16,023 2,138 18,147
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OooooOodd
( )
2014 12 ( )
40,292 23,983 1,976 66,251
17 621,663 5,817 627,497
40,309 645,646 7,793 693,748
— 158,809 — 158,809
— 1,780 — 1,780
40,309 806,235 7,793 854,337
22,740 4,889 21 27,650
34 611,032 2,697 613,763
22,774 615,921 2,718 641,413
— 85,722 124 85,846
— 13,412 2,737 16,149
22,774 715,055 5,579 743,408
— 1,928 — 1,928
— 5,056 843 5,899
— 6,984 843 7,827
22,774 722,039 6,422 751,235
Q@n 10,631 3,120 13,734

2015 2014
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OooooOodd
( )
( )
/
C )
2015 12

7,793 646 680 401)  (1,399) 934 (2,212) 6,041

7,793 646 680 (401)  (1,399) 934  (2,212) 6,041
(2,718) ®) 99 (383) 324 (424) 383 (2,727)
(124) 0} — — 55 — — 1)
(3,580) 538 —  (4,811) 2,422 (549) 377 (5,603)
(6,422) 528 99  (5,194) 2,801 (973) 760 (8,401)

2014 12

8,055 2,509 1,700 (765)  (3,089) 712 (1,329) 7,793

180 — — — — — (180) _

8,235 2,509 1,700 (765)  (3,089) 712 (1,509) 7,793
(3,835) (423) ) (655) 1,173 (245) 1,268 (2,718)
(1,010) — — — 886 — — (124)
(2.668) 132 @ (2,954) 1,773 447) 586 (3,580)
(7,513) (291) (3) (3.609) 3,832 (692) 1,854 (6,422)
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ooooooo
2015 12
2014 12
2015 12
2014 12 261 179 238
146
( )
( )
( )
2015 12 2014 12
136 80
93 118
(90) (62)

12 31 139 136
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2015 12 2014 12
1,125.7
2015 12 2014 12
248.5 113.9
1,2
1
2
625 2014
(

2015

489

1,452.1

2014
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Ogoooood
992.5
1,827.2
( )
2015 12 2014 12
6,778 6,015
1,804 2,510
235 22
2,039 2,532
1,050 1,265
751 852
1,801 2,117
238 415
7,016 6,430
532 657
2015
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Ogoooood
( )
/
2015 12
555,654 — — — — — 555,654
60,086 41,900 3,378 11,021 — — 116,385
86,050 2,267 688 27,367 — — 116,372
701,790 44,167 4,066 38,388 — — 788,411
_ _ — — 3,413 89 3,502
— 1 6 19 21,111 12,591 33,728
— 1 6 19 24,524 12,680 37,230
701,790 44,168 4,072 38,407 24,524 12,680 825,641
— 29,276 — — — — 29,276
— 8 16 72 347 15 458
4,137 — — — — — 4,137
4,137 29,284 16 72 347 15 33,871
705,927 73,452 4,088 38,479 24,871 12,695 859,512
2014 12
641,413 — — — — — 641,413
74,056 49,908 5,273 9,900 — — 139,137
91,919 3,626 439 50,068 — — 146,052
807,388 53,534 5,712 59,968 — — 926,602
— _ — — 2,418 96 2,514
— 2 4 26 9,110 8,675 17,817
— 2 4 26 11,528 8,771 20,331
807,388 53,536 5,716 59,994 11,528 8,771 946,933
— 34,572 — — — — 34,572
— 8 16 74 385 80 563
4,001 — — — — — 4,001
4,001 34,580 16 74 385 80 39,136
811,389 88,116 5,732 60,068 11,913 8,851 986,069
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ooooooo
)
( )
2015 12 2014 12
379,594 369,545
307,759 294,994
( )
2015 12 2014 12
22,036 24,404
20,146 17,656
2015 12 2014 12 576.4 575.4
2015 12 2014 12 387.1

354.6
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2014 12

80

24

10

125

(
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80
/C )
( )
2015 12 2014 12
2) 85
18 (80)
® 5
158
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ooo0000
IAS 39
( )
2015 12 2014 12
221 1,047
10,036 11,095
5,300 6,248
26,625 23,670
42,182 42,060
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( )
2015 12
76 93
99 1,160
175 1,253
175 1,253
@ (101)
@ (101)
@ (101)
2014 12
64 64
120 1,308
184 1,372
184 1,372
@ 92)
@ 92)
@ %2
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( )
/C ) C )
2015 12

2 120

6 150

8 270

8 270

@ 32)

@ 32)

— (&)

@ (33)

2014 12

27 119

66 144

93 263

93 263

2 (D)

2 (31)

— (&)

2 32)

28
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2015 12

1,2

15,662  (11,579) 4,083 1) (726) (1,993) 1,343
608,906  (59,789) 549,117  (474,498)  (42,162)  (11,095) 21,362
624,568  (71,368) 553,200  (474,519)  (42,888)  (13,088) 22,705
191,094  (27,391) 163,703  (48,219) —  (112,475) 3,009
55,187 (6,758) 48,429 (542)  (32,202) (7,900) 7,785
870,849  (105,517) 765,332  (523,280)  (75,090) (133,463) 33,499

84,273 — 84,273 — — — 84,273

955,122  (105,517) 849,605  (523,280)  (75,090) (133,463) 117,772

1,164 (1,164) — — — — —
589,450  (58,480) 530,970  (474,498)  (32,203) (8,617) 15,652
590,614  (59,644) 530,970  (474,498)  (32,203) (8,617) 15,652
150,534  (34,149) 116,385  (48,130) — (52,066) 16,189

67,453 (5,027) 62,426 1)  (42,162) — 20,243

808,601  (98,820) 709,781  (522,649)  (74,365)  (60,683) 52,084

3,502 — 3,502 (89) — (3,343) 70
8,694 (6,697) 1,997 (542) — — 1,455
12,196 (6,697) 5,499 (631) — (3,343) 1,525

820,797  (105,517) 715,280  (523,280)  (74,365)  (64,026) 53,609

108,495 — 108,495 — — — 108,495

929,292  (105,517) 823,775  (523,280)  (74,365)  (64,026) 162,104

83.4 74.9
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( )
2014 12

1,2

17,460  (14,453) 3,007 (161) — — 2,846
759,612  (132,115) 627,497  (549,005)  (42,710)  (10,215) 25,567
777,072 (146,568) 630,504  (549,166)  (42,710)  (10,215) 28,413
219,234 (15,718) 203,516  (88,761) —  (109,488) 5,267

58,046 (9,975) 48,071 (602)  (28,928) (8,903) 9,638

1,054,352  (172,261) 882,091  (638,529)  (71,638) (128,606) 43,318

84,819 — 84,819 — — — 84,819

1,139,171  (172,261) 966,910  (638,529)  (71,638) (128,606) 128,137

744,162  (130,399) 613,763  (549,005)  (28,928)  (16,091) 19,739
744,162 (130,399) 613,763  (549,005)  (28,928)  (16,091) 19,739
164,830  (25,693) 139,137  (88,665) —  (35,933) 14,539
72,453 (8,601) 63,852 (161)  (42,710) — 20,981
981,445  (164,693) 816,752  (637,831)  (71,638)  (52,024) 55,259

2,514 — 2,514 (96) — (2,418) —
9,603 (7.568) 2,035 (602) — — 1,433
12,117 (7,568) 4,549 (698) — (2.,418) 1,433

993,562  (172,261) 821,301  (638,529)  (71,638)  (54,442) 56,692

124,039 — 124,039 — — — 124,039

1,117,601  (172,261) 945,340  (638,529)  (71,638)  (54,442) 180,731

125.2 105.0
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATICHAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY}
Profit and Loss Account

Year Ended Decembaer

3§ in enilions Nege 2015 2014
Mk revenuss & 57,08 58430
Adminisirative gepenses & 4,07 7Y (4, 158)
Oiperating profit 2,818 2278
Interest payabie and smiar charges -] {285) (i)
Mt france incoma 1 r 7
hmmwmmﬂmtmuﬂm 2661 2080
Tax on proft on ordinary actvites | {155 (453
Profit for the finandclal year 52,308 51,608

Mt revanuss and cperating proft of the company are derved from confinuing opsrations in the curment and price years.

Statements of Comprehensive Income

'r'lI_'End-ld Ccembar
£ i milloms Nt NE 2014
Profit for the financisl year § 2,308 & 0,608

Oiher comprehanlve | nooms!loss)

IRiermes Ehat will reot e reclassified subsequently to proft of loss

Actuarial profidiioss) relating to the pension scheme {11] [k} 111
LUK, deksread tax atiribotebde to ®e actuanal profbiloes) 18 1 [Fra]
Other comprehensive Income! [loss) for the Ananclal year, net of fax [Fi] E: -]
Total comprehensive income for the Ninanc sl year 5 2,306 51,897

The accerrpanmying nates sk an inbigral pan of hete Erandial sabements.
53
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GOLDSLAN S ACHS INT ERMAT 0 NAL (URLIAITED COMPANY)

Balance Sheet
B of Disctmibar
§ b il 1 Hote 205 FiEs
Awed assets
Targble 3530 12 ] 1 1 12
TrivFTm s 14 1 2
12 1%
Durrert e els
Firancial instruments ooebd (rcluder §17 008 sl §24,404 pledged ar colatersl 30 of Decembar 2015 and
Dhiscas embyser 1014, ro e ctiwsely) 15 B16,054 BII 748
Collmeraitiad Do s 18 LR E] 03 510
Dbsors 17 &0, 48 LLEL
Lt n bk and in hand I3 9.974 J560
450,213 T 4011
Creditors: amounts falling dus wit hin one year
Firancial instrumants sobd, but not vee purchared 1% 555 654) B141)
Collateralised dnarsings 19 [116,385) (129,137)
I(eher orediore i §116 300 | (145 5 044
[EEEREERT [ LEESS]
Met currert azselis L] 40087
Tolal assels |55 cumerd labdites B892 4081
Crechiors: amourts falling due after more than orm war
Collmerabized iharaings 19 (2.502) z514)
Ceheer cre diors ) [52.239) {16.700)
[25,200) (192 14)
Prossgions for libilities il = 1T}
[ s FEH 71740
Pargsin fagher 10 Fil 57
et 3 22els including perison sufphas § .95 5 11997
Capital 3 reserves
Called up share capital I i a2 ¥ 533
Shimre e i I BECoUn 4,064 1883
Capital rese v (non -disk butable) 17 i7
Proft 5nd lots secount 20,550 18584
Todsl share holder s Punds § 26,353 $ 11997

The financial satermants were approved by the Board of Direclors on March 14, 2016 and sgned on its behalf by

U !

M. 5. Sherwood
Director

This Bccompanying notes 3re an inde gral par of these Snancal FoRemants,
Companmy nsmb er: G2 52051
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Statements of Changes in Equity
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fear Ended December

Called up share capital
_Balance. baginning of year

e — ~
Bolonce endctwer N — ]
Share premium account
Balance. beginning of year 2,863 ZEES
Sharet miued 2,001 -
L L —— L S 2083
Capltal reserve fnon-i striuabie)
Balance, beginning of year 7 17
Balance. snd of year i 17
Profil and loss account
Balance, beginning of ysar 18,584 18 Ay
Profit iz the fnanssl year 3,308 808
Other cormprahseri incomelons) 12) EH
Share-based paymants [T 528
et recle st she bl o, R — —
Halancn end of yaar 0,590 16584
Total shareholder' s funds 526,353 520,997
Mo dividands wird paid i 2015 and 2014,
This Bccompanying rotes & an inbegral part of fvese Inancisl shebements.

35
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Statements of Cash Flows

5 in Fndlong Hode 2015 2014
Cash Mows from operating activities

Carth genenated fom cpamtions M um i@
Tacationrecehed 00000000 3 L]
Tavgnn paed 403 L]
He2 cash fomi(osed in) cperating activiies ARG (L]
Cash Mows from investing activities

Payments o acquins bisgble foed aiials 1] [F:]
MNotomhvd b bvwalng wibelos S _m i
Cash Mows from finmncing activities

Reeiph fomissng oednary shavecapl L mem -
Inberast paid on longsterm subordnated loans @#1n {168
Receipts from isswing long-term subordinated loans 2500 -
Mt cash Fromiused in) Enencing edvilies 4333 {166
Med increasedecreass) in cash and cash equivalents BE10 235
Cash and cash equivalents, begening of year 57T 4,004
Foreign exchange losses on cash and cash squicahents [478) (193
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year FE] 53,070 53677

The accompanying notes are an integral part of fwess fnancial stabements.

56
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Mote 1.
General Information

The company B a prvale wnlimited company and s
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address
of its registered office is Peterborough Court, 133 Fleet Street,
London, EC44 2BB, United Kingdom.

The company's immediate parent undertaking iz Goldman
Sachs Group UK Limited (GSGUR), a company meorporated
and demigiled i England and Wales.

The ultimate controlling undertaking and the parent company
of the smallest and largest group for which consolidated
financial statements are prepared is The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc., a company incorperated m the United States of
Amenca. Coples of its consolidated financial statements, as
well as certain regulatory filings, for example Quarterly Report
on Form 10-0) and Anmul Report on Form 10-K, that pravide
additional mformation about G5 Group and its  business
activities, can be obtained from Investor Relations, 200 West
Street, Mew York, NY 10282, United States of America, GS
Group's  principal  place of  business, or at
www . goldmansachs com/sharcholders’.

Basael Il Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company 15 included in the comsolidated Fillar 3
disclosures of GSGURK, which are required by the ELT Capital
Requirements Regulation GSGUK s 2015 Pillar 3 disclosures
will be made available in comunction with the publication of
s financial  statements  at  www goldmansachs. com/
disclosres/,

Country-by-Country Reporting

The company is included in the consolidated country-by-
coumiry reporting disclosures of GSGUK, which are required
by the Capital Reguirements (Country-by-Country Reporting)
Eegulations 2013, GSGUK’s 2015 coamtry-by-couniry
disclesures will be made available by December 31, 2016 a
www.goldmansachs com/disclosures’.

57
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MNote 2.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

For all pericds up to and including the vear ended December
2004, the company prepared its fimancial statements in
accordance with the previeus UK. GAAP. From January 1,
2015, the company transitioned from the previous UK, GAAP
to FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework' (FRS 101).
These fGnancial statements are for the Grst [l anmual perod
covered by FRS 101, All periods presented in these financeal
statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 101,
The impact on the company™s financial statements as @ result of
adopting FRS 101 15 described in Mote 4.

These hinancial statements have been prepared on the going
concern basis, under the historical ¢ost convention (modified
a3 explained in “Pension Arrangements”™ and “Financial Assets
and Financial Liabihnes™ below), and in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006,

The following exemptions from the disclosure requirements of
IFRS as adopted by the EU have been applied in the
preparation of these financial statements in accordance with
FRS 101:

= [FRS 2 “Share-based Payment” paragraph 45(b) and 46 1o
52, These disclosures are provided in the conschdated
financial statements of Group Inc.

# [AS 1| “Presentation of Financial Staements’ paragraph 38
to present comparative information in respect of:

# [AS | "Presentation of Financial Statements’ paragraph
THa)(iv): and

« [AS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ paragraph
T3(e).
# [AS | “Presentation of Financial Stalements’ paragraphs
1K E, 16, and 4041,

« JAS B ‘Accounting Policies, Changes i Accounting
Estimates and Errors” paragraphs 30 and 31,

*  1AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures” paragraph 17, and

# IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures’ reguirements to
disclose transactions with companies also wholly owned
within G5 Group.

Consolidation

The company has elected not to prepare consolidated financial

statements as permitted by section 402 of the Companies Act

2006 as ns subsidianies are not material for the purpose of
giving a true and fair view.

These financial statements are individual linancial statem énts.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Met revenues have been disclosed
instead of twrnover as this reflects more meaningfully the
nature and results of the company’s activities. Met revenues
includes the net profit ansing from iransactions, with both third
parties and affilmtes, in securities, foreign exchange and other
financial mstruments, and fees and commissions. This s
inclusive of associated interest and dividends.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Measured
at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading or
despnated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at
fair value with realised and unrealised pains and losses as well
as assockted interest and dividend mcome and expenses
included 1n net revenues. Financial assets are marked to bid
prices and financial habaities are marked to offer pnces. Fair
value measurements do not include transaction costs.

Mon-denvative [inancml mstruments owned and  financial
instruments sold, but not vet purchased (Le., cash instruments)
are recoprised wsing  settlement date  accounting,  See
“Firmneial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Recognition and
Derecognition”™ below for further detals. Unrealised gains and
losses related to the change in far value of these instruments
between trade date and settlement date are recognised within
et TEVEnues.

Investment Banking

Fees from financial advisory engagements and underwriting
revenues are recognised in profit and loss when the relevant
parties are contractually bound and as confract activity
progresses unless the right to consideration does ned arise until
the occurrence of a critical event, in which case revenue 15 not
recognised until that event has occurred.

Expenses associated with such engagements are deferred unnl
the related revenue is recognised or the engagement is
otherwise concluded. Expenses associated with fnancial
advisory engagements are recognised in administrative
expenses, net of client reimbursements, Underwriting revenues
are presented net of related expenses,

Investment Management

Management fees are recognised on an accrueal basis amd are
generally caleulated as a percentage of a fund or a separately
managed account’s average net asset valee. All management
fees are recognized over the period that the related service is
provided,

Incentive fees are calculated as a percentage of a fund’s retum
or a percentage of a fund's excess return above a specified
benchmark or other performance target. Incentive fees are
recognised only when all material contingencies have been
resobved.
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Commissions and Fees

Revenue from commissions and fees from executing and
clearing client transactions on stock, options and futures
markets, as well as OTC transactions 1s recopnised in net
revenies on the day the trade is executed.

Operating Leases. The company las entered into operating
lease arrangements as the lessee. Leased assels are not
recogrused on the balance sheet. Costs in respect of operatng
leases, adjusted for any incentives granted by the lessor, are
charged on a .-maigl'rt-lzinc basis over the lease term and
ineluded wathin administrative expenses in the profit and loss
Acooun.

Short-Term Employee Benefits. Short-term emplovee
benefits, such as wapes and salaries, are measured on an
undizcounted basziz and accrued as an expense over the period
in which the employee renders the service 10 the company.
Provision 15 made for discretwonary vear-end compensation
whether to be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a
result of company policy and past peactice, a constructive
obligation exists at the balance sheet date.

Share-Based Payments. Group Ine. msues awards in the
form of restricted stock units (RSUs) and stock options 1o the
company's employees for services rendered to the company.
Awards are classified as equity settled and bence the cost of
share-based transactions with employees 15 measured based on
the grant-date fair value of the sward. Share-based awards that
do not require future service (e, vested awards, including
awards gramed 1o retirement ¢ligible emplovess) are expensed
immediately. Share-based awards that require future service
are amomized over the relevant service penod, Expected
forfertures are included in determimng share-based emplovee
compensalion expense.

Group Ine. settles equity awards through the delivery of s
ordinary shares. Group Inc. pays cash dividend equivalents on
outstanding  RSUs. The company has also entered into a
chargeback agreement with Group Inc. under which it 13
committed 0 pav 1o Group Inc. the grani-date far value as
well as subsequent movements in fair value of these awards o
Giroup Inc. at the time of delivery to its employees,
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Dividends. Final equity dividends are recogmised as a liabality
and deducted from equity m the period in which the dividends
are approved by the company’s shareholder. Interim eguity
dividends are recognised and deducted from equity when paid.

Pension Arrangements. The company is a sponsor of a
defined contribution pension plan and a hybrid pension plan
for the benefit of certain emplovees. The hybrid pension plan
has both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined
comribution section. These are accounted for as follows:

* For the defined contribution pension plan and the defined
contribution section of the hybnd pension plan, the
contributions pavable for the vear are charped 10 operating
profit  Dnfferences between contributions payable for the
vear and contributions actually paid are shown as either
aceruals or prepavments on the balance sheet.

* For the Plan, the amounts charged to operating profit are
the current service costs, any past service costs and any
gams or kosses on settlements and curtailments. Thesse
amounts are included in staff costs. The net imterest is
included in net fmance income, Actuarial gains and losses
are recognised immediately in the statememt of other
comprehensive income. Plan assets are measured at fair
value and Plan liabilities are measured on an actuanal basis
wing the projected unit method and discounted at a rate
equivalent to the current rate of retun on a high-guality
corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the Plan
lighilities. Full actuarial valuations are obtained at least
wriennially and wpdated an each balance sheet date. Any
surplus or deficit of Plan assets over Plan lmbilities s
recognised on the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or
Tiability (deficith.
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Tangible Fixed Assets. Tangble fixed assets are stated at
cost less  accumulated  depreciation  and  provision  for
impairment. Fixures, fittings and equpment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over their estimated weful lives, which
is between 3 to 7 wears. Depreciation 15 included in
admirustrative expenses.

Leaschold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of
the useful economic life of the asset or the remaining life of the
lease when the asset s brought into use. Depreciation policies
are reviewed on an annual basis.

Fixed Asset Investments. Ficed assel investments are
stated at cost or amortised cost, as applicable, less proviston for
impairment.  Amortisation 18 included in administrative
expenses,

Cash at Bank and In Hand. Cash at bank and in hand is
highly liquid evernight deposits beld in the ordinary course of
business.

Foreign Currencies. The company’s [inancial statements
are presemted in US. dollars, which 15 also the company's
functional currency,

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are wranslated
mto U5, dollars at rates of exchange ruling on the date the
transaction  occurred.  Monetary  assets  oand  labalities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated o US
dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Foreign exchange gains and bosses are recognized in operating
prafat
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Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Recognition and Derecognition

Mon=derivative financial instruments owned and financial
instruments sold, but not vet purchased (1.e., cash instruments)
purchased or sold i regular way transactions are recognised
and derecognised using settlement date accounting,

Crther financial assets and financial liabilities. are recognised
when the company becomes party to the contraciual provisions
of the instrument. They are de-recopnised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or if the
company transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risk and rewards of ownership of that financil asser A
financial hability 15 derecogmised only when it 15 extinguished
(re., when the obligation specified in the contract 15 discharged
or cancelled or expires).

Classification and Measurement
The company classifies its financial assets and financial
liabalities mto the below catepornes. The clasafication, which 15
determined at initial recognition, depends on the purpose for
which they were acquired or originated

+ Financial assets and financial liabilities classified
as held for trading. Financial assets and financial
liahilities classified as held for trading nclede firancial
instrumants owned and financial instruments sold, bt ot
vet purchased. Fmancial instruments owned and financial
instruments sold, but not yet purchased include cash
nstruments and derivative nstruments. Both are imatially
recognised at fair value with transaction costs expensed in
profit or loss, Such financial mstruments are carmied in the
balance sheet ot fair vabee and all subsequent gains or
losses are recognised in net revenues.

The directors are of the opinien that it would not be
appropriste 1o classily them as currenl assel investments of
i provide an amalysis of such sccunties between those
Tisted andd unlisted,
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= Financial assets and financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The
company designates certain of its other financial assets and
financial habiities st farr value through profit or loss.
Firancial assets and financial habilities designated at far
vilue through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair
value with transaction costs expensed in profit or loss. They
are measured m the balance sheet at far value and all
subsequent gains or bosses are recognised in net revenues.
The primary reasons for designating such financial assets
amnd financial liabilitses at fair value through profit or loss
are;

s The group of fimancial assets, financial habilives or
both 15 managed and ils performance evaluated ona fair
value basis; and

¢ To eliminate or significantly reduce a measurement or
recoprition inconsistency that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilitics or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets and financial lishilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss include:

s Resale apreements and substantially all repurchase
agrecments;

* Securities borrowed and loaned within Fixed Income,
Currency and Commaodities Client Execution;

« Substantially all secured debt secunities 1ssued, which
includes cenain hybrid firancial  instruments  and
transfers of assels accounted for as Anancings rather
than =ales;

« Certain unsecured debt secunties issued, including
certain hybnd mancial instruments; and

s Certain debtors, including transfers of assets accounted
for as secured loans rather than purchases,

Hybnd financial instruments are nstruments that contan
bifurcatable embedded derivatives. If the company elects to
bifurcate the embedded dervative from the associated debt,
the derivative is aceounted for at fair valee and the host
contract is accounted for at amortised cost, adjusted for the
effective portien of any fair value hedges. I the company
does not elect to bafurcate, the entire hybnd [inancial
mstrument is designated at fair value through profit or loss,

These financial assets and financial labilities at fur value
are generally valued based on discounted cash flow
techniques, which incorporate mputs with reasonable levels
of price transparency, and are generally classified as level 2
becawse the inputs are observable. Valuation adjustments
may be made for liguidity and for counterparty and G3
Giroup's eredit quality.
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Loans and receivables; and financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost. Loans and recemvables
are mnon-derivative fimancial  assets with  fixed or
determinable payments that are nod quoted in an active
market. They melude certain collateralised agreements,
substantially all debtors and cash at bank and m hand. Such
financial assets are imitially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortsed
cost using the effective interest method (see below).
Finance revenwe is recorded innet revenues,

Financial liabilities measured at amorised cost include
certain collateralised financings and substantially all other
creditors. Such Onancial Liabilities are imatially recognised
at fair value plus transactions costs and subsequently
measired a1 amortised cost using the effective interest
method (see below), Finance costs, including discounts
allowed on 1ssue, are recorded i net revenwes with the
exception of imerest on long-term subordinated loans,
which is recorded in imterest pavable and similar charges.

The effective interest method 15 a8 method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial lability (or
a group of Onancial assets or Onancial labilities) and of
allocating the interest income of interest expense over the
relevant pertod. The effective interest rate s the rate that
exactly discoumts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrving amount of the Gnancial asset or financial
lability. When caleulating the effective interest rate, the
company estimates cash flows consudering all contractual
terms of the financial asset or fnancial labiliny bu does
ot consider future credit losses. The calculation includes
all fees and points paid or received that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate, ransaction costs, and all other
premiums or discounts,

The company assesses its loans amd receivables at each
balance sheet date for any  objective evidence of
impairment.  [f there 15 objective evidence that an
impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the Onancial asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s onginal
effective interest rate. The amount of the loss is included
within net revenues, if rading related, or in administrative
expenses if non-trading refated

l
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Classification of Financial Liabilities and Equity
Fimancial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements. A
financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation
to deliver cash or ancther financial asset to ancther entity; or i
exchange fnancial assets or Gnancil liabilities with another
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable o the
entity. Am equity investment 1s any contract that evidences a
resicheal interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all
liabilines, Instruments are evaluated o determine if they
contain both hability and equity components. The mtal
carrving amount of a compound fimancial instrument is
allocated first 10 the lhability component, measured at far
value, and the equity 15 assigned the residual amount.

Offsefting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Fimancial assets and financial labilities are offset and the net
amount presented in the balance sheetl where there 1s:

» Cumently a legally enforceable nght to set-off the
recognised amounts, and

® [Infent to seftle on a net basis or 1o realise the asset and
settle the lability simultanecusly.

Where these conditions are not mel. financial assets and
financial habilites are presented on a gross basis on the
balance sheet.

Fair Value Measurement
See Note 27 for details about the fair valee measurement of the
company's financial assets and fnancial habilites.

Hedge Accounting

The company applies hedpe accounting for cenain interest rate
swaps used to manage the interest rate exposure of certain
fixed-rate unsecured long-term and shori-term borowings. Te
qualify for hedge accounting, the denivative hedge must be
highly effective at reducing the nsk from the exposure being
hedged. Additionally, the company must formally decument
the hedging relationship &t inception and test the hedging
relationship to ensure the denvative hedge continues to be
highly effective aver the life of the hedging relationship.

Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. Collateralised agreements  nclude  resale
agreements and securities borrowed. Collateralised financings
include repurchase agreements and secunties loaned, See
“Classification and Measurement” above for details on the
classification and mezsurement of these instruments. Collateral
received or posted can be in the form of cash or securities,
Cash collateral is recognised/derecognised when received/pasd.
Collateral posted by the company in the form of securities is
not derecognised from the balance sheet, whilst collateral
received in the form of secunties is not recognised on the
balance sheet. If collateral received iz subsequently sold, the
obligation to return the collateral and the cash received are
recogmsed on balance sheet.
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Current and Deferred Taxation. The tax expense for the
period comprises current and deferred taxation. Tax s
recognised in the profit and loss account, excepd to the extent it
relates to sems recognised in the statement of other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the company operates and generates taxable income.
Dieferred tax is recognised in respect of all timmg differences
that have originated, but not reversed at the balance sheet date,
where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will
result inan obligation to pay more tax or a nght to pay less tax
in the future with the following exceptions:

¢ Deferred tax assets are recognised only 1o the extent that
the directors consider that 1 15 more hikely than net that
there will be sutable taxable profits from which the future
reversal of the underlving uming differences can be
deducted.

¢ Deferred tax is measwred on an undiscounted basis at the
tax rates that are expectad 1o apply in the periods in which
uming differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the batance sheet date.

Deferred tax 15 recogrised m the profit and loss account or
directly in the statement of other comprehensive mcome
according to where the associated gain or loss, to which the
deferred tax is attnbaable, 15 recognised.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, Provisions are recognised in the fimancial statements
when it 15 probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will
be required to seftle a present {legal or constructive) ohligation,
which has anisen as a result of past events, and for which a
rehiable estimate can be misde of the amount of the obligation.
Legal ohligations that may arise as a result of proposed new
laws are recogmised as obligations only when the legislation is
virtually certain 1o be enacted as dralied,

A contingent Lability 15 a possible obligation that arses rom
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
oCeUITEnce of non-ocewrrence of one or more uncertain fubure
events not wholly within the control of the company or a
present obligation that anses from past events but i3 not
recognised because either an cwiflow of economic benefits is
nol probable or the amount of the obligation cannat be reliably
measured.

A contingent asset 15 @ possible asset that anses from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
ooourmence of non-ocewrrence of one or more uncertaimn future
events not wholly within the control of the COMPANY.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets ane not recogrised
i the financial statements. However, disclosure 15 made unless
the probability of settlement 1= remate.
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MNote 3.
Critical  Accounting  Estimates  and
Judgements

The preparation of [nancial stalements regquires managemeant
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts recognised in these financial statements. The nature of
estimation mears that actwal outeomes could differ from those
cstimates, The following judgements have had the most
significant effect on amoumis recognised in the financal
slalements:

Fair Value Measurement

Certain of the company’s [nancial assets and DOnancial
liabihties mclude sigrficant unobservable inputs (e, level 3).
See Mote 27 for information about the carrying value, valuation
technigues and significant inputs of these instrumenits

Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings

The company estimates and provides for potential losses that
may arise oul of htigation amd regulatory proceedings 1o the
extent that such losses are probable and can be reasonably
estimated. Significant judgement iz required in making these
estimates and the company”s final habilities may ulimately be
matenally different. See MNotes 21 and 25 for further
information abowt the company’s provisions for liabilities and
legal proceedings that the company is invelved in, for which it
i5 not practicable o estimate an impact, respectively.

Defined Benefit Pension

The cost of the Plan and the value of the Plan habilities. are
determined using actuarial valuations, This iwalves making
assumplions aboul discount rales, femere salary indreases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due (o the
complexity of the valuation, such estimates are subject to
significant uncertainty,

MNote 4.
First-Time Adoption of FRS 101

As set out in MNote 2, these financial statements are for the first
full annwal peried covered by FRS 101,

The accounting policies set out in MNote 2 have been used in the
preparation of all periods in these financial statzments,

The following describes the impact to the company’s financial
statements as a result of adepting FRS 101 and consequential

changes o accounting policies.

161/296

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Reconciliation of Equity

There was no impact on the company’s equity as a result of
adopting FRS 101, The table below presents a comparison of
the company s balance sheet under the previous UK. GAAP
and FRS 101 a3 of January 1, 2014 (the company’s opening

balance sheet) and December
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Reconciliation Nofes™ below for an explamation of each

transition adjustment.
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As of larwary 1, 2014 A5 of Cecember 2014
Previous  Adjstmants Prossious. Adjustmisnts
§ in milions Hote LLE. GAAP  on bansiion FRE 101 LK. GAAP on bransfion FRS 101
Fized assots
Tengiessets % % % - 8§ 15 5 w5 - 3 m
Irvestments 1 - 1 2 - 2
Currend assels
Finamcial instnoments owned ) 516,108 A7) 516, T [ rderyd 1,821 R, a8
Colatoralisied agradmanis B 225854 (14.378) 1.4 219,234 {15, 718) 3,518
DA A Mz (11813 £8 130 T4 {11,082 25 561
Cash ot bank and s hand 4,032 - 4,002 3585 - 3,585
B16,203 (25,560 TES, 543 552, 850 {25,275) 5T, 411
Crdibara! amound Palling due within aie year
Finamcial instraments sold, but not yet purchased A (457,154} L] = (541,413}
Colmaraised frnancings (12 (1902 1705 BB (1137
Crhar credion A (1333500 11,481 8,570 (145904
(TEO.725) T80 27,783 [F28. 454}
Mt cuEment assisty 35478 2849 2514 40,957
Tatal assets less curment Nabilties 35,484 2648 2514 40,871
Creditors: amounds falling due afier meore than one year
Collmaraived Fransing c - 12,849 12/845) - {2.514) (2514}
Cther credion (15,335 = (15,338 [18.70Mm = (16,7008
(15,338 12845) (17,881) (18,70 12,514) (18,214}
Provilend fofr llabiites 18y = {18 (173 = (17}
Mot st ccchuingperlon e 00 M4 - 0 0t 0 e - S
Pansion swplus 158 - 158 257 - 287
Ned assets including pension sumplus 5 20300 3 = 5 20.300 3 2.587 5 = 5 20.987
Capital and reserves
Called up share capidal 1 5% £ - 5 255 5 (5] 5 - 5 f5x]
Share premium etcount 2,863 - 85 2883 - 2863
Capdal rssevs (non-daributabla) 17 - i7 i7 - 7
Profit and ks seooant 16,887 = 16, 887 18,504 - 10504
Total sharehodder' s funds 5 20,300 5 - § 20300 § .47 5 - § 21087
63
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Reconciliation of Total Comprehensive Income

The table below presents a companson of the company’s total
comprehensive income under the previous UK, GAAP and
FES 101, See “FRS 101 Reconciliation MNotes™ below for an
explanation of each transition adjustment,

‘Yoar Ended Decombs 2014
Pravious  Adustnents

5 » milioni Hote LILE GAAP &4 FRE 101
Bot revanuss 5] 56,850 EEET 56,430
Adminibative svpeeses D (BE34 (531} (4,155)
Operatingpeoft S - RIS
Infewrest payabie and

el charges [Zzz) = (223
Mt fnance incoms E Fill 21y 7
Predit on ordinary

activities before Laxaticn oz My 2060
Tix on proft on SEnERy

actiiss E 455} 4 (4521
Prodit for the Nnancial year 51,825 5 (17 51,808
Other comprehensive Income
Rems that will not be

reclassified subsequentty

o predit of loss
Adtuarial prof relating o
___hu pension scheme £ & mo . m
LLE, duferred lax alirbutalls

0 the astuaral prale E (18 b 122
Omer comprehensive

Ineims for e financ s

year, net of tax 72 17 aa
Totad comprehansive

Incoinme for e

Nnancial year 59,887 5 = 51,857

FRS 101 Reconciliation Motes

A. Change From Trade Date to Settlement Date
Accounting. Following a detailed review of its accounting
policies on transition to FRS 101, the company has changed its
accounting policy for regular-way purchases and sales of held
for rading non-derivative imancial instruments from trade date
1o setlement date accounting. Under the previous UK. GAAP
and financial satements prepared for mterim periods i 2015,
regular-way purchases and sales of held for trading non-
denvative financial instruments were recorded on a trade date
basis.
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The company believes that recogmisimg and derecognising held
for trading non-denvative financial instruments on settlement
date results in a more relevant and reliable presentation of its
financial position. In particular:

# It climinates the recognition of wnsettled receivable and
payable balamces. This results i a more appropriate
representagtion of the settlement nsk inherent in these
balances which is minimal due to the delivery va. pavment
seitlement mechanics, which substantially eliminate credit
risk for the majonty of regular-way trades; and

# This is more consistent with the way these balances are
viewed by management and results in more similar balance
sheet presentation to the GS Group's U5, GAAP hinancial
statements.

The change in accounting pelicy 1o recognise and derecognise
these financial instruments on a setlement date basiz did no
change the amount or timing of gains and losses recognised in
the profit or loss account for these instruments because
movements i fair valwe are still recorded between the trade
date and settlement date. The impact of this change is:

s As of January 1, 2014, financial instruments owned and
financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased decreased
by 5371 million and 3703 million, respectively. Debtors
and other creditors decreased by 1181 billien and $11.48
ballkon, respectively.

» Az of December 2014, financial instruments owned and
financial mstruments sold, but aot vet purchased mcreased
by 51.52 hillion and 3% million, respectively. Debtors and
other creditors decreased by 311,08 bellion and 3957
billion, respectively.

B. Adoption of IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments:
Presentation’. The company has adopted 1AS 32 *Financial
Instruments:  Presentation” (IAS  32),  which  includes
‘Offsetting  Financial Assets  and  Financial  Liabilities
(Amendments to TAS 32). This amendment included
additional guidance nod browsght inte the previows UK. GAAP,
which clarifies the meaning of ‘currently has a legally
enforceable right of set-off and that some gross settlement
systems may be considered equivalent o net settlement. This
resulted in the company offsetting collateralised agreements
with collateralised financings under FRS 101, which were
previously presented as gross under the previcas UK, GAAP,
The impact of this change is:

® Az of January 1, 20014, collateralised agreements and
collateralised financings decreased by 514,38 hallion

e As of December 2014, collaterahsed agreements and
collateralised financings decreased by 515.72 billion
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C. Change in Presentation of Collateralised
Financings. The company has revised its presentation of
collateralised fimancings for instruments that have a contractual
maturity of greater than one vear to include them in creditors:
amocunts falling due after more than one year, which better
reflects the inherent nature of these balances. Previously, the
company included such instruments i creditors: amounts
falling due within ane year. The impact of this change 1s:

* As of Janwary 1. 2014, crediters: amounts falling due
within one vear decreased by 5265 hillion, with a
comesponding increase in creditors: amounts fallmg due
affer more than one year,

o As of December 20014, creditors: amounts falling due
within one year decreased by 3251 hillion, with a
comesponding increase in creditors: amounts falling due
after more than one year.

D. Change in Presentation of Market-Making-Related
Costs. The company has revised i1s presentation of market-
making-related costs (Le., brokerage, clearing, exchange and
distribution  fees) to include them within  administrative
expenses as permifted by TAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” and [AS 18 “Revenue’, which better reflects the
inherent mature of these balances. Freviously, the company
included market-making-related costs within net revenuwes
This resulted in net revenues and sdnmimstrative expenses each
increasing by 3531 million for 2014, with no change to the
operating profit of the company.

E. Adoption of IAS 19 ‘Employese Benefits (amended
2011). The company has adopted [AS 19 "Emplovee Benefits
(amended 200117 (IAS 19), which differs o the previows UK.
GAAP In 15 recopmtion of amounts mn the profl and loss
account and other comprehensive income. Under the previous
UK. GAAP, the net finance income recogrised in the profit
and loss account was the summation of the expected return on
assets in the Plan and interest on Flan liabilities estimated at
the beginning of the vear, Any remeasurements during the year
were recognised 1n other comprehensive meome. Under [AS
19, the expected return on assets in the Plan is replaced by
imerest income, which is instead caleulated by applying the
discount rate to Plan assets at the beginning of the vear. Any
remeasurements during the year are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

As a result of adopting 1AS 19, the company’s net finance
income and tax on profit on ordimary activities for 2014
decreased by 321 million and 34 mallion, respectively. This
was offset by an increase in the company's other
comprehensive income. As a result, there was no impact to
tetal comprehensive income. This adoption had no impact on
the value of the company s pension surplus.

i
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Statements of Cash Flows

The company has adopled IAS 7 *Statement of Cash Flows®,
which resulted n certain presentational changes (o the
company's reconciliation of cash flows from operating
actvities, without any changes to the company s cash and cash
equivalents as of December 2014,

In addition, the adoption of settlement date accounting and 1AS
32, as set out in the “Reconciliation of Equity™ above, also
mmpacted the magnitude of working capital changes in the
company's reconciliation of cash flows from operating
activities without any change to the net cash flows from
operating activilies.

Disclosures

The adeption of FES 101 resulted in the company revising

centan dhisclosures in the notes 1o the Dnancial slatements.

These include:

# Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
The company has adopted IFES 13 “Fair  Value
Measurement”, which impacts the classification of ns level
3 financial assets and financial labilities, The company
now  classifies centain financial assets and  financial
liabilities as level 2 (as opposed to level 3) i the far value
hierarchy if the company has no significant net risk to the
bevel 3 inputs. The impact of this change is:

« Az of January 1, 2014, level 3 financial assets and
financial libilites decreased by 3536 billion, with a
corresponding increase in level 2.

o Az of December 2014, level 3 financial assets and
financial liahilities decreased by 3736 hillion, with a
corresponding increase in level 2.

+ Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities. Under the
previous UK. GAAP, a reconciliation between current tax
and the product of profit on ordinary activities before
taxation multiplied by the applicable tax rate was required.
Upon adoption of TAS 12 *Income Taves” the company is
riow required o presemt a reconsiliation between the total
tax expense and the product of profit on ardinary activities
before taeation multiplied by the applicable tax rate.

« Operating Leases. Under the previous UK. GAAF. the
rentals the company was committed o pay in the following
wear in respect of its operating leases were disclosed. These
were categorised by the maturity date of the lease. Upon
adoption of [AS 17 “Leases’, the company 1s now reguired
to disclose the total future minimum leass pavments
payable by vear instead.

In addition, FES 101 has resulted in the company providing
addstional dsclosures relating to financial assets and financal
liabilities due 1o the adoption of IFRS 7 “Financial [nstruments:
Disclosures” and IFES 13 “Fair Value Measurement”.
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Note 5.
Segment Reporting

The company reports its activities in the following four
business segments: Investment Banking. Instibubional Chent
Services, Investing & Lending, and Investment Management.
See “Results of Operations — Segment Reporting™ in Part [ of
this annual report for a description of the company's segments.

Basis of Presentation

In reporting segments, certain of the company™s business lines
have been aggregated where they have similar economic
charactenstics and are similar in each of the following areas:
(1) the nature of the services they provide: (1) their methods of
distmbution; () the types of chients they serve; and () the
regulatory environments in which they operate.

The cost dnvers of the compamy takem as a whole -
compensation, headeount and levels of business activity — are
breadly similar in each of the company’s business sepments.
Direct costs of employment in the company s segments reflect,
among other factors, the overall performance of the company
as well as the performance of imdividual businesses.
Corsequently, operating profit margins in one segment of the
company’s business may be significantly affected by the
performance of the company’s other business sepments.

The company allocates assets (including allocations of GCLA
and cash, secured client financing and other assets), revenues
and expenses among the four husiness segments. Due to the
integrated nature of these segments, estimates and judgements
are made in allocating certain assets, revenues and expenses.
The allocation process is hased on the manmer in which
management currently views the performance of the segments
Transactions between segments are based on specific eriteria or
approximate third-party rates. Total administrative expenses
include chantable contnibutions and mark=to-market of share-
based compensation that have not been allocated to individual
business segments.

In addition to transactions entered into with third parties. the
company also enters ino transactions with affiliates in the
normal course of business as part of market-making activities
and general operations. Revenues are allocated to, and received
from, such affiliates for these transactions.

Management believes that the information in the tables below
provides a reasonsble represemtation of each sepment’s
comtribution to net revenues, operating profit and total assets
Operating profit has only been presented for the company’s
sigrficant  segments, being  Investment Banking  and
Instrutional Client Services.
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The sepment information presented n “Segment MNet
Revenues™ and “Segment Operating Profit”™ below is prepared
according 1o the following methodologies:

®» Hevenue and expenses directly associated with each
segment are included in determ ining operating profit.

® Mol revenues i the company’s segzments  inclwde
allocations of interest income and interest expense o
specific securities and other pesitions in relation to the cash
generated by, or funding requirements of, such underlying
positions with the exception of interest on long-term
subordinated loans, which is presented in interest payable
and similar charges (see MNote 90 Met interest is included in
segment nel revenues as it 15 corsistent with the way in
which management assesses segment performance.

s Overhead expenses not directly allocable 1o specific
segments are allocated ratably based on direct sepment
EXPEnses,

Segment Net Revenues

The table below presents the net revenwe of the company's
segments.

Year Endad December

2 dn rlions FLiE] 2014
Investenent Banking
Financial Advisory 5 3 5 452
U dssntiing L] fi]
Total Investment Banking 51,379 51,301
Invstitutionsd Client Services
Fined Income, Cemency and Commodities
..... el I .. N ...

kit 2,353 1 BES
Talal Insthuticnal Clent Serdces 54,502 44,200
Investing & Lending 5 M0 5 268
InivEptinEnt Managem e g 475 5 483
Total net revenues 57,018 55,430

Substantially all interest mcome and nterest expense
recogrised within net revenues is attributable to Institutional
Client Services.
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Segment Operating Profit
The table below presents the operating profit of the company’s
significant segments.

Yem Ended December
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Mote 6.

Administrative Expenses

The table below presents the company’s adminstrative

5 in milicng 2015 204
Investment Banking

L] RN 1.7 B $1.3
A it ol g i B2 -]
Oparating profit § 487 3 563
Insttugicnal Clent Services

Bl res N 002 54,280
Adminiviative sasen s A4 P
Oparating prafit $1258 $1.519
Total reet revenues' 57,016 56,430
Total adminisirative Hp'lll'l'llll-r 4077 4155
Tolal operating profit Er X T £33 M

1. Indudes met mvenees of 3835 millon and 3759 millon for 2015 and 2014,
respactively, redabed to imvesting & Lendng and investment Management.

2. ncludes admi = af 5579 milbon and 458 milan for 2015
and KIM. rwﬂr. redated to Imeesting & Lending and Imeestment
“Hwt“ﬂ'ﬂﬂl and catain cvahieed experit that hnae not Been

d 8o the sompany's of 542 millice and S108 eilion for 2015
and 2014, respectively, rep [ (= and merk:bos
mnf:}amnﬂcmnﬂm

Segment Assets
Substantially all of the company's assels are atinbutable to
Institutional Client Services.

Geographical Analysis

Due to the highly imtegrated nature of international financial
markets, the company manages #s businesses based on the
profitability of the enterprise as a whole. The methodology for
allocating pml'ltahlllt}' to geographic regions is dependent on
estimates and management judgement. Geographie results are
generally allocated as follows:

* Investment Banking: location of the clent, mvestment
banking team and underlying risk

o Institutional Client Services: location of the market-making
desk and the primary market for the underlying security.

*  Investing & Lending: location of the investing and lending

leanm.

¢ Investrient Mamagement location of the  investment

maAnagerment leam.

The table below presents the total net revenues of the company
by geographic region allocated based on the methodology
referred to above.

Yonr Enced Docimnbar
5 in miliong a5 204
Het revenues
Europs, Middle East and Alrica 252 54,827
.i.muu:“ 1010 ]
‘i = =
Total ned revenues F.016 36,430

al

Total adnuini strative sxpenses 34,155

1. Cxcupancy sspenses incude operating lsase rentals for land and buildings of
581 million and 587 mllion o 2015 and 2014, redpactivily. and ncomd Bom
the subelsase paymants of 516 millon and $12 millon for 2018 and 2014,
mespoctvely.

2. Professional fees include fees payable to the company's sudior for the awdit
of the company's ansual fnancial statements of 55 milkon for both 2015 and
2014 and fees payable to the company's audier for cthee wenices of 34
millior mnd 5006 milkon for 2005 and 2014, respactively.

3. Ot aop mchude tawed,  charitakl -
mmmhmhlndummhnnmm
Honal and sdminesirss i services recsived from
and provided ta aflates and kosses on dsposal of tangisle Rxed nssets,
Lottes on disposal of tangble fned avvets wine 5004 millon and $0.5 milion
for 2015 and 2014, respectivety.
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Hote 7. Mate B,
Directors’ Emoluments Staff Costs
The table below presents the company’s  directors” The table below presents the company’s average number of
emoluments. staff  (employees including directors, consultants  and
tem) ¢ stall),
‘Year Ended December porary ﬂ.:'
3 in milions 015 014
Avarsga foe thi
W'ﬂ“m'ﬁ_“ Yias Endid Dacanibi
ptharm s e — s S
_— — oyeses including dir
Tofal direciors” emoluments 5B 55 g Banking 1 6
) ) Inwtuan Chwnl Sorviees T4 1400
The table below presents emoluments for the highest paid Investing & Lending 148 KL
director g L . g g
Support Funchons 2& 2 50y
Yane Enced Decamb GEE = GaM
5 in eilens 015 04 ContuRanty and bemgrany staf 5T 33
[ e—— 5 = Toial avernge PEBE of S1AlT [XLC] [
i R ey .
purchase schemes - - The company has the use of the services of a number of

In accordance with the Compamies Act 2006, directors’
emoluments  above represent  the proporton of  total
emoluments paid or payable in respect of qualifving services
enly, This total only includes the value of cash and benefits in
kind, and does not include the value of equity awards in
accordance with the provisions of Schedule 5 of 51 2008/410.
Directors also receive emoluments for non-qualifying services
which are not required to be disclosed

COne director is a member of a defined contribution pension
plan and one director 15 4 member of the hvbnd pension plan
{mcluding the defined benefit section and defined contnbution
section), Three directors, including the highest pard director,
have been granted Group Ine shares in respect of long term
incentive schemes during the vear. Three directors, including
the highest paid director, have exercised options during the
Viear,

it

individuals whe are emploved by affiliated entities and
seconded 1o the company. These seconded individuals are
meluded in the disclosure of headeount and relmted stafl costs.
Consultants and temporary staff costs are included in total
direct costs of emplovment, below, Total headeount was 6,458
amd 5730 as of December 2015 and December 2014,
respectively.

The table below presents employment costs incurred by the
company, including those relating to directors

¥ war Ended Decembar
£ i i 015 2014
AQQregEts Qross wWages ard sal anes Em SE.HZ‘I_
“Em e L e— - R ey
Pengion costs, smployer contributions toc
Diebned contribation plan and defined
section of the hybeid penson plan (7] #
Talal direct costs of employment’ [F=1] 53,042

1. Includes & chasge of 58 million for 2015 and a charge of 583 milien e 2014,
relating 1o the mark-to-market of share-besed compensafion.

MNote 8.

Interest Payable and Similar Charges

Interest payable and similar charges compnses interest on
lofg-term  subordinated loars from  parest and  group
undenakings of 3285 million and 3222 million for 2005 and
20014, respectively. See Note 20 for further details.
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Note 10,
Pension Arrangements

The company sponsors an open pension plan with a hvbrd
structure, having both a defined benefit section (the Flan) and &
defined contribution section. The Plan provides retirement
benefits on the basis of members” fimal salary. with a normal
retirement age of 65 for most members. The Plan is funded,
with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the
company, N separate trustee-adm mistersd funds.

The Plan was closed o new entrants with effect from Apnl 1,
2008 and was replaced by a defined contribution plan. In 2013,
the company notified plan participants that the Plan will no
longer accrue future benefit accruals after March 31, 2016
This resulted in the company recogrising a curtailment gain of
524 million. Existing participanils continee 1o accree benefits
up until the Plan's closure.

The Plan operates under trust law and 15 mamaged and
administrated by the Goldman Sachs UK Retirement Plan
Trustee Lamited (the Trustee) on behalfl of the members in
accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and Rules and
relevant legislation. The Plan's assets are held by the trust

A full actuarial valuation of the Plan was cammied owt by a
qualified independent actuary as of December 31, 2012 using
the projected unit funding method and updated to December
31, X015 As of December 2015, the Plan liabilities comprise
28% in respect of active emplovees, 699 in respect of deferred
members and 3% in respect of current beneficianes.

Risks of the Plan
The main risks of the Plan are:

+ Funding Shortfall, Addional contnbutions will be
required of the investment retums are nod sufficient 1o pay
for benefits. The level of equity retums will be a key
determinant of overall investment return; the investment
portfolio is also subject to a range of cther nsks typical of
the asset classes held, in particular interest rate risk and
inflation risk on bonds,

+ Assat Volatility. A conseguence of the Plan’s investment
strategy, with a significant proportion of the assets invested
in equities and other reum-seeking assets is that the
difference between Plan assets and Plan Labilities may be
volatile.

+ Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan labilities and the
current service cost are sensitive 1o the assumplions made
about future inflation and hfe expectancy. It 15 also
sensitive to the discount rate, which depends on market
vields on sterling-dencm mated A corporate bonds,

iy
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Financial Assumptiens

The table below presents the significant financial assumptions
used to determine the present value of the defined benefit
obligation

% per snoum
Disecurt ral

_Rabe of pricw infai
Rabe afi in pendions in pay
..... fpostHovembn 20, 199G secrunh 330 3N
Eabe of increass in penvsions in defemment
(post-hovember 30, 1456 accrual) FE L) 230
Rate ofi in pentions i de T
(post-April 5. 2008 accrusl) 40 23

Mertality Assumptions

The table below presenis the morality assumpiions used o
determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation.
The morality assumptions adopted were the “51 series all
pensioner  light”™ base table with allowance for future
mmprovements from 2002 onwards in line with the CWI 2012
core projections with a long-term rate of improvement of 1%
T arnmm.

¥ Endad Dacsmibisr

¥oars s 2014
Life spectancy ot B5 for o masnber curnenty 55
B . L |

Famales %3 252
Life expectancy at 35 for o member currentty 45
..... Mabes B 22

Fomales pix 267
Defined Benefit Cost

The table below presents the defined benefit cost related to the
Plan recognised in the company’s profit and less account and
statement of other comprehensive income.

it e Docaibel

$ i maliong Pkl 2014
Profit and loss account
Curenbservemeont 0 BT 5 48
Curtaiment gain 24 -
et fnance income L] T
Total charged to the profit and koss sccount 18 £
Other comprehmsive Income
Fabam on Pan aszets greater tan dincont rabe {.I!! (=1 5]
Actusrial gan — Rabity experience S - T
Actusrial lows — Enancial asmmptions L) Fril
Tatal losaigain) recognised in olfer

Cmprelarsing income El {111}
Total defined benent costigany 519 5070
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Reconciliation of Pension Surplus
The table below presents a reconcilistion of Plan assets, Plan
liabalities and the net pension surplus,

Plar Plas  Met Pension
5 i lens Aznely Linbiities. Surplus.
e Enged Decomber 2015
A of January 1 sar B 1580 s25T
Curent senace cost - (L] W
Cuwtalmertgain - n____ o
Mot fnanos income L1 &) T
Retum on Flan assets greater
Ehan dissount mabe Fi - i
T —
W BN = 12 13
Actusrialloss - Bnancisl
avsumpons - [44) ]
_Ermgier cntribuSions .

Banedts paid
A& of December 31 1,57 156 fra
Yoar Enced Cocermmber 2014
pactienvaryy L S LA 156
Curment sendce oost - {48 (1)
Cortailiment gain S t
Mot francs income &7 &0 T
Retum on Plan sasty greate

hian discount rabe My - 318

Lot - 18 18
Aduarialloss = Snancisl

awumpsons - @n_ mhn
Ermpioryer ¢ontributicers. - - s
Benelts paid & 8 p
A of Decsmbe 31 $1.B7T 1,580 5257

Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Plan Trustess have a long-term asset allocation stralegy 1o
invest 653% of assels in retumn seeking investments {(such as
equities) and 35% in hability matching assets (such as Galts).
The Flan has a hedging programme investing in swaps and
other derivatives in order 1o reduce the exposure to changes
interest rates and inflation. The table below presents the fair
value of Plan assets,

§ in milions
A5 of Decemiper 2015
Eiuiting

Gitn

Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Cash and cash equivalents
Cther
Tetal
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Sensitivity Analysis

The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of Plan
liabilines for each significant actuarial assumption. The
sensitivities are based on a change in each assumption while
helding all other assum phions constant.

There are inherert limitations in this analysis, as such
wdicsyneratic  movements  are  unlikely to ocowr,  The
methodology used to calculate the sensitivities are consistent
across the two penods presented i the lable below.

Impacd 1o Plan Lisbiites
in ol £ in it
3 i resllans % Smedions %
025, change i
et e som  am  sw2 w0
D.75% change in price
infation 1nz A | e [[. %]
1 yuar changs in lie
— sopectancy had i L] 3
£ of December 2014
0.38% change in
i s rabe Hi24) (7.9 5143 8z
0.25% change A price
I | S N— N—
1 yoar changs in lif
—Supectancy 5 3 51 L]

Nature of Future Cash Flows

The most recent formal funding valuation of the Plan for the
Trustees was caried out by a quahfied independent actuary as
of December 31, 2012, which mdicated that Plan asscts
exceeded the present value placed on defined benefits acerued
by members 1o that date {Le, a surplus). The preliminary
results of the next formal tnennial valuation as of December

2015 are likely to be available in the third quarter of 20146

In complince with the Persions Act 2014, the company and
the Trustee agreed a scheme-specific funding target, statement
of funding principles and a schedule of contnbutions.

As the Plan is closed to future accrual from March 31, 2006,
the company will cease to make regular anmual contributions
into the Plan from that point and will insiead assess the funding
requirements of the Plan with the Trustees on a periodic basis.
The company expects 1o make 38 million of contribastions 1o
the Plan and expects 58 million of benefits to be pard cast of the
Plan to members in 2016

The weighted average duration of Plan habilities was 35 years
as of December 2015,
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Note 11,
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Plan

Group Inc. spornsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2013)
(2015 SIP), which provides for, amongst others, grams of
RSUs and incentive stock options.

GEI recorded share-based compensation in respect of the
amortisaion of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
3630 million and 5529 million for 2015 and 2014, respectively.
The commesponding credit 1o equity has been transferred 1o
hahilities a= a result of the terms of the charpeback agreement
with Group Inc. under which the company is committed to pay
o Group Ine, the grant-date fair value as well as subsequent
moevenments in e value of those awards 1o Group Inc. at the
time of delivery to its employees.

Restricted Stock Units

Group Inc. grants BSUs to G50's emplovees under the 2015
3IP, which are valued based on the closing price of the
underlying shares on the date of grant after taking into account
a lgqudity discount for any applicable post-vesting and
delivery transfer restrictions. RSUs generally vest and
underlving shares of common stock deliver as outlined in the
applicable  RSU agreements. Employee RSU  agreements
generally provide that vesting is accelerated in certain
cireumstances, such as on retrement, death, disability and
conflicted employment. Debvery of the underlving shares of
common stock is conditioned on the grantees satisfying certain
vesting and other requirements ouwtlined in the award
agreements.

)|
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Stock Options

Stock options granted o emplovees penerally vest as outlined
in the applicable stock option agreement. In gencral, options
expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date, although they
may be subject to earlier terminntion or cancellaton under
certain circumstances in accordance with the terms of the
applicable stock option agreement and The Goldman 3achs
Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan in effect at the
time of grant.

The table below presemts options outstanding, All cutstanding
oplions as of December 20015 were granted i 2006 through
20008,

Waighted

Visigried ot g

Biciriegrh Reninning

Optiont Exercite Lite:

Price iyears)

2,184,052 5 FE.7H 1.00

12000 - 134.99 - - -
e e — - -

16800 X000 T30 20240 1.51
Oulstanding. December 2003 3,001,352 S113.68 758

7500 - § 8980 3,383,700 £ TaTe 4.00

9000 - 11989 - - -
izopo- ases  zriae1l 13es bE2
1600 1M iR b =

19500 - X900 87310 2240 251

Outstanding. December 2014 & 602 491 1052 353

For those options exercised dunng the wear, the weighted
average share price at the date of exercise was 319628 and
S169.82 for 2005 and 2014, respectively,
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Note 12,
Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities

The table below presents the company’s amalysis of tax on
profit on ordinary activities.
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MNote 13.
Tangible Fixed Assets

The table below presents the movements i tangble fxed
assets during the year.

Yoar Ended Decembar Fistures,
5 i melians 015 014 Leanehoid fizimge and
Current Lax £ in rallians P i Total
UK, eorponston bax a7 5243 Cost
“Adustments inrespect of price periods 18 3@
Ovmrsens tambon ?’_I' B2
Total cuEment tax AET 4 " n m
Dieferred tax A& ol Decambar 31 i 1 ]
Origination and reversal of ismporary diffwences =4 101
Efect of increased U K. corporaie tax rabes 155 Accumalated depreciation
“Adustments in respect of price pericds 3 7 A o Jaiziery 1 Ll 5 £
Tobal celermed lax [114) 108 Charge fer the year (1ee Nobe &) E F] 4
Total tax on profit on ordnary Actvilies § 353 $AEZ Dizposals - (n (1
AsofDecembar 3t R s Gl
The Finance (Mo, 2) Act 2015 was enacted in the fourth quarter
of 2015, which introduced: {{) an 8 percentage point surcharge Mat ook vaus
) o S : Az of December 2015 58 55 511
on bankmg profits effective i 2006; (1) a 1 percentage psoant — —
. - i . Ag of Ducenbar 2014 57 58 512
reduction in corporate tax rates effective i 2017, and (1) a
further | percentage point reduction in corporate tax rates
effective m 2020, This resulted m the company recogrsing a MNote 14,
one-time benefit of 3155 million relating to the revaluation of )
Fixed Asset Investments

its deferred tax asset

The table below presents a reconcibiation between tax on profit
on ordinary activities and the amount calculated by applyving

The table below presents the movements i Axed asset
investments during the vear.

the weighted average rate of UK. corporation tax applicable 1o o Cthae
the company for the year of 20.25% (2014 21.5%) to the profit ﬂ::m Im:n1 ih

. il i than
on ordinary activities before tax. PR— um.g..: loans Total

Cost
Year Ended December

5 in mvilions 15 2014 :'“J"""”” !‘-: ........... s‘; ......... .'*'.[.";'.
Praft on ardinary scivtins befors taxation 53,651 SZ0e0 “ax of Decarrbar 31 = 1 1

Praft on ardnary scivities muliphed by

UK. corpoeate tax rafe of 20025% (2014 21 5%) 530 A4%
e T T
delured tax aveets B} T
Tae losses srandsrd Fom group
o Tar il cansceration (20 0
Efect of higher taxes on mversens samings i H]
Exchange differences and other (=11 &)
Adjustnants in respect of price pared k] 45
Efect of increatad U K. corporate tax rabes. [155) =
Total Lax on profit on ordinary activitles EET] 5 452

Accumulated depreciation

As ol Jarasary 1 - - -
As of December 31 = _ -

Net book valus
s of Decomber 2015 5- 51 51
s of Docember 2012 5= 52 52
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The table below presents the subsidianes over which the
company exercised control as of December 200 5:

Hiidng
and
proporion  Class of
Hams of Counry of of voing  shares Mumbsr  Nature of
cOmpany Incompomtion rights Thadd held  besiness
Goldman Sachs
{Cayrran] Cayman Owdniany Finarcisl
Limnibe-d Islands 100%  shares 250 L H]
] E——
Fumduie
Iernraubyeyiny Ienvpatrrent
Zarninisty Poland 100% - N Wined

° This subsidiary wndetaking it controlled other then Swough veting rights
atached to shares.

The company has interests in a number of special purpose
entities and capital guaranteed funds which do not meet the
definition of a legal subsidmry, b give nse 1o the risks and
rewards that are, in substance, no different than if they were
legal subsidiaries. The activitics of these special purpose
entities and the capital gusranteed funds consist of the sswnce
of loan notes under the terms of a repackaging programme

These special purposes entities and capital guaranteed funds
are conselidated in the financial statements of Group Inc.

73
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Mote 15.

Financial Instruments Owned and Financial
Instruments Sold, But Not Yet Purchased

Fimancial mstruments owned and Onancial instruments sold,
but not yet purchased comprise financial instruments and
investments within the operating activities of the COMmpany.
Fmancial mstruments owned includes fnancim] instruments
owned pledged as collateral. These represent financial
instruments cwned and pledged 1o counterparties that have the
rght 1o deliver or repledpe. See Note 27 for further
mformation.

The table below presents the company’s [imancial instruments
owned.

s off Decemiber

3 i s FLOE]
Cash irmfruments
Commuercial paper, cortificabes of depost,

b deposits and cther money marked

instuments O oAn
Gowsenmant and agency ol gations
Morigage and other assel-backed loans

arvl wecurti

214

3 1,225
16,510

Equitits and convartible debeniured 354 32187
Comamnadingg 9 =
Tota cash instruments 56,037 66,251
Derivative Instruments.

Interest rales 321,05
et e
_Gurm-:in 113,522 .
Commaodtiey e 16
Equities S2660

Tt darivative irsiruments 17

Taota financial instnamants owned SE16,054

The table below presents the company’s financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased,

—tr i Dby

§ i realing FLUE] 2014
Cash Irstruments
Griamimant snd agency obigetions 3 AR 5108
Morigage and otfer assel-Eacked loans

ard securition = &
Gorporste s otes dak cbigsions YT}
Equites and sonvertible detenhmes 4B 14,515
Tatal cash nsrumsnts ) 17,850
Durrivrative Insiraments
Ll 313,124
B — 43,044
_Curnencies 112882
_Commaodities iaper G
Equities 48,015
Talal derivative iriruments 530,970
Tota financia instrumenits sold, but not yet

purchased Fahh i Shak1 413
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 16,
Collateralised Agreements

The table below presents the company's  collaterahised
agreements.
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Mote 18.
Deferred Tax

The table below presents the components of the company's
defermred tax asset.

Az of December
3 in millons 3 2014 3 in maliong
Reunale agrdamants 10,318 $1iB.140 _Depreciation in sxcess of coptalalowances
Securities bomowd 5,55 87,379 Foskrobwmentboneltn
Total collateralised agreements H161, 703 5203516 Datered compensation’
Total del smred tax

1.  Includes amounts dus from growep underdaiongs of 581,84 bilkon mnd $134 82
Eilion ot of December 2015 and Decombaer 2004, retpectivaly,

2 includes balarnces dus i miore than one year of $1.87 billon and 52 18 hilion

1. Duefered compensation is mainly in espect of share-based compensation.

The table below presents changes in each component of the

an af Dy g 2015 and Dy e 2014, revpectv '
- company’s deferred tax asset.
A5 of Decamber
Nots 17. § i maliong 2015 2014
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances
Debtors A of January 1 § 3 $ 3
2 s A5 of Decembaer 31 5 3 5 3
The table below presents the company s debtors balances. All
debtors are due within one vear of the balance sheet date, Postretirement benefits
unless noted below. A5 of January 1 $ 51} $ (3]
Tranther to e proft and |lowt sccount {18) z
As of Decembar Transfw ta other compreh incame Ll [res]
5 in miliGng % 2014 A& of December 31 ¥ (68) ¥ (51)
. doe from brokerldealers and HiMr == el
Defermred compensation
Aeollngaryl S S sz
. H T for bo e profit and loss sccount 132 {110
Frepayments and accrued incoms . 1] k-] As of December 31 R 5502
St = OARE 56881 remmTeemmere S ot S et
1. includes balsnces dus in more tham ons year réating to seowred lending and
propaid commodiy contracts of S887 million and 5981 milion as of faoldewery = 0000000000000 fous L
D gt 2015w O b 204, raspeesvaly Teanafar bo Bve profit and loss secount
(see Mobe 13) T4 {108
T Ineludes Snancial assets of $55 57 klen and 556,06 Blen 8y of O P, sttt . i
2015 gnd D bt 2014, puctively, and non-Bnancial mussts of 5514 Teanslar bo othiw comprahanssm incomae 1 25
A% of December 1 560 5454

milion and 3501 million as of December 2015 and Dwcember 2014,
respectivedy,

74

MNote 19,

Collateralised Financings

The table below presemis the company's collateralised
financings

Ax of Decemibe
§ in ralliong 25 2014
Amoants falling e within one year
Fepurchase agresments § s 5 44 207
e i e
Total $116,385 5138,137
Amoaunts falling due after more than ore year
Fapurchase agnesmnls £ 502 5 2514
Total 5 1502 5 2514
Total collateralised Nnancings’ F110,887 $141.851

1. Includes amounts dee 1o group undertakings of 582 67 blion and $103.15
bilkcn ot of Decembar 2015 and D 2014, mep ty, of which
02 55 ballion and $102 56 bilion as of December 2015 and December 2014,
meapactvaly, Be ek witin one year
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Mote 20,
Other Creditors
The 1able below presents the company”s other creditors. Debt Securities Issued
The table below s the com "5 debdt securitics 1ssued.
presc pany
5 in ilons A;u:; 014 —fncfOecomber
= £ i maliong 75 2a
Amioris alling due within ane year Amoants falling due within one year
Bank loans 3 Linsseunsd debt saeuriies with aiiiates S1TTE §aew
Gvmrdrat g - e el
E:ﬁ.m“ﬁ". - ...-....!.sﬁf-':-'g- counberparties ara 5,136
: et e e Bwcured Skt sacuriies wih afbia e’ an 72
Asnenrtt b 1o parenl and group Sacurad Sebe e wih
e ae = i 4644 ecuntarparton’ 1,887 1,830
Asnanras e 1o parent and group Total $13,850 $15.545
dirtakin gt — othid d crpditery 18,18 17,078
Agorual for management charges payable A
- ounts falling dus sfter more than one year
__Wpsmland goupunceraiingy 0 47T Un 4 et Ke1 with nfilates 5 B 5 47
2: .i.i.l.........l.:ﬁ.............\.'&.ﬂ:l... - it
aemseeee—— e e ————————————— e :wnmp.rﬁﬂ
(ther creditors and accruals 1,138 8BTS rldﬂiltu-n.lrdn
Total' $118,300 $145.104 at “mm os with mutemal
G0’ 760 1,650
Banouns Talling Sié Aller raoee HLan of yar e T
Bank |oans 3 e 3 - Total debt secunties sued 21,748 21.507
ng-bm:r!_Mlu-drnlm !HI 458
Dbt securites issusd 7,896 & 587 i = # debt s are 1 by secuities which have bean pledged
Amourts doe to parent and group. ms colatersl. This pledged is ®ither recognaed within “Financi
undertakings - unsocured bommwings W38 2T Enamnls oened of fcurced thicugh cdlaterslived agremmants.
et de to parent and group The table below presents the maturity of the company’s long-
__undetakings - other msecasdaediors 0 M4 00 A8 term debt _u_F“_ et ' e
e gemant chargas pay eht secunties issued.
0 paret and group underiakings’ 634 T4
Total" - S 32,298 § 16700 '“E‘u:iu"""'
Total other creditors S, 508 §162.604 0%
1. The seerusl Ror mensgement charges payable to parent and group Dotweentwoandbesyesrs 2,074
unchtakings it in respect of thie-based Sampensaton, 1,768
I ncludes financial Balbilties of 511554 bilon and 5145'53 Bk H i
Decomier 2015 and e e 2014, P aly, #nd non-fi ) .
fabies of $34 milion and $328 miion as of December 2016 and Amounts due in more than five years predominantly relate to
Decamions 2014, rapecsialy structured debt securities with maturities falling due between
3 Al amounts flling dee afber more than one year are fnancisl fakdibes as of 2021 and 2046, P‘q‘]-}'l\'ltﬂl-‘s on these securities are '}amm”}-

fee 2018 and Decomber 2014 referenced to underlying financial  asselts, which  are

predominately interest rate and equitics-related.

Long-Term Subordinated Loans

Long-term  subordinated  loams  comprise  long-term
subordinated loans from parent and group underiakings, which
are unsecured and carry interest al g margin over the U5
Federal Reserve's federal funds rate. The margin is reset on a
pericdic basis to reflect changes in G5 Group’s weighted
average cost of debt. Long-term subordinated loans constitute
regulatory capital as approved by the PRA and are repayable
subject to PRA approval and upon giving or receiving af least 5
years” netice 1o or from the parent o group undertaking,

75
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Mote 21,
Provisions for Liabilities

The table below presents the company's provisions for
liabalities, which are in respect of legal claims made against the
company.

£ in méllons 2015
Az of January 1 §17
Chargs o the probt and ks accou ]
Reducson in provisian (]
Litlinesd chring the year {17}
Forsign eschange gain {1
A5 of December 31 $ -

Further details relating to the provisions have not been
disclosed as permitted by IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, on the grounds that it would
be senously prejudicial to do so.

Hote 22

Share Capital

The table below presents the company s share capital.

Ordinary shares
Alotted, called up and fully paid of §1 each $ iy rliliors
s of January 12016 533,487,150 §593
“Allomed during the year  A&S1T,611 T
As of December 31, 2013 581,964,161 5582

During the year, the directors and shareholder of the company
reviewed G31°s capital requirements and new ordinary shares
were issued in ofder 1o increase the company’s regulatony
capital and further suppon ongoing business activities.

Cn June 10, 2015, 36,088,475 ordinary shares of $1 each were
allotted at $42.95 to GSGUR. The total consideration receved
was §1,550,000,000 in cash incorporating a share premium of
$1.513,911,525,

Cn June 29, 2003, 12,428,536 ordinary shares of 31 cach were
allotted a1 $40.23 to GIGUK, The total corsideration received
was S3000000) in cash incorporating a share premium of
S487.571 464,

6
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Note 23.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The table below presents the company’s cash oand cash
equivalents for the purpose of the statements of cash flows,

Ar of December
§ in millons FLUE] 2014
[Cashatbank sadinbaed LU N bl
Crwarcraks (se Note 20 _ﬂf 1_53
Total cash and cash equivalents 50,870 53,577

Mote 24.
Reconciliation of Cash Flows From
Operating Activities

The table below presents the company’s reconciliation of cash
flows from operating activities.

‘fear Ended Diecember
3 i malions UL 24
Proft on cedinary pcivites badors taxmtion §  nB61 3 2060
Adj st meenis for
Ceprecaton of tangile foed oxsets
{nen Moloes 6 and 13) 4 4
= 1
L]

1
hht'lll:;‘flui g rhlrgnc“;N-ulntl-iﬂm
Cash gereraied befiore changes in operating
atiely and iabStien 002 A
Changes in operating assels
Dx V BaLE} in cwnad T, fl [17a014)
Dacrease in colaternisad ags WIS 7962
Cwcreaselmraase) in debbors B, 15 8,3800
123,701 (178443
Changes in operating labilites
Iner reass) in fnancisl i ik
___Soid, but nat yat purchased pane loagac
Docrares in colateakied Bnancingy {21,764y (34, 184)
Increataf decrsate) in cther craditon {17,137 4,502
Inereasaiducr a e} in provisions for lakites {17} 10
{124,677) 176,200
Contrbutiont paid to defined bena® plan
(e Hobe 107 137} )

Caih penerated from apeations LT T m

Cash generated from operations includes interest paid of 32,16
billion and 5203 billion as of December 2015 and December
2004, respectively, and mterest received of 32.22 hllion and
5245 hllion, as of December 2015 and December 2014,
respectively.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 25,
Financial Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies
The table below presents the company’s commitments and
conlingencies.

As of December

3§ in milions 2015 24
Contingent and krward warting retale

and s b irsg g ks 520,276 534,572
Farward startng repurchate and wecured

lerting agresmentt 11,483 14, TED
Othar 4,137 4,001
Total Sb H96 353,353

The company enters into resale and securities bomowing
agreements and repurchase and secured lending agreements
that settle an a future date, generally withn three business days.
The company alse enters into commilments (o provide
contingent financing to iis clients and counierpariies through
resale  agreements. The company's funding of these
commitments depends on the satisfaction of all contractual
conditions to the resale agreement and these commitments can
expire umused.

Other commitments primarily relate to collateral commitments.

In addition, there are registered charges on the company’s
assets which have arisen in the ordinary course of business.

Leases

The company leases certain buildings under long-term lease
agreements. Under these lease agreements, which are subject to
remegotiation al varniows imervals specified in the leases, the
company pays all insurance, maintenance and repairs of these
properties. The table below presemts funere minimum rental
payments.

A of December
5 in milicng Hi% 2014
Less than cre year 5 05 § @R
e andl e s a7 S
ﬂuuk-m.iu. skl . .0 S~ W &
Total 3z S583

Total future minimum sublease payments expected o be
recerved under non-cancellable subleases as of December 20135
and December 2014 were 570 million and $90 mallion

respectively.

7
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Legal Preceedings

The company s involved in the below legal proccedings,
however it is not practicable to estimate an impact, if any, of
these proceedings.

Credit Derivatives Antitrust Matters. On December 4,
2015, the Buropean Commission anrounced that it had closed
antitrust proceedings agamnst all banks, mcluding G 31, involved
in the European Commission's investigation, announced in
Apnl 2011, of numerous fnancial services companies in
connection with the supply of data related to credit default
swaps and in connection with profit sharing and fee
arrangements for cleanng of credit default swaps, including
pedential anti-competiive praclices.

Mortgage-Related Matters. Variows alleged purchasers of,
and counterparties invelved i transactions relating 1o,
morigage pass-through  certificates,  collateralised  debt
obligations and other moergage-related products (incleding
Aozora Bank, Lid., Basis Yield Alpha Fund (Master) and KB
Deutsche Industrichank AG) have filed complanis m the
United States against the company and certain of its affiliates,
generally alleging that the offering documents for the securnitics
that they purchased contained untrue siatements of material
fact and material omissions and generally seeking rescission
and‘or damages. Certain of these complaimnts allege frawd and
seek punitive damages.

Libya-Related Litigation. G515 the defendant in an action
filed on January 21, 20014 with the High Court of Justice in
London by the Libvan Investment Authonty, relating to nine
derivative transactions between the plaintiff and GSI and
seeking, among other things, rescisson of the transactions and
unspecified equitable compensation and damages exceeding 51
billionn. On December 4, 2014, the Libvan Investment
Authority filed an amended statement of claim.

Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. G5 1= among
the defendants ramed i a putative antitrust ¢lass action
relating to the trading of interest rate swaps, filed on Movember
25, 2015 in the 1.5, District Cowrt for the Southemn District of
Mew York, The complaint generally alleges a conspiracy
among the dealers and brokers since at least January 1, 2008 o
prechude exchange trading of interest rate swaps, The
commplaint seeks declaratory and ijunctive reliel as well as
treble damages in an unspecified amount.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
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Commaodities-Related Litigation. G351 15 among  the
defendants named in a number of putative class actions filed
beginning on August 1, 2013 and consolidated in the US
District Court for the Southern Dhstrict of New York The
complaints generally allege violations of federal antitrust laws
and state laws in connection with the storage of aluminium and
aluminium trading. The complaints seek declaratory, mjunctive
and other equitable relief as well as unspecified monetary
damages, including treble damages. On August 29, 2014, the
coamt granted the Goldman Sachs defendants’ molion 1o
dismiss. Certain plaintiffs appealed on September 24, 2014,
and the remaining plaintiffs sought (o amend their complaints
i Otober 2004, On March 26, 2013, the court granted in part
and derued in part plantiffs” motions for leave to amend their
complaints, rejecting their monopolisation claims and most
state law claims but permitting their antitrust conspiracy claims
and certain parallel state law and unjust enfchment claims 1o
proceed, and the court directed the remaining plaintifs o file
their amended complaints, which they did on Apnl 8, 2015,

G315 among the defendants i putative class sctions, filed
beginning May 23, 20014 m the US District Court for the
Southern Dhstrict of New York, based on alleged viclations of
the federal antitrust laws in connection with the management
of zinc storage facilities. The complaims seek declaratory,
injunctive and other equitable reliel as well as unspecified
menetary damages, including treble damages. On January 7,
2016, the court granted the defendants” motion to dismiss.

G35l 15 among the defendants named in putative class actions
relating to trading in platinum and palladium, filed beginning
en MNovember 25, 2014, in the U5 Distriet Coun for the
Southern Dnstrict of New York. The complaints generally
allege that the defendants violated federal antitrust laws and
the Commodity Exclange Act in connection with an alleged
conspiracy 1o manipulate a benchmark for physical platinum
and palladium prices and seek declaratory and injunctive relief
as well as treble damages in an unspecified amoun. On July
27, 2015, planuffs filed a second amended consohdated
complaint, and on September 21, 2015, the defendants moved
tos dismiss.

]
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Mote 26.

Financial Risk Management and Capital
Management

Certain disclesures in relation to the company™s fmancial risk
management and capital management have been presented
alongside other nsk management and regulatory information in
Part [ of this armual report.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Mote 27,
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the camying valee of the company’s
financial assets and financial liabilities by category.

Financinl Asvaly

Held for  Dozigrated Loans and
$ in milions tnging af far value  recenvabiie Teasl
As of December 2015
Feranicinl msruments cwned 3616054
Colatersiived sgreements =
Oeotors = VR SRS WA
Caih af bank and in hand -
Total Tnancial assets S616,054 134,101 500,250  $R40,605
A of Decomber J014
Frmncial indruments cwned $633,748 5 - % = B a8
Colatersized agresments - 1SG0  4A707 A58

- 1,780 54,280

e ot bk g e = — 35— Ak
Total inancial assets 553,748 S160,880 112673 FoRE g0

Financial Liabilies
Held for  Dosigrated  Amortmad

5 i ervlons tracing  af far valus cont Totsl
Amaunts falling dus

Wil one year
Fenancial mslruments soid
_ bulnctystpurchmed  ¥SSS8S § - F - 6N
Collateraised fnancings = &k ADATI W8T
Cther Lredioms - 14,1584 101,747 115,838
Total 555,604 ETRLT 145,218 7TEL,000
Amounis falling dus afler

maore than one year
Colaterslised Srancings - 1502 - 1,502
Othar cradion - TA4E 24,857 12,308
Total = 10 E 4, R5F 5,800
Total inancial llab@fles  $555,654 93,055 170,008 523,775
A5 of December 2014
Amounts faling due

within one year

Ferancial reraments woid,

Bh41 41 ] - ] = $41.413
Colatersised frmncngs - BSEE 53201 10N
- 18,149 128,427 145 576
B41413 101,096 182,718 906,120
Amounts falling dus after
mare than one year
Cotateraised fnandngs = 1008 i 264
Other credions - 5.0 10,801 18,700
Total - 78T 11387 18214
Tetal Erpncinl habiting FEA1 413 SI09.622  §194,105 55 340

T
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Fair Value Hierarchy

The far value of a financial instrument 1s the amount that
would be recenved to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between markel participants at the
measurement date, Financial assets are marked to bid prices
amd fimancial liabilities are marked 1o offer prices. Fair vabue
measurements do not include transaction costs. The company
measures certain financial assets and financial labilities as a
portfolio (1., based on its net exposure to market andior credit
risks),

FRS 101 has a three-level fair value hierarchy for disclosure of
fair value measurements. The fair valwe hierarchy prionitises
mnpiits 1o the valuation technigues used 1o measure fair value,
giving the highest priority to level 1 inputs and the lowest
priorty 1o level 3 mputs A (nancial assel o Dnancial
liabihty®s level in the far value hierarchy = based on the
lowest level of input that 15 sipgnificant to its fair value
M eAsurament,

The far value hierarchy 15 as follows:

Level 1. Inputs are unadjusted guated prices in active markets
to which the company had access at the measurement date for
wlentical, unrestnicted assets or iabilties

Level 2. Inputs to valuation technigques are observable, either
directly or indirectly,

Level 3. One or more inputs to valuation techmiques are
significant and unohservable,

The fair values for substantially all of the company”s financial
assets and financial liabilities that are fair valued on a recurming
basis are based on observable prices and inpuls and are
classified m levels | and 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Cerlain
level 2 and level 3 financial assets and financial labilites may
require  approprmte valwtion adjustiments that a market
paricipant would require 1o amve at fur value for factors such
a3 counterparty and G5 Group's credit guality, funding risk,
transfer restricteons, hguadity and bad'ofter spreads, Valustion
adjustments are generally based on market evidence,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
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Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs

Cash Instruments. Cash mstruments include government
and agency obligations, bank leans and bridge loans, corporate
and other debt obligations, equities and convertible debentures,
and other non-denvative financial instruments owned and
financial nstruments sold, bul not vel purchased. Valuation
technigques and sigruficant mputs for each level of the Gur valuse
hierarchy include:

*  Level | cash instruments are valued using quoted prices for
identical unrestricted mstruments in active markets. The
company defines active markets for equity instruments
based on the average daily trading volume both in absolute
terms and relative 1o the market capitalisation for the
instrument. The company defines active markets for debt
instruments based on both the average daily trading volume
and the number of days with trading activity.
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Waluation adjustments are typically made fo level 2 cash
mstruments (1) if the cash instrument is subject (o ransfer
restrictions and'or (1) for other premiums and liquidity
discounts that a market participant would require to arrive
al fair value. Valution sdjustments are generally based on
market evidence,

Level 3 cash instruments have ome or more significant
valuation inputs that are not ohservable, Absent evidence o
the contrary, level 3 cash instrumenis are initially valued at
transaction price, which i considered to be the best tnutial
estimate of fair value, Subsequently, the company wses
other methodologies o determine fair value, which vary
based on the tvpe of instrument. Valuation inputs and
assumptions are changed when corrobosated by substantive
observable evidence, including values realised on sales of

oOoOooodn

* Level 2 cash instruments can be verified to quoted prices, financial assets

recent trading activity for identical or similar instruments, The table below presents the valuation techniques and the
h’_‘-"l‘-ﬂ' or dealer q_mialim‘:s. or alierrative ]:lricing_ SOUrees nature of sigmficamt inputs. These valuation techmques and
with reasonable levels of price transparency. Consideration sigmficant mputs are generally used to determine the fair

is given to the nature of the quotations (c.g., indicative of  yalues of each type of level 3 cash instrument,
firm) and the relationship of recent market activity to the

prices provided from altemative pricing sources.

Lewel 3 Cash Instruments Valuation Technigues and Significant Inpuls.

Morgages and other assetbaciosd ‘Valustion techniques vary by instrurment, but are generally based on dscounted cash Bow bechniques.
Woderih e bt Signalcant inputs ane g ity d based on nelative value analyses and indude:

Bank kot aed beidgs loans ® Marke! ywields imphed by transacions of similar or related ety

*  Curent levels and changes in market indces such as the iTrase, COX and LCDX {indices that track the performance of
corporate credit and loans, respactively)

*  Curmant parformancs of the berrowar of loan collatersl and mecovery astumpltiong if & delault sceurs,

*  Timing of expacted Liture cash Bows (duration) which, in cemain cates, may incxperale the impact of ather unabiervabie
Ppts (p.g., prepayment speeds).

‘Corporabe and other debt obligations ‘Valuation techniques vary by in but are g ity based on o i cash Row qUeS.

Sigrifcant inputs ane geneally determined based on relathve value analyses, which incorporate comparisons both to prices of
crachit dafaull wwaps thal reference the same of simiar usdedlying inttrument o enlity and b o dabl inutrumrants e e
wame ivsuer for which cimervalile prices or broker quatations ane available. Signifcant inputs include;

*  Masket wislds impled by transactions of simiar or related avusts

*  Gurrent levels and changes in maried indces swch s the Moo, COX and LODG

*  Curment piefo af the b of loan collateral and W ptions if & delaul oecurs.

*  Maturity and coupon profile of the insbument,

Equiies and convtble cebenbaes Recent third-party compleled or pending Sansactons (e.G. merge proposals, tencer offers. celt resvucturings) are

{incledng private squicy nvestments | considersd 1o be the best evidence for ary change in fair value. When these are not avadable, the following valustion
BN Feshents i peal Fstatn OIS Bl USed, BY BRDIODTIME:

sntiies) *  Industry muRighes and public comparakies.
= T % in similar i
*  Discounted cash Sow bechniques.
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Derivative Instruments. Denvatives may be traded on an
exchange (exchange-traded) or they may be privately
negotiated comtracts, which are usually referred to as OTC
derivatives. Certain of the company’s OTC derivatives arne
cleared and settled through ceniral clearing counterparties
(OTC-cleared). while others are bilateral comtracts between
two counterparties (bilateral OTC).

The company”’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using
denvative pricing models (ep, discounted cash fow models,
comrelation models, and models that incorporate option pricing
methodologies, such as Monte Carlo simulations). Price
trarsparency of derivatives can penerally be charactensed by
product tvpe, as descnbed below.

+ Interest Rate. In general, the kev mpuls used to value
interest rate derivatives are transparent, even for most long-
dated contracts. Interest rate swaps and oOptions
denominated m the currencies of leading industrialised
mations are characterised by high trading volumes and tight
bid'offer spreads. Interest mte dervatives that reference
indices, such as an inflation index, or the shape of the yield
curve (gg. 10-vear swap rate vs 2-vear swap rate) are
more complex, but the key inputs are generally observable,

+ Credit. Prce transparency for credit default swaps,
including both single mames and baskets of credits, varies
by market and underlying reference entity or obligation.
Credit default swaps that reference indices, large corporates
and major sovereigns generally exhubit the most price
wransparency. For  credit  default swaps  with  other
underliers, price transparency varies based on credit rating,
the cost of hommowing the underlying reference obligations,
and the availability of the underlying reference obligations
for delivery upon the default of the issuer. Credit default
swaps that reference loans, asset-backed securities and
emerging market debt instruments tend 1o have less price
transparency than those that reference corporate bonds. In
addition, more complex credit derivatives, such as those
senasitive to the comelation between two or more underlying
reference  obligations, generally  have less  price
IrAnSparency.

« Currency. Prices for cumrency derivatives based on the
exchange rates of leading industrialised nations, including
those with longer tenors, are generally transparent, The
primary difference between the price tansparency of
developed and emerging market currency derivatives is that
emerging markets tend to be observable for contracts with
sharter tenors.

&l
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= Equity. Price ransparency for equity derivatives varnes by
market and underlier. Options on indices and the common
stock of corporates included in major equity indices exhibit
the most price transparency. Equity denvatives generally
have ohservable market prices, except for contracts with
long tenors of reference prices that differ significantly from
current market prices. More complex equity denivatives,
such as those senstive to the correlation between two or
more individual stocks, penerally have less  price
trAnSparency

Liquidity is ¢ssential to observability of all product types. If
transaction volumes decline, previously trarsparent prices and
other inpauis may become unchservable. Conversely, even
highly structured products may at times have trading volumes
large enowgh to provide observability of prices and other
inpts.

Lewvel 1 Derivatives

Level 1 derivatives include shor-term comtracts for future
delivery of secunties when the underlying security 15 a level 1
instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
traded and are valued at their quoted market price.

Leve! 2 Derivatives

Level I derivatives include OTC denvatives for which all
sigmficant valuation inpwts are commoborated by market
evidence and exchange-traded derivatives that are not actively
traded and'or that are valued using models that calibrate to
market-cleanng levels of OTC denvatives. In evaluating the
sigmficance of a valustion mput, the company considers,
among other factors, a portfolio’s net risk exposure 1o that
inpt

The selection of a particular model to value a derwative
deperdds on the contractual terms of and specific nisks inherent
in the nstrument, as well as the availability of pricing
information in the market. For denivatives that trade in liguid
markets, model selection dees not  mvelve  significant
management judgement because outputs of models can be
calibrated to market-cleaning levels

Valustion models reguire a vanely of imputs, such as
contractual terms, market prices, vield curves, discount rates
{including those derved from interest rates on collateral
received and posted as specified in credit suppost agreements
for collateralised denvatives), credit cuwrves, measures of
volatility and correlations of such inputs. Sigmificant mnputs to
the valuations of level 2 derivatives can be verified to market
transactions, broker or dealer gquotations or other altermative
pricing spurces with reascnable levels of price transparency.
Comsideration is given to the nature of the gquotations (eg.,
mndicative of firm) and the relationship of recent market
activity to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Level 3 Derfvatives

Level 3 derivatives are valued using models which ubilise
cbzervable level 1 andior level 2 inputs, as well as
unobservable level 3 inputs. Uncbservable imputs include
certain correlations as well as credt spreads and equay
volatility inpants.

Subsequent to the initial valuation of a level 3 derivative, the
company updates the level 1 and level 2 inputs to reflect
observable market changes and any resulting pains and losses
are recorded in level 3. Level 3 inputs are changed when
comoborated by evidence such az similar market transactions,
third-party pricing services and/or broker or dealer quotations
or other empinical market data. In circumstances where the
company cannot venfy the model value by reference o market
trarsactions, i 15 possible that a different valuation model
could produce a matenally different estimate of fair value. See
below for further information about significant unchservable
inputs used in the valuation of level 3 derivatives,

Where there is a difference between the initial transaction price
and the far value calcubated by imernal models, a gain or loss
15 recognised afler mitial recognition only to the extent that it
arises from a change in a factor (mcluding time) that market
participants would consider in setting a price,

Valuation Adjustments

Valuation adjustments are integral to determining the fair value
of derivative portfolios and are wsed (o adjust the mid-market
valushions produced by derivative prcmg models to the
appropriate exit price valuation. These adjustments meorporate
bid'offer spreads, the cost of lguidity, credit valuation
adjustiments and funding valuation adjusiments, which aceount
for the credit and funding risk inherent i the wncollateralised
portion of derivative portfolios. The company also makes
funding valuation adjusimenis to collateralised dervatives
where the terms of the agreement do not permit the company to
deliver or repledge collateral received, Market-based inputs
are generally used when calibrating valwtion adjusimenis io
market-clearing levels.

In  addmion, for dervatives that  include  sigmibicant
unobservable inputs, the company makes model or exit price
adjustments to account for the valuation uncertainty present in
the transaction,
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Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. The sigmificant mputs to the valuation of resale
and repurchase agreements and securities borrowed and loaned
are funding spreads, the amount and timing of expected future
cash flows and interest rates

Debtors. Debtors measured at fair value are primanly
comprised of secured lending and prepaid commodity
contracts, The significant inputs 1o the valuation of such
recewvables are commaodity prices, interest rates, the amount
and timing of expected future cash flows and funding spreads.

QOther Creditors. Cther creditors primarily compnse hyvbnd
financial instruments and prepard commodity contracts.

The sigmficant puls to the valustion of secured other
creditors measured at fair value are the amount and tming of
expected future cash flows, interest rates, funding spreads, the
fair value of the collateral delivered by the company (which is
determined using the amount and tuming of expected future
cash flows, market prices, market vields and recovery
assumplions) and the Frequency of additional callateral calls.

The =significant inputs to the valuation of unsecured other
creditors measured at fair value are the amount and uming of
expected future cash Mows, nterest rates, the credit spreads of
(5 Group, as well as commodity prices in the case of prepaid
commodity contracts, The inputs used to value the embedded
derivative companert of hvbeid fnancial nstruments are
congistent with the inputs used to value the company’s other
derivative instruments
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Significant Unobservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair

Value Measurement

Cash Instruments. As of December 2015 and December « Increases in yield, discount rate or duration used in the
2014, the company had level 3 asset cash instruments of $1.24 valuation of the company’s level 3 cash instruments would
billion and $1.98 ballion, respectively. Level 3 liability cash resilt in a lower fair value measurement, while increases in
instruments as of both December 2015 and December 2014 recovery rate, basis or multiples would result in a higher
were nol material. The table below presents the ranges of farr value measurement. Due to the distinctive nature of
significant unobservable mputs used to value these level 3 ecach of the company’'s level 3 cash instruments, the
asset cash instruments, as well as the related weighted mterre lationship of inputs 15 ot necessanly uniform within
averages, Inthe table below each product type.

+ Kanpes represemt the significant unohservable inputs that # The fair value of any ene instrument may be determaned

were used in the valuation of each type of cash instrument, using multiple valuation techmigques. For example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used
together to determine fair valwe Therefore, the level 3
balance encompasses both of these technigues.

+  Weighted averages are caleulated by weighting each input
by the relative fair value of the financial instruments.

* The ranges ard weighted averages of these inpuls are not
representative of the approprate inpuls 1o use when
caleulating the far value of any one cash instrument. For
example, the highest vield presented in the tables below for
bank loans and brdge loans 1s approprate for valuing a
specific bank loan but may not be appropriate for valuing
any other bank lean Accordingly, the ranges of inputs
presented below do not represent uneertainty in, of possible
ranges of, fair value measurements of the company’s level
3 cash instruments.

Range of Slgnificant Unobservable Inputs (Welghled Average)
Valustion Techaiques and Lin
Lewve 3 Cash Instruments Significant Unobservable Inputs As of December 2013 Ak of Decarber 2014
Bank keang and bridgs loans Dizcounted cath Sows:
m:--ﬂ!ﬂmmm'ﬂmﬂ * Yield 3.2% b0 18, 7% (B.2%) 1.9% o 1 7.0% (3E%)

+ Recevery iate B.0% to 70,00 (33 T £, E7.1% (&7,
(642 milion are STSE o of Sl 3 443008 48 e VRIS Jo 0. (2.7 bigutiahial it
o bar 2015 and Dy bar 3014, *  Duration {years) 0.7 te 11,8 {5.4) 131812730
respectivell
Comporste and cther dabt cbligaticnt Ditcounted cath Sows:
Commmcal pape, cartificates of deposi, ime .
deposis and other money market intuments . Viald % ko 14,20 (5.7} 1.6% b0 24.4% (5.5%)
& - i Racowisly b 0u0%% bo 70,00 (BELE) 0007 bor P00 (3T 4%)

agan = . )
(EAAE o and $1.03 B0 oF leved 3 asseds 88 Duration {ywars) 1.8 55 (3.1 0.7 10 6.4 (3.00
&f Dicanboar 2015 ana Dicwenbar 3014,
respesctived
Equiies and converible debentures fincluding Market comparables and
private squity imve and i inreal | & J cash Pows:
eisia anble) * Mukiples 0.0 b 14,5 (2 4} 0.9 0 8.3x 1.5¢)
$152 milon and $187 millon of ke 3 asoet : ;
B Dacarmien 20115 amd Dwcarror 201425 | & Dincount rmieryield B.0% b0 13.3% 11.4%) 15.0% 50 15.8% (16.8%)
respectiveld
B3
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Derivative Instruments. As of December 2015 and
December 2014, the company had net level 3 denvative
instruments of 32,14 hillion and 33,12 billion, respectively.
The table below presents the ranges of significant unchservable
inputs used to value the company”s credit and equity denivative
instruments as well as averages and medians of these inputs
As of December 20015 and December 2014, the company had
net level 3 financial instruments of %136 mullion and 5242
million, respectively, relating to mterest rate, curmencies and
commoedities derivatives for which the range of sigmificant
unobservable inputs has not been disclosed as the amounts are
not material. In the table below:

+ Ranges represent the significant unobservable inputs that
were used in the valuation of each type of derivative.

*  Averapes represent the arithmetic average of the nputs and
are net weighted by the relative fair value or notional of the
respective financial instruments. An average greater than
the median indicates that the majority of inputs are below
the average.
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® The ranges, averages and medians of these inpuls are not
representative of the appropnate npuis o we when
calculating the fair value of any one denvative. For
example, the highest comelation presented in the tables
below for crednt dervatives 15 appropnate for valung a
specific credit derivative but may not be appropriate for
valuing any other credit dervative. Accordingly, the ranges
of inputs presented below do not represent uncertainty in,
or possible ranges of, fair value measurements of the
company’s level 3 derivatives.

®  The far value of any one imstrument may be determined
using multiple valuation technigues. For example, option
pricing models and discouted cash flows models are
typically used together to determune fair value. Therefore,
the level 3 balance encompasses both of these techniques.

Range of & cant Unobservable Inpuls {Average | Med
Vakuation Techriques and oren ! ke
Lawved 3 Derivative Product Type Significant Unobservalle Inputs | A= of December 2015 At of Decembaer 2004
Croit Oiption pricing medels. comdation
(5229 bilor ared 53,36 lon of nel miodets snd discounted cash fows
fevel 3 derivative instruments as of models:
o 2015 et D 014, *  Comeation 45% ta 9% {65 / 86%) ST 1o B (T7%.1 T5%)
*  Credit spreads 1 basis poisty (bpad ba 957 bpa 1 batin paint (berk] 1o 700 Bgri
{174 bps 1 131 bips) (143 bps J 107 bps)
*  Upiont credit points 0 points b BE points {24 points 1 points o B4 points (35 ponts |
20 pointy) 16 painty)
*  Recowsry rabes 2% to S5 (4% / 40%) 4% 1o GO (3075 f 2E%)
Equiies Optsen prating medis;
(52T malon ang S{484) millon of naet
Pl 3 Siehvitas instrurmants i of *  Comelstion (incuding crosse | {B51% to T4% (30% / 45%) (3415 80 D% (457 1 42%)
December 2015 ana December 2014, predhatl comslaten]
Rt * Wolability 1% o S8 (26% 7 26%) 5% to 6% (219 1 21%)
£
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Range of Significant Unobservable Inputs

The followmg = information about the ranges of significant
unobservable inputs wsed to value the company™s level 3
denvative nstruments:

+ Correlation. Kanges for correlation cover a variety of
wnderliers both within one market {e.g.. equity index and
equity single stock mames) and scross markets (eg.,
correlation of an equity index and a foreign exchange rate),
as well as across regions

+ Volatility. Ranges for volatlity cover numerous underliers
acToss & vanety of markets, maturities and strike prices. For
example, valatihty of equity indices is generally lower than
velatility of single stocks.

+ Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfront credit pomts
and recovery rates cover a variety of underliers (index and
single names), regions, sectors, maturities and credit
qualities {high-yield and iwestment-grade). The broad
range of this population gives rise to the width of the ranges
of significant unobservable inputs.

Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inputs

The following is a description of the directional sensitivity of
the company’s level 3 fair value measwrements to changes in
significant unobservable inputs, i isolation:

« Correlation. In general, for contracts where the holder
benefits from the consastent directional performance of the
underlving assel or index prices (g, mnterest mles, cradit
spreads, foreign exchange rates, inflation rates and equity
prices), an mereas: in cormelation results moa higher fur
value measurement.

«  Volatility. In general, for purchased options, an increase in
velatility results in a higher fair value measurement.

+« Credit spreads, upfront cradit points and recovery
rates. In general, the farr value of purchased credit
prodection ncresses as credit spreads or upfront credit
pomils merease or recovery rates decrease. Credil spreads,
upfront credit points and recovery rates are strongly related
to distinctive nisk factors of the underlving reference
obligations. These include reference entity-specific factors
such as leverage, volatility and industry; market-based risk
factors, such as bomowing costs of liquidity of the
wnderlving  reference  obhgation, and  macroeconomic
conditions.

Due to the distinctive nature of each of the company’s level 3

denvatives, the mtemrelationship of inputs 15 not necessarily

uniform within each product type.

S
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Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. As of both December 2015 and December 2014,
the company had mo level 3 resale agreements, securities
borrowed or securities loaned. As of both December 2015 and
December 2014, the company”s level 3 repurchase agreements
were nol material

Debtors. As of both December 2015 and December 2014, the
company's level 3 debtors were Snil.

Other Creditors. As of both December 2015 and December
2014, the sigroficant wnobservable inputs wed (o value the
company's secured  level 3 other creditors have been
incorporated i the company’s cash imstruments disclosures
related to unobservable inputs. See "Cash Instruments™ abave,

As of both December 2015 and December 2014, substantially
all of the company’s unsecured level 3 other creditors are
hybead financial instruments. As the significant unobservable
mnpats wed to value hybnd financial instruments primanly
relate to the embedded derivative component of these
berrawings, these inpuls are incorporated in the company's
dervative  disclosures related 1o unchservable mputs. See
“Denvative Instruments” above.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
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Fair Value of Financial Assets
Liabilities by Level

The mables below present, by level within the far value
hierarchy, fimancial assets and financial liabilitties measured at
fair value ona recurring basis,

and Financial

Financial Assets and Financial Lisbilites

ol Fair Valus as of Decembser 2015

_Snmuma Level 1 Level 2 Lewel 3 Taotal
Elnpncis ASSELS

Cath instnaments SRR 5 17500 $1,73% 5 66,937
ity i | nrakru manis. 4 544,000 4,303 48,117
Feranicial imstruments cwnad 48,312 561,801 6,041 616,054
Colateraised agresments - 132,933 - 132,933
S = 159 = 1500

assts ]
Financia LiabilRies
Amourds Falling due within
‘one year

Cash instnaments 11,008 5 2584 § 62 5 na8
Deivatveimtuments I8 528277 2883 530070

Ferancial mstroments soid,

bt not yet purchased 21,088 531,881 27
‘Colatersised beancings =~ = T 1
Total 21,088  B15,41% [ ¥y [TFR L]
Amoimis falling die afler
mare thar ane year
Coilateraised Snancings 3,802 - 3,502
“ther cradiion - 5372 3,18 T
Total = 8,824 7,024 0,848
Total Tnancial liabaiies 51,066 524,047 58,401 653,700
He defvative instruments 4 § 1803 2,103 § 18047
Finmncial Avzats and Fnencial Lisbilities
it Fir Vakse ok of Ducambar 20104
5 in millons Lerwed 1 Leved 2 Lowel 3 Total
Cash insinsments $80,292 5 23083 1,878 5 6828
Divivatvn Instrumants 17 621,863 BEI17T 627,457
Frmncinl meroments cwned | 40,308 645,645 7,783 683,748
Colatersised agresments SETT ) - 150,808
Diidtalen i - 1,760 - 1,760
Total Erencial awats. 50309 H0G.5 §7.7 54, 33T
Amounts Falling dus within
one year
Cash inslnaments S TAR 5 4852 F § 27850
.......................................... Ty

Aot falling dus after

mare than one year
Coilateraized Santings - 1,978 - 1,928
Qthar sraditor - 5,084 [7E] 5 A%
Total = 5,601 w3 7827
Tetal raecinl akating 522774 5100008 6493 5951,095
Hat darhention instrumeets (7 510831 S3420 5 13,734
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Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

During 2015 and 2014, there were no significamt transfers
between level | and level 2 financial assets and financeal
liabilities measused at fair value on a recurring basis.,

Level 3 Roliferward

The table below presents the changes in fair value for all level
3 financial assets and financial ligbilities measured at fair vabue
on a recurring basis. Gains and losses ansing on level 3 assets
are recogmised within net revenues m the profit and loss
aceount. [n the table below:

# Il a fimancial assel or Grancial lability was transferred 1o
level 3 during & reporting period, its entine gain or loss for
the peried is included in bevel 3. For level 3 financial assets,
méreases are shown as posilive amounts, while decreases
are shown as negative amounts For level 3 financial
habsilities, increases are shown as negative amounts, while
decrenses are shown &8 positive amounts.

»  Transfers between levels are recognised at the beginning of
the reporting period in which they occur, Accordingly, the
tables do mot include gains or bosses for level 3 fnancil
assets and financial liabilies that were transferred oul of
level 3 prior to the end of the peried.

# Level 3 fnancil asets and fnancial lsbilities are
frequently economically hedged with level 1 and level 2
financial assets and financial liabilities. Accordingly, level
3 gains or kosses that are reported in the table below for a
particular class of financial asset or financial labibty can
be partially offset by gains or losses attributable to level 1
or level 2 in the same class of Onancial asset or financial
liakility or gains or losses attributable to level 1, level 2 or
level 3 in a different class of financial asset or financial
lability, As a result, gains or losses included in the level 3
rollforward below do not necessanily represent the overall
impact on the company’s results of operations, liquidity or
capital resources,

e See “Level 3 Rollforward Commentary™ below for an
explanation of transfers into and transfers out of level 3.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Leved 3 Financial Assels and Financial Lisbdtes at Fai Value

[Ty Translws Translers Balance,
egamng  Gana it out ot andal
5 in enilions slynar  dotien)  Purchaues Saler  Settements Teval 3 Il 3 yuar
Year Ended De-comber 2015
Femcinl Pritruments cwnad $7.793 5 B8 $ &0 § a0 130 SO HRME 56041
Diabiiors = - = = - = = =
Total lewel 3 financal assets 57,793 § &6 3 &0 § (401 1,300 5084 SZ,005 56,041
Fasmeinl Pritruments ssld Bt nel yol purshased LTG5 @ $ #0533 $ I LTLTTIN T 5 $[3,7I7)
Colaterslssd Sranongs 124y s} - - o4 - - i)
e s s o s i B .
Total lewel 3 Ninancial EDITIS ha15 5 W8 T 00 W51 59,801 Wora) % 760 SIEADT)
Yuar Ended Deceonber 2014
Faranicial istruments owned $0085 2508 ST & (TEE Sachm  STI2 LM STTES
Dutdors 180 = = - = - {180 -
Tetal Wnl 3 Bnancal aveets $H,035 .50 1,700 5 (765 SE0Em 5712 51,509 57,798
Firanicial instruments sokd, Bt not yet purchased L0085 5 42 $ (0§ (E5E $1,173 245 51268 2718
Collgteralived boancings =000 AL el ... HE R .
Gthar sraditor V2,668 132 (e (Kiz] Ty E 13,580
Total vl 3 Bnancial lnbses WILEN 8 (28] ] FH A7) % 1.0 FTFe]

Level 3 Rolforward Commentary

Year Ended December 2015. Transfers into level 3 Year Ended December 2014. Transfers ino level 3

primarily reflected transfers of cemain credit derivatives from
level 2, principally due to unchservable credit spread inputs
becoming significant to the valuation of these instruments and
the wransfers of certain equity denvatives from level 2,
principally due to unchservable volatility and correlation
inputs  becoming  significant to the valuation of these
derivatives

primarily reflected iransfers of certain credit derivatives from
level 2, principally due to unobservable credit spread mputs
becoming significant to the valeation of these instruments or a
recuction in market data available for the mstrument

Transfers out of level 3 primarily reflected transfers of certain
credit denvatives to level 2, principally due to unobservable

credit spread inputs no longer being sigmficant to the net nisk
of certain portfolios and the transfers of certain equity
derivatives 1 level 2, due to unchservable comelations no
longer being sigmificant 10 the valuation of the instrument.

Transfers out of level 3 primanly reflected transfers of certan
credit denvatives 1o level 2, pnncipally due to unobservable
credit spread mputs no longer beang sigrificant 1 the met risk
of certamn portfohos.
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Fair Value Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Valued Using Technigques That Incorporate
Unobservable Inputs

The tair value of financial assets and financial liabilities may
be determined in whole or part using a valuation technique
based on assumplions thal are not supported by prices from
ohservable current market transactions in the same mstrument
or based on available observable market data and changing
these assumptions will change the resultant estimate of fair
valug, The potential impact of wsing reasonable possible
alternative assumptions for the valuations, including sigmificant
unobservable inputs, has been quantified as of December 2015
and December 2014, as approximately 3261 million and 5179
million, respectively, for favourable changes and 5238 million
and 5146 million, respectively, for unfavourable changes. In
determining  reasomably  possible  alternative  wnfavourable
assumplions, a detailed bisiness and position level review has
been performed to wdentify and quantify instances whene
potential uncertanty exists. This has taken o aceount the
positions” farr value as compared to the range of available
market information.

The table below presents the amounts ot recopmised n the
profit and loss account relating to the difference between the
fair value of financial instruments held for trading at initial
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Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value

Az of December 2015 and Drecember 2014, the company had
$99.25 billion and 311257 billion, respectively, of current
financial assets and S14520 killion and 518272 hillion,
respectively, of current financial habilities that are not
measured at far value. Given the shon-term nature of these
instruments, thewr carrying amounts in the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value,

As of December 2015 and December 2014, the company had
824,85 billion and $11.39 billion, respectively, of financial
liabilites that are due afier more than one vear that are not
measured a1 fair value which predominantly relate to long-term
intercompany  borrowings. The interest rates of these
berrawings are varisble in mature and approximate prevailing
market interest rates for mstruments with similar terms and
characteristics, As such, their camrying amounts in the balance
sheet are a reasonable approsimation of fair value,

Iterms of Income, Expense, Gains or Losses

The table below presents the tems of income, expense, gains
of losses related 1o the company’s financial assets and hnancial
liabihties that are presented within net revenues.

‘Year Ended December

recognition (the transaction price) and the amounts determined % iy malions 014 2014
L - . . . ———— T —
at imtial recognition using the valuation techniques {day 1 Hon-interest (ncoems 8,778 36015
P&L) Intirest neccme
Intanirit income fam eademal counberparting 1,504 510
enr Ended Dacember Inbarest income from parent and group undertakings i Fr
$ in millons s 204 Total interest income 207 453
R was 580
L T N . N ] Interest expense
Aoty recognited in the proSt and loss sccount I E Fom sxten P A0 1,265
duing the pariod (90 162) Intarest superse Fom parent and group undertakings 51 852
A5 of December 31 $139 313 Total interest expense 1,801 2117
Mt intefe sl Bcome Fe 415
Talal net revenues 7,014 6430
1. Mominterest income includes © wnd fess | of $532 milion

B

ond 5557 milon for 2015 and 2014, respectively. This & recogrised in
Ingiiticnal Chent Senicet and nvestment Masagemasnt,

2. Moninterest incoms indudes net gains of $825 million for 2018 and nat
losnan of $489 million for 2014, i relafion to the compeyy's nancisl assets
and Snancial Babdites designated sl fair value This s recognied in
Instiutional Chest Services. The remaining ret nevenuss within Institutional
Client Services rolate 1o ned gains kom fnancisl assels and
Enancial Babdities heid ke radng.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Maturity of Financial Liabilities

The table below presents the cash flows of the company's
financial labilities by contractual maturity including interest
that will accrue, except for financial instruments sold, but not
vel purchased Financial mstruments sold, but not wet
purchased are classified as wading'on demand  Fimancial
liabalities, with the exception of those that are held for trading

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

The fair values of financial lmbilibes held for trading and
financial habilities desagnated at fair value through profit and
loss have been disclosed as this 15 consistent with the valucs
used in the bgudity risk management of these instruments,
Liguidity risk on derivatives is mitigated through master
netting agreements and cash collateral armangements.

oOoOooodn

or designated at fair value throwzh profit and loss, are disclosed

at their undiscounted cash flows
Financial Liakilties
More than Mz than More than
onimonth  thies manths L= b Ll
[£153 but leis Ent leis taal lein Greater
Trading! than one than Swne ‘than crse than Sve thars fve
£ in milons on demrand manth monkhs year Jears yoars Total
As of December 2015
dnounts Falling dus witfim o yoar
_Financial instrumants soid, Bt not yet purchazed el 8- i_- L § - § - S5SAM
Collatarslised Bnandings B0.0R6 41,000 13TE 11,021 - - 116,355
Cther credion FE050 FrLE L AT T - - 116,372
Total T a0 A, 167 4,0 X iR - - THEA11
Amounts Malling due after more than one year
Colateralised frpncings 0 - —
Othar cradions [] 19
Total [] 19
Total — on-bal ance-sheet 701,790 44,168 4,072 33 A07 24,524 12,680 225,641
Covtagent and rward sating resale and secunties
___borowing sgresmens 000 00- 2 wa8 - - = = B
Cperating s = i 18 Ti HT 13 456
Othar 4137 - = = - - LAE
Total = off-bal ance-s et [RET 0,204 18 ] ¥ 15 X,EM
Total Binanclal lab@ities ST08 927 573452 54,083 134T S24,871 512,695 $899,312

Amounts Falling due within one year

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Coilataraised Bnancings - - - - 2418 k] 2614
Cthar credions - 2 4 i 2110 BATS 1787
Total - 2 4 26 11,528 CRE 20,381
Total — on-Balarte-ohee BO7. 388 53,538 £ 718 55,994 11,528 8771 546,533
Contngent and rward starting resale and securities

__borowing agresments = WS - = == WA
Cperating leates - & 18 T4 385 Al S5
_Dther 4.001 - = = - - 4,001
Total = of-balare-skise 4,001 34 BAO 18 T4 388 B0 38,188
Total bnencial labliiios 811,380 £80, 118 58 Tz S0, 058 £11,813 58881 5008, 088
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Collateral Received and Pledged

The company receives financial instruments (e.g., government
and agency obligations, corporate debt securities, equities and
comvertible debentures) as collateral, pnmarily in connection
with resale agreements, securities bormrowed, derivative
trarsactions and customer margin loans. The company obtains
cash and securities as collmeral on an upfront or contingent
basiz for dervative mstruments and collateralised agreements
to reduce its credit exposure 1o individual counterparties

In many cascs, the company is permitted to deliver or repledge
financial instruments received as collateral when entering imo
repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements,
primarily in connection with secured chent financing activity.
The company 15 also permitted to deliver or repledge these
financial instruments in connaction  with other  secured
financings, collateralising dervative transactions and meeting
company or customer setilement requirements,

The company also pledges certam fnancial mstruments owned
in conmection with repurchase agreements, securitics lending
agreements and other secured fimancings to counterparties who
may of may el have the right to deliver or repledge.

The table below presemts financial instruments received as
collateral that were available 1o be delivered. or repledged and
were delivered or repledged by the company.

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Hedge Accounting

The company designates certain interest rate swaps as far
value hedges. These interest rate swaps hedge changes in fair
value attnbutable to the relevant benchmark interest rate (e.g.,
London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBORJ) effectively
converting fixed rate obligations imo floating rate obligations.

The company mpplies a statistical method that utilises
regression analysis when assessing the effectiveness of its fair
value hedging relationships in schieving offsetting changes n
the fair values of the hedging instrument and the risk being
hedged {ie, interest rate risk) An interest ale swap is
considered highly effective in offsetting changes i fair value
attnbutable 1o changes in the hedged nsk when the regression
analysis results in a coefficient of determination of 0% or
greater and a slope between 0% and 125%

For qualifying fair value hedges, gains or losses on derivatives
and the change in fair value of the hedged item attributable o
the hedged nisk are included in net revenues. When a denvative
is no longer designated as a hedge, any remaining difference
between the carrving value and par value of the hedged item 15
amaised over the remaining Life of the hedged item using the
effective interest method.

The table below presents the gains/(losses) from interest rate
dervatives accounted for as hedges, the related hedged
bommowings and the hedge ineffectiveness on these derivatives.

Ad ol Dicirnbar
§ in milics s 014 Year Ended December
Colateral avallsbie to be cellvered of replodged 579,584 $368,545 % in millians 2015 2014
[~ thad was. of repedg o7, e 204,504 Intarest rale hedges e 585
. . e~ e =
The table below presents mformation about assels pledped. Hedge Inelecveness T 14} 35

A of Docimber
5 i milhong 13 204
Feancial meruments cwned pledged to
eamrtepartie hak
Had thi rght ba delver o riplidos §22,038 S0
Dédl not heve the right to deiver or repledge 0,148 17,555

The company has received cash collateral i respect of
financial instruments owned of 35764 billon and $57.54
billion as of December 2015 and December 2014, respectively,
and posted cash collateral in respect of financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased of 338.71 billion and 53546 hillion
as of December 2015 and December 2014, respectively.

In addition to repurchase agreemenis and securities lending
transactions, the company funds cenain assets through the use
of other secured financings and pledges financial instruments
as collateral m these itrarsactions. These other secured
financings consist of labalities related to special purpose
entities, transfers of financial assets that are accounted for as
financings rather than sales and other siructured financing
armangements. Other secured financings include amangements
that are non-recourss,

The far value of asset and lishilty derivative instruments
designated as hedges were 5158 million and 324 million,
respectively, as of December 20135,

The farr value of asset and hability denvative instruments
designated as hedpges were 5188 mullion and 310 million,
respectively, as of December 2014,
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Transferred Assets

Assets Continued to be Recognised in Full. During the
vear, the company transferred cenain financial assets where the
trancters failed to meet the derecognition criteria, as contained
i 1AS 3% “Financial Instruments:  Recognifion and
Measurement’, and as a result of which the company continues
o recogise these assets in full on the balance sheet.

The company transfers assets owned to counterparties in the
ordinary course of business w0 collateralise repurchase
agreements and other securities lending transactions.  In these
trarsactions the transferred assets continue to be recognised by
the company for aceounting purposes because the transactions
regquire the financial instruments to be repurchased at maturity
of the agreement and the company remains exposed io the
price, credit and interest rate risk of these instruments. When
the company receives cash proceeds from the transfer of the
asset, a financial hability is recognised in respect of the
consideration received and recorded within “Collateralised
financings”. When the company receives non cash collateral
(m the form of securities) no lhabality 15 mtally recogmsed. If
collateral received is subsequently seld, the abligation 1o return
the collateral 15 recogised as a habilty within “Financial
instruments sold, but not yet purchased”,

In addition 1o repurchase agreements and securities lending
agreements, the company obtains funding through the use of
other arrangements that fail to meet the derecognition eriteria
For example, sales of securities with related derivatives, such
as tofal retun swaps, through which the company retains
substartially all of the nisk and reward of the transferred assets
A francial lability 15 recogmsed in such cases for the
procecds received.

|
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Other financial assets transferred that contimue (o be recognised
o balance sheet for accounting purposes relate 1o pledges of
securities as ¢ollateral, primarily for dervative transactions.
The oblgations under such denivabives are recorded in
“Financial instruments sold, but not vet purchased”,

The table below presents financial assets which have been
transferred but which remain on balance sheet for accounting
purposes. The carrving amount of the assoomated Onancial
liabilities generally approximate the carrying amount of the
as=ets tranaferred.

As of December

§ in malions 205 2014
= il pap, codis of degond. tirme

cepeosits and othar mon ey makosd insinements g m £ 1,047
Gergenmant and agency obligations 10,036 11,085
Corparste and other dabl cbligatont 5,300 E.248
Equitit and convirtible dabantugd 26,625 TXETD
Total 2,182 M0G0
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Derecognised Assets With Ongeoing Exposure. The
company has continuing involvement in the form of denvative
trarsactions and guarantees with certain non consolidated
structured entities to which the company had transferred
financial assets. These denvatives may be credit-linked to the
assel transferred and resull in the company retaiming specific
risks in the transferred asset or require the company to make
pavments to the structured entity to compensate losses on the
asset if certain contingent events occur

In addition, the company transters financial assets to
securitisation vehicles. The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transferred assets bul may have continting
invalyement with the transferred assets, including ownershap of
beneficial interests in the securitisation. The company may also
purchase semor of subordinated secunities  ssued by
securitisation vehicles in connection with: secondary market
making activities.

Where the company’s continuing invelvement in transferred
assets 15 through derivatives or guarantees, the maximum
exposure 1o loss s the notional amounts of the derivative or
puarantée. For retaimed of purchased interests in secumlised
assets, the company”s risk of loss 15 imied o the far value of
these interests, In all cases these retained interests are carried at
fair value.

The company accounts for assets pending transter at fair value
and therefore does not typacally recognise significant gains of
losses upon the transfer of assets. The company does not have
comtinuing involvement that could require the company to
repurchase derecognised financial assels
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The tables below present mformation about the company's

exposure through continuing involvement and the gains or
losses related to those ransactions

Maxinum
Carying  Expoiane
§ in rallong Amcunt ta Loss
As of December 2013
Rasets
Cash instrurrsats E L] § @1
Derivalive instruments w 1,180
Fnancial instrumsnts owned () 1,
Tolal e 1,250
Liabilicies
Derivatives instruments. L] ¥ (101
“Financisl instrumwents sold, Bul net yet purchased F3] (LS
Crthar cracitors = =
Talal 5 (8 % (107
£ ol December 2014
Rssets
Cash insrurrents & 5 64
Derivative instrumants 12 1,308
Financial instruments owned 184 1372
To ) T.372
Liabilities
Darivatives instruments. (0 3 B
“Financinl Inwrunmeeis soid, but not yet parchased [F3] 78
Crhar crediton: - -
Total § (D 3 (B
Incomed  Curnulste
(Expanza) I el
& i mallions inthe ysar  {Expense]
i 2 § 120
& 150
Financial instrumeats owned [ Fi]
(3] § oo
Liabdligies
Drivalivet intlrumanty gm0 EREr]
Financial instrumseets sold, but nof yet porchased in [EFI]
s credices - i
Taotal 50N EIEED
Lo ol Deceraber 2014
AsRas
Cash insfruments 27 5 11e
Db i ingirumisnty L] 124
Financiasl ingrumsents owned EE] 23
Total (1] )
Liabdliges
Darivalivet intlrumants ¥ 2 FIEL]
Financial instrumssats sodd, but nat yet purchased F] [EIT]
Othisr ericiory = {1
Total 52 R
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Hote 28,

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

The tables below present the company’s lnancil assets and
financial liabilites that are subject to enforceable metting
agreements and offsetting, Gross amounts exclude the effects
of both counterparty netting and collateral, and therefore are
not representative of the company’s cconomic exposure
Amouris are only offset in the balance sheet when the
company curremtly has a legally enforceable nght 1o set-off the
recognised amounts and an intention either 10 seitle onm a net
basiz, or i realise the asset and settle the hability
simultaneously,
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The tables below alse present ameunts not offset in the balance
sheet in respect of counterparty netting (ie., the netting of
financial assets and financial liabilities for a given counterparty
when a legal right of setofl exists under an enforceable netting
agrecment), and cash and sccurity collateral received and
pested under enforceable credit support agreements, that do not
meet the entena for offsetting under UK. GAAP. Where the
company has recewved or posted collateral under credit support
agreements, but has not wet determined whether such
agreements are enforceable, the related collateral has not been
meluded in the amounts not offset in the balance sheet, in the

oOoOooodn

tables below,
A of Decamber 2015
Amourts not offset in the balance sheet
Amourts  Met amount
offsetin the  presented in
Gross baance the balance Counderpaty Cash Security
5 in milions amounts'” wheat st neming  collateral  collateral  Het ameunt
Cash insinsments 515,662 5 (11,579 § 4,063 % {21y & (TH) L) $ 1M1
Francal ridruments ewnaed L 171,388 35, H00 [A74,510) [RERLE] {13,088 43,705
Colatersised agreements T (27,381 163,703 MEEIG) = (zATH a008
DCiadtel 55,187 {8,744) 43,45 {542y 32,200 (7,900} 1,785
Franicial antets tubject to snforc salie netting
AR B0, B0 {105,317 785,333 [¥d3,2R0) 75,000 (132,463) 13490
Feramicial Bssats not subjsct 1o 80 foroeabie neRng
B TR BT = 84,373 = - - Bl 3T
Total fnarcial assets $0E5,122  S105,517)  SBARE0S  S(5E3,280)  W7S000) (133483 $115,77%
Amounts falling dus within one year
Cash instnamants 5 1,184 5 (1,184 5 - 5 - 5 - 5 - 3 -
Dwivatve instumants ] (XD 530,470 ATIADE)  R20T (REAT) 15650
Ferancial vslroments soid, bl not yet purchased 590,614 159,544 530,870 [474,408) (32,200 (5617} 18,652
Collataralsid Euancngs 150,534 34,149 116,385 {48,130} - {52,088 16,180
Othr craditon T 453 [EXr] 6,408 {21) w2, 160 - 0,343
Total BOE, 601 [LEEE] T, T [H22.640) (4,365 (60,85 52,084
Amourts Palling due after mare than one year
Colateralited fnanc 3,502 = 3,802
Cther crediors ) - B804 {8,857} 1,557
Total 12,190 18,890) EXE]
Farancial bates whmel o enEetonbie nefing
BgrETaL Er0, 0T 1105,517) 15,130 (323,280} (T4,365) (B4, 028y 51,609
“Brancial labites not subyect to enlorceatle neting T -
agresmens 108405 - 108,495 - - - 108 885
Total financial liabdities S0ER, 07 H105,317) SRILTTS S(3F3,2R0) {74, 365) (64,0316} F162, 104

1. Derivative assats and derfvative labities include amounts that sre not subject to &n enforcesbis nefting sgresmiend or are subjsct to & netting agresment that the

i has not yod b s b el

ble of 5834 balon and 57,48 bllon, respectely,

2 Substantialy all collateralned agresments and collsteralised fnancings are subject 1o snforceable neftting agresments.

a3
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

As of December 2014
Amounts not offset in the balance shoest

Ameints B amount
offiat in the  prédented n

Gross bl the bal: L= party Cash Security
_5 in milions amounts’ - sheet shest netting colistenl collateral  Net amount
Elnacclal aesels
Cash instnsments 5 1TaE0 § (14.45Y & a007 5 (161 H - H - 5 2B4E
Doty it menes ] TERLEIT (132115 627 487 005 @il (10,215 25,567
Ferancial mEruments cwned TIT2 145, 55T 80, 504 TXCRTTH LIy 110,215 AT
Colatersised agresments 218,75 {18,718y 20,818 (28, 7By - {108, 488y %1y
T e T
Francial avuets tubject to enforceable nalting
ageemens 8,054 352 (172260 o2, [H30 520 (71,850 120808, 43318
Fanameial asaats Nt subject 1o on ke ceabis nesting
BgreEmans BEE - B4,818 - - - ‘B4.BEG
Total Emancial avsaty FIRECNEL 1T 5064910 T ST 6 120806 F1AT
Einancls Hatilides
Amounts falling due within one year
Cath intinsmint 1 - % - % - 5 - 5§ - 13 - % -
iy g e oo S L
Fararicial Prslraments woid, Gl nol ot purchased A4, 162 1130, 395) 13,163 [E45,005) 28,828} 35
Tt B — ot il o ——
Cther cradion "' 72453 (R EDT) 63,852 ety AT
Total W1 _aah 16, ) iB, 152 i ¥
Amounts laling due after more than one year
Collataraised Esancings 2514 - 2514 (96} - (2418} -
Other credions 9,603 :T.HEI 2.I:Q£- [i‘h = = 1.4&
Total 12117 {7,588 4,548 (588} — (2418} 1.433
Fancial labdites whpct to snkecoable nefling
Bgeameny 3,562 {172.280) 821,301 [638.529) (71,638 (54,8420 56,652
Feancial labiities not subyect bo enforceable netting
B TR 124-.[!_3& - 124 A5 - _- - 124 039
Tolal Brnancial labiting 51,117.601 S(1TZI61) 5845340 S{E38.529) 571638 5 (5442 SIELTH
1. Derhatren assets and desvative labdties ncude ameunts that s not subject to an enfecesbie neSing agr % of are subiect B & Netting aghesmant that the
company has not ye! determined 1o be enforceable of 512 52 bilion snd 510.50 billkon, reapectiely
L Sut inity ol g ol Ined agresments and colisteralised fnancings are subset 1o enfor ceabde netting agresments.
94
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OooooOodd
12 31
2014 2013
3 5,898,602 647,608 5,156,688 566,153
4 (3,624,470) (397,931)  (4,538,515) (498,284)
2,274,132 249,677 618,173 67,869
12 — — (36,238) (3.,979)
5 (222,124) (24,387) (305, 837) (33,578)
8 28,467 3,125 21,468 2,357
2,080,475 228,415 297,566 32,670
10 (456,004) (50,065) (128,902) (14,152)
22 1,624,471 178,351 168,664 18,518
12 31
2014 2013
1,624,471 178,351 168,664 18,518
8 90,173 9,900 (70, 358) (7,725)
17 (18,035) (1,980) 8,712 956
1,696,609 186,271 107,018 11,750
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©)
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
11 12,216 1,341 14,339 1,574
12 1,660 182 1,198 132
13,876 1,523 15,537 1,706
13 667,823,041 73,320,292 489,841,270 53,779,673
13 24,404,391 2,679,358 26,263,531 2,883,473
14 219,233,902 24,069,690 225,854,255 24,796,539
15 77,642,208 8,524,338 70,211,487 7,708,519
26 3,586,142 393,723 4,032,081 442,682
992,689,684 108,987,400 816,202,624 89,610,886
13 (641,404,313) (70,419,780)  (457,164,133) (50,192,050)
16 (157,368, 695) (17,277,509)  (190,210,848) (20,883,249)
18 (155,474,005) (17,069,491)  (133,349,677) (14,640,461)
(954,247,013) (104,766,780)  (780,724,658) (85,715,760)
38,442,671 4,220,621 35,477,966 3,895,126
38,456,547 4,222,144 35,493,503 3,896,832
19 (16,700,042) (1,833,498)  (15,331,681) (1,683,265)
20 (16,792) (1,844) (17,740) (1,948)
21,739,713 2,386,803 20,144,082 2,211,619
8,22 257,367 28,256 156,389 17,170
21,997,080 2,415,059 20,300,471 2,228,789
21,22 533,447 58,567 533,447 58,567
22 2,862,936 314,322 2,862,936 314,322
( 22 17,286 1,898 17,286 1,898
22 18,583,411 2,040,273 16,886,802 1,854,002
22 21,997,080 2,415,059 20,300,471 2,228,789
2015 25

195/296

R.A.



*

)/

)/

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OooooOodd
12 31
2014 2013
24 87,369 9,592 4,278,692 469,758
(165,607) (18,182) (473,081) (51,940)
(165,607) (18,182) (473,081) (51,940)
14,481 1,590 1,575 173
(168,945) (18,548) (120, 280) (13,206)
(154,464) (16,959) (118,705) (13,033)
(2,059) (226) (1,669) (183)
(2,059) (226) (1,669) (183)
— — (296,162) (32,516)
_ — 566,418 62,187
— — 270,256 29,671
Y (234,761) (25,774) 3,955,493 434,274
— — 1,950,000 214,001
— —  (5,000,000) (548,950)
— —  (3,050,000) (334,860)
25,26 (234,761) (25,774) 905,493 99,414
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( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
1,379,681 1,007,931
3,762,428 3,715,380
1 266,853 14,740
1 489,640 328,637
5,898,602 5,156,688
GS 2013 150
( )
( )
)
415 (2013 106 ) 55 (2013 51
25 (2013 26 ) 21 (2013 25
22 (2013 147 )
852 (2013 959 )
2014 657 (2013 596 )

489 (2013 84 )
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oooooog
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
3,042,037 3,800,742
100,007 95,769
84,812 80,845
3,660 3,394
180,472 166,665
119,833 110,136
93,649 280,964
3,624,470 4,538,515
87 (2013 84 )
5.3 (2013
0.6 (2013
522
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
222,124 305,837
( 19a )
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
5,856 4,737
7 7
5,863 4,744
1,930 1,400
3 3
8 7
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2006
(
SI )2008 /410
(
)
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31

696 674

1,400 1,388

111 98

534 503

2,503 2,479

5,244 5,142

338 320

5,582 5,462

2014 12 31 5,730 (2013 5,555 )
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31

2,621,155 3,331,710

314,384 373,016

60,753 55,587

45,745 40,429

3,042,037 3,800,742

83 (2013 10 )
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( )
2008
2014
2016 31
2012 12 31 2014 12 31
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
) (@)
3.80 4.50
4.00 4.00
(1996 11 30 ) 3.10 3.40
(1996 11 30 ) 2.30 2.60
3.30 3.60
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
(@) ( ) ) ( )
6.8 991.6 7.1 969.1
2.5 707.3 4.0 404.9
2.7 118.1 2.9 134.7
1,817.0 1,508.7
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31 2012 12 31 2011 12 31 2010 12 31
1,817.0 1,508.7 1,266.6 1,059.6 1,053.6
1,559.6 1,352.3 1,054.1 927.4 889.6
257.4 156.4 212.5 132.2 164.0
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( )

2014 12 31 2013 12 31

45.7 40.4

45.7 40.4

60.2 49.6

(88.7) (71.1)

(28.5) (21.5)

17.2 18.9

297.8 111.1

19.1 11.0

) (226.7) (192.5)

/C ) 90.2 (70.4)

2014 12 31 2013 12 31 2012 12 31 2011 12 31 2010 12 31
297.8 111.1 57.2 (101.1) 14.0
16.4 7.4 4.5 9.5 1.3
19.1 11.0 17.5 28.5 48.6
1.2 0.8 1.7 3.1 5.5
90.2 (70.4) 60.4 (51.9) 88.2
5.8 5.2 5.7 5.6 9.9
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( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
1,508.7 1,266.6
88.7 71.1
297.8 111.1
43.6 32.3
9.4) 9-2)
'Y (112.4) 36.8
1,817.0 1,508.7
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
1,352.3 1,054.1
45.7 40.4
60.2 49.6
226.7 192.5
(19.1) (11.0)
9.4) 9-2)
'Y (96.8) 35.9
1,559.6 1,352.3
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
156.4 212.5
43.6 32.3
(45.7) (40.4)
28.5 21.5
90.2 (70.4)
)/ (15.6) 0.9
257.4 156.4
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( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
11.4 11.8
40.9 41.9
88.7 71.1
297.8 111.1
386.5 182.2
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
(11.1) (101.3)
2.2 20.2
(8.9) (81.1)
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( RSU )
2013 ( 2013  SIP
)
GSI )
529 2014 (2013 525 )
2013 SIP GSI RSU
RSU RSU
RSU
RSU
( RSU )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31

4,237,913 2,214,358 5,000,853 2,533,081

2,267,175 1,307,601 2,949,686 1,741,276
(77,373) (288,394) (35,652) (219,059)

(3,817,768) — (5,505, 642) —
/C ) 18,953 28,640 7,171 (19,443)
1,463,485 (1,463,485) 1,821,497 (1,821,497)

4,092,385 1,798,720 4,237,913 2,214,358
2014 RSU 153.80 (2013 126.38 )

2014 12 31 2013 12 31 RSU
12.5 11.6
2015 RSU3.7
0.8 RSU
2020

213/296



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OooooOodd
2010 10
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
(G ) ( )
10,214,739 90.53 10,256,821 90.55
(5,712,248) 78.94 (41,542) 96.08
_ — (540) 96.08
4,502,491 105.23 10,214,739 90.53
4,502,491 105.23 10,214,739 90.53
169.82 (2013  153.08
)
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
75.00 89.99 3,383,700 4.00 9,078,709 5.00
90.00 119.99 — — — —
120.00 134.99 271,481 0.92 288,720 1.92
135.00 194.99 — — — —
195.00 209.99 847,310 2.51 847,310 3.51
4,502,491 10,214,739
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10
a.
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
243,315 151,241
39,264 2,275
61,980 59,153
( 100 ) 344,559 212,669
104,801 (117,580)
— 38,317
6,644 (4,504)
« 17 ) 111,445 (83,767)
456,004 128,902
b.
21.5
(2013 23.25 )
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
2,080,475 297,566
21.5 (013 23.25 ) 447,302 69,184
(93,503) 178,608
(6,534) (1,831)
3,064 (10,529)
(23,798) (29,230)
2,501 30,764
(29,101) (30,018)
11,894 4,441
(6,530) (995)
39,264 2,275
344,559 212,669

215/296



11

2014

2014 12

2014

2014 12

2014 12
2013 12
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2014 12

2014

2014 12

2014 12
2013 12

31

31
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31
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31
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)
25,000 7,921 32,921
361 1,698 2,059
(776) an (793)
24,585 9,602 34,187
14,211 4,371 18,582
2,692 968 3,660
(254) an @71)
16,649 5,322 21,971
7,936 4,280 12,216
10,789 3,550 14,339
)
— 1,267 1,267
_ 462 462
— 1,729 1,729
— 69 69
— 69 69
— 1,660 1,660
— 1,198 1,198
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(@)
(
) 100 250
80 100 * *
*
2014
2014 29
UK ( GSGUK )
( )
595 (296 ) 12 (569 )
GSGUK 191
36 2014 191

GSGUK
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( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
1,225,282 3,391,803
16,920,118 20,892,333
1,998,385 2,170,894
1,693,905 556,233
12,217,297 11,440,795
30,675,005 34,740,279
64,729,992 73,192,337
367,155,116 236,325,613
64,636,465 76,662,753
112,717,413 57,229,166
15,964,183 5,446,429
67,024,263 67,248,503
627,497,440 442,912,464
692,227,432 516,104,801
667,823,041 489,841,270
24,404,391 26,263,531
692,227,432 516,104,801
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( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
10,735,033 10,325,775
2,279,658 2,663,618
14,626,885 13,775,194
27,641,576 26,764,587
359,427,770 231,757,981
59,747,636 70,760,557
113,264,254 57,063,641
15,892,208 5,403,872
65,430,869 65,413,495
613,762,737 430,399,546
641,404,313 457,164,133
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( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
131,734,812 136,100,718
87,499,090 89,753,537
219,233,902 225,854,255
)
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
63,403,728 54,460,372
13,710,892 15,025,954
453,676 583,535
34,529 44,250
39,383 22,221
— 75,155
77,642,208 70,211,487
500 (2013 701
981 (2013 180 )
( )
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
62,395,909 104,989,680
94,972,786 85,221,168
157,368,695 190,210,848
)



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Ogoooood
17
(
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
« 15 )
3,036 2,960
(51,473) (31,278)
502,113 611,853
453,676 583,535
(
2014 583,535
(¢ 10a ) (111,445)
(18,035)
(379)
2014 12 31 453,676
18
(
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
110,509 42,560
( 26) 8,637 28,245
( ) 15,544,508 18,960,736
67,073,244 58,457,370
49,463,853 37,856,952
20,992,555 15,273,841
( 19 ) 1,076,675 1,523,525
78,033 —
250,466 234,419
875,525 972,029
155,474,005 133,349,677
1,551 (2013 1,331 ) 328 (2013
234 )
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2014 12 31

a. 2014 12 31

65

2013 12 31

2013 12 31

(2013

PRA

65
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( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
3,807,021 3,819,734
9,135,409 8,417,081
671,961 437,242
1,930,117 6,286,679
15,544,508 18,960,736
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
6,458,000 6,458,000
6,386,954 4,205,847
2,702,345 3,549,630
378,547 —
774,196 1,118,204
16,700,042 15,331,681
( PRA
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
471,317 101,325
3,076,081 2,054,357
1,189,828 545,494
1,649,728 1,504,671
6,386,954 4,205,847




20

2014
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( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
1,636,681 967,877
3,058,997 1,990,917
1,691,276 1,247,053
6,386,954 4,205,847
2020 2040
2014 12 31
400 (2013 400 )
2022
( )
17,740
10,000
(10,000)
(948)
16,792
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2014 12 31 2013 12 31
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
) ( ) ) ( )
533,447,150 533,447 533,447,150 533,447
533,447 533,447
22
( )
( )
2013 533,447 2,862,936 17,286 16,779,784 20,193,453
— — — 168,664 168,664
— — — (61,646) (61,646)
( ) — — — 524,935 524,935
— — — (524,935) (524,935)
2014 533,447 2,862,936 17,286 16,886,802 20,300,471
— — — 1,624,471 1,624,471
— — — 72,138 72,138
( ) — — — 528,918 528,918
— — — (528,918) (528,918)
2014 12 31 533,447 2,862,936 17,286 18,583,411 21,997,080
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
18,326,044 16,730,413
( ) 257,367 156,389
18,583,411 16,886,802
23
(2013 )
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( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
2,274,132 618,173
3,660 3,394
522 —
— 2,133
2,139 8,148
207,606 (189,192)
(7,657,549) (7,169,552)
21,993,697 (4,181,309)
1,368,361 3,413,093
(948) 2,435
6,620,353 (4,326,700)
(32,842,153) 8,733,465
(176,122,631) 70,374,922
184,240,180 (63,010,318)
87,369 4,278,692
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
4,003,836 12,777,368
(234,761) 905,493
— (9,867,224)
(191,570) 188,199
3,577,505 4,003,836
(6,458,000) (9,508, 000)
— 3,050,000
(6,458,000) (6,458,000)
(2,880,495) (2,454,164)
FCA CASS
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25
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( )
2013 12 31 2014 12 31
4,032,081 (254, 369) (191,570) 3,586,142
(28,245) 19,608 — (8,637)
4,003,836 (234,761) (191,570) 3,577,505
(6,458,000) — — (6,458,000)
(6,458,000) — — (6,458,000)
(2,454,164) (234,761) (191,570) (2.880,495)
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
34,571,820 39,828,253
14,760,347 20,820,153
4,000,528 2,739,920
53,332,695 63,388,326
)
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
107 909
1,497 221
6,957 1,274
90,252 101,824
98,813 104,228

226/296



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

.2011
GSI
2013
GSI
CDo
(
( ) IKB
AG )
( )
.GSI 2014 21
GSI
10
2014 GSI 2014 10
2014 12
.GSI 2014 23

.GSI 2014 11 25
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( )
2014 12 31

667,823 — — — 667,823
24,404 — — — 24,404
— 174,527 44,707 — 219,234

— 1,780 75,362 — 77,142

— — 3,586 — 3,586
692,227 176,307 123,655 — 992,189
641,404 — — — 641,404
— 103,492 — 53,877 157,369

— 16,149 — 138,997 155,146

— 5,899 — 10,801 16,700
641,404 125,540 — 203,675 970,619

( )
2013 12 31

489,841 — — — 489,841
26,264 — — — 26,264
— 173,448 52,406 — 225,854

— 1,087 68,424 — 69,511

— — 4,032 — 4,032
516,105 174,535 124,862 — 815,502
457,164 — — — 457,164
— 134,795 — 55,416 190,211

— 18,946 — 114,170 133,116

— 3,181 — 12,151 15,332
457,164 156,922 — 181,737 795,823
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( )
2014 12 31
38,836 638,233 15,158 692,227
— 174,527 — 174,527
— 1,780 — 1,780
38,836 814,540 15,158 868,534
22,785 608,536 10,083 641,404
— 103,368 124 103,492
— 13,412 2,737 16,149
— 5,056 843 5,899
22,785 730,372 13,787 766,944
( )
2013 12 31
45,123 457,568 13,414 516,105
— 173,448 — 173,448
— 907 180 1,087
45,123 631,923 13,594 690,640
22,580 425,390 9,194 457,164
— 133,785 1,010 134,795
— 16,765 2,181 18,946
— 2,694 487 3,181
22,580 578,634 12,872 614,086

2014 2013
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( )
2014 13,414 180 13,594
4,423 — 4,423
2,028 — 2,028
(771) — (771)
(5,096) — (5,096)
2,759 — 2,759
(1,599) (180) (1,779)
2014 12 31 15,158 — 15,158
( )
2014 9,194 1,010 2,668 12,872
2,336 — (132) 2,204
®) — 2 (€)]
982 — 2,954 3,936
(3,180) (886) (1,773) (5,839)
2,293 — 447 2,740
(1,537) — (586) (2,123)
2014 12 31 10,083 124 3,580 13,787
2014 28 27
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2014 18 21
)
2013 16,075 166 16,241
996 14 1,010
1,601 — 1,601
(1,307) — (1,307)
(4,482) — (4,482)
2,463 — 2,463
(1,932) — (1,932)
2013 12 31 13,414 180 13,594
)
2013 9,915 1,927 2,390 14,232
1,272 — 99 1,371
®) — €©) 11
581 — 1,694 2,275
(3,136) 917) (1,540) (5,593)
1,937 — 315 2,252
(1,367) — (287) (1,654)
2013 12 31 9,194 1,010 2,668 12,872
2013 25 23
2013 19 17

231/296



12 31

(2013

179

1,696

)

(2013

EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OooooOodd
2014 12 31
113 ) 146 (2013 127
( )
( )
( )
2014 2013
80 104
118 44
(62) (68)
136 80
1,237 (2013 1,249 ) 1,929
108 (2013 122 )
) (
/
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( )
2014 12 31
/

641,404 — — — — — 641,404
74,056 63,446 7,071 10,282 2,418 96 157,369
91,919 13,196 439 50,068 — — 155,622

— 2 4 26 9,110 8,675 17,817
807,379 76,644 7,514 60,376 11,528 8,771 972,212
— 34,572 — — — — 34,572

— 8 16 74 385 80 563
4,001 — — — — — 4,001
4,001 34,580 16 74 385 80 39,136
811,380 111,224 7,530 60,450 11,913 8,851 1,011,348

( )
2013 12 31
/

457,164 — — — — — 457,164
84,331 71,878 13,645 17,708 1,000 1,649 190,211
75,934 14,126 2,331 41,173 — — 133,564

— 2 4 28 7,770 8,719 16,523
617,429 86,006 15,980 58,909 8,770 10,368 797,462
— 39,828 — — — — 39,828

— 9 17 78 409 184 697
2,740 — — — — — 2,740
2,740 39,837 17 78 409 184 43,265
620,169 125,843 15,997 58,987 9,179 10,552 840,727
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( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
369,545 342,641
294,994 279,698
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
24,404 26,264
17,656 22,360
575 (2013 458 )

355 (2013 286 )
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FRS 26 (IAS 39 )
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31

1,047 1,940
11,095 10,518
— 95
6,248 7,326
23,670 28,745
42,060 48,624

( )
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2014 12 31 2013 12 31
120 1,308 62 1,395
64 64 142 142
@ 92) (D) (235)
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
C ) C ) C ) C )
66 144 2 78
27 119 63 92
2 (31) 5) (33)
— @ — @
( LIBOR )
( )

80 125
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ooooooo
/C )
( )
2014 12 31 2013 12 31
84,870 (20,367)
(79,931) 18,119
4,939 (2,248)
2014 12 31
188 10 (2013 113 40 )
30
EU GSGUK GSGUK 2014
www .goldmansachs.com/disclosures/
2013 ( ) GSGUK
GSGUK 2014 2015 12 31 www .goldmansachs.com/disclosures/
31
UK
UK EC4A 2BB 133
UK
(
10-Q 10-K ) GS
GS 10282

200 www . goldmansachs.com/shareholders/
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL

(unlimited company)
E{- Il]gggﬂ mg gl é] |Em - nhg "‘I.'I!-i
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
MNote LIS5" (M0l LSS (i
Met revenue 3 5898602 5. 156,688
Adminizsiralive expenses +4 (3624470 (4,538.515)
OPERATING PROFIT 2274132 618,173
Loss on sale of subsidiary undertaking 12 - (36,238
Imterest payable and similar charges 5 (222,124) (305,837)
Met finance income 8 28467 21 468
FROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE
TAXATION 2080475 297 566
Tax on prafit on ordinary activities 10 (4 56,004 ) (128902
FROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER
TAXATION AND FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 22 1,624,471 168,664

Met revenue and operating profit of the company are derived from continuing operations in the current and prior years,

Tor the year ended 31 Decemnber 2014
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Mote LISE 0l LTSS (Wi
Profit fior the financial year 1.624.471 168,664
Actuarial gaim / (loss) relating Lo the pension scheme 2 90173 (T0,358)
UK. deferred tax attributable to the actuarial gain [/ (loss) 17 (18,035) 2712
TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES

RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND

SINCE LAST FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1,626,609 107,018

The notes on pages &4 to 103 form an mtegral part of these fmancial statements.
Independent auditors” repont — pages 39 1o &0,

L]
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL

(unlimited company)
At 3 i 4
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Note LSS MMy LSS 0010
FIXED ASSETS
Tangible azzelz i1 12,216 14,339
Investments 12 1,660 1,198
13,876 15537
CURRENT ASSETS
Financial instruments cwed 13 67,523,041 480,841,270
Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral 13 24,404,391 26,263,531
Collateralised agresments 14 219,233 02 225 854 255
Debtors 15 77,642, 008 TO.211,487
Cagh at bank and n hand 26 3,586,142 4,032,081
G0 GRG 684 816202624
CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
Financial irstruments sold, but not vel purchazed i3 (641 404.313) (457,164,133)
Collateralised financing 16 (157,368,695) (190,210, 848)
Other creditors 18 (155,474,005 (133,349.67T)
(954.247.013) (720,724,658
NET CURRENT ASSETS 38,442,671 35477966
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ABAS6 7 35493 503
CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN
ONE YEAR 19 (16, 7T00,042) (15,331,681)
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES 20 (16,793 (17,7400
NET ASSETS EXCLUDING PENSION SURPLUS 21,739,713 20,144,082
Pension surplus B 22 157,367 156389
NET ASSETSINCLUDING PENSION SURPLUS 21,997 (80 20300471
CAFITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 2,22 533447 533447
Share pranium accourd 22 2862, 936 2H62 036
Capital reserve (non-distributable) 22 17,286 17,286
Frofit and loss account 2 18583411 16,886,802
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S FUNDS 22 21,997,080 20,300,471

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2015 and signed on its behalf by

Ci. Vi
E. A Vince
Director

The notes on pages &4 to 103 form an mtegral par of these fmancial statements.
Independent auditors” report — pages 59 1o 60,
Company nunber: 02263951
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL

(unlimited company)
W
[} miber 2004
Year Ended Year Ended
3 December 2004 31 December 2013
MNote US55 (i USS 000
NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES .l 7,360 4,278,692
RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF
FINANCE
Interest paid (165,607 (473,081)
(165,607T) (473,081)
TANATION (PAID) ' RECEIVED
Taxation received 14,451 1575
Taxation paid (168,545) 120, 2840)
(154,464) (118,705
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL
INVESTMENTS
Pavments to acquire tangible fixed asscts {2,058 (1,665
(2,059 {1,669)
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
Acquisition of units in subsidiary undertaking (256,162
Redemption of wnits in subsidiary undentaking Se6,418
- 170256
CASH (OUTLFOW) / INFLOW BEFORE USE OF
FINANCING (234,761) 3955403
FINANCING
Receipts from issuing long-term subordimated debt 1,550,000
Repayment of long-term subordmated debt (5,000, 000
: (3,050, 000)
(DECREASE) / INCREASE IN CASH 25, 26 (234,761) 905 493

The notes on pages &4 to 103 form an integral part of these fnancial statements.

Independent auditors” repont — pages 52 to G,

240/296
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
4.  Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concem basis, under the historical cost convention
(modified as explained in sogws 2 and Jm), and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable
accounting standards in the United Kingdom,  The principal accounting pobicies are set out below and have
bieen applied consistently throughoat the vear,

b. Consolidation

The company has elected not to prepare consolidated financial statements as permitted by section 402 of the
Companies At 2006 as its subsidiaries are not material for the pupose of giving a true and Bar view.

¢ Reveme recognition

et revenue has been disclosed instead of tumover as this more meaningfilly reflects the nature and results of
the company's activitics.  Net revenue, which is after charging related expenses, includes the net profit arising
from transactions in securities, foreign exchange and other financial instruments, and fees and commissions
eamed  Related expenses mchude trading initerest and dividends payable less trading interest and dwidends
receivable,

Financial asseis and Oonancial liabilities measured ai Gair value throu rofit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss are
recogmized at fair value with realized and unrealised gains and losses as well as associated interest and dividend
income and cxpenses included innetrevenue,  Financial assets are marked to bid prices and financial liabilities
are marked to offer prices.  Fair valee measurements do not mclude transaction c osts.

Invesiment Banking

Fees from financial advizory engagements and underwriting revenues are recognised in profit and loss when the
relevanl parties are contractually bound and & contract activity progresses unless the right o consideration does
not arise wntil the ocowrence of a critical event, in which case revenue is net recognised until that event has
oeurred.

Expenses associated with such engagements are deferred wntil the related revenue iz recognised or the
engapernent 15 otherwise concluded.  Expenses associsted with financial advisory engagements are recognised
in administrative expenses, net of client reimbursements,  Underwriting revenues are presested net of related
EXPESes.

Investment Management

Management fees are recogrised on an acorual basis and are generally calculated as 4 percentage of a fund of 4
separately managed account’s average net asset value and are recognised over the period that the related service
12 provided.

Incentive fees are caloulated as a percentage of a fund's retum or a percentage of a fund’s excess retim above a
specified benchmark or other performance target.  Incentive fees are recogmised only when all material
contingencies have been resolved

Conumissions and Fees

Revenwe from commissions and fees from executing and clearing client transactions on stock, options and
futures markets, as well as OTC ransactions is recognised in et revenue on the day the rade iz executed.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
d. Operating leases

The compary has entered into operating lease arrangements as the lessee,  Leased assets are not recognized on
the balance sheet. Costs in respect of operating leases, adjusted for any incentives granted by the lessor, are
charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term and mcluded within administrative expenses in the prafit and
lesz account,

e, Shori-term emplovee benefits

Short-term employves benefits, such as wages and salaries, are measured on an undiscounted basis and accred as
an expense over the period in which the employee renders the service to the compaury,  Provision is made for
discretionary vear end compensation whether to be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a result of
commpany policy and past practice, a constructive obligation exist= at the balance sheet date.

I.  Share-based paymenis

Groug Ing. issues awards in the form of restricted stock units (RSUS") and stock options 1o the compay s
enployees For services rendered to the company.  Awards are classified as equity settled and hence the cost of
share-based transactions with emplovess 5 messured based on the gramt-date fair value of the awand
Share-based awards that do not require future service (Le. vested awards, including awards granted to retirement
eligible employees) are expensed immediately. Share-based awards that require future service are amortised
over the relevant service periodd Expected forfeitures are included in determining share-based enployee
commpensation expense.

Group Inc. settles equity awards through the delivery of its ordinary shares.  Group Inc. pays cash dividend
couivalents on outstanding RSUs,  The company has also entered into a chargeback agreement with Group Inc,
unider which it i committed to pay to Group Ing, the grant-date fair valee as well as subsequent movements in
fair value of those awards to Group Inc. at the time of delivery to its employees,

¢  Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated mto ULS, dollars at rates of exchange niling on the
date the transaction occurred.  Manetary assets and liabilities demominated in foreign curencies are transiated
uibo LS. dollars at rates of exchange muling ol the balance sheel date.  Forelgn exchange gams and losses are
recognised in operating profit,

h.  Dividends

Final equity dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the company s shareholder.  Dnterim equity dividends are recognized and deducted from eguity
when paid.

I.  Penslon costs

The company 15 a sponsor of a defined contribwtion pension plan and a hvbnd pension plan for the benefit of
cerain employees. The hybrid pension plan las both a defined benefit section (‘the Plan’) and a defined
coptribution section.  These are accoamted for as follows:

*  Forthe defmed contribution pension plan and the defined contribution section of the hvbrid pension plan,
the contnbutions payvable for the year are charged to operating profit.  Differences between contributions
payable for the vear and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments on the
balance sheet.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

L ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)
i.  Pension cost {continued)

+  For the Plan, the amounts charged to operating profit are the cumrent service costs, anmy past service costs
and ary gains or losses on zettlements and curtailments.  They are included a2 part of stafl costs. The
interest cost and expected refum on assels are shown as a net amount within et finance income,  Actuarial
gaing and loszes are recogrized immediately in the satement of total recognized gains and losses, The
Plan is funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the company, In separate
trustee-administered fimds.  Plan assets are measured at fair value and Plan liabilities are measured on an
actuarial basis using the projected unit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the cument rate of
retum on a high-quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the scheme liabilities.  Full
actuarial valuations are obtained at beast tnienmially and updated at each balance sheet date.  Any surplhss or
deficit of Plan assets over Plan liabilities 15 recognised on the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or liabiliey
{deficit).

jo  Tangible lxed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for amy impairment,
Depreciation is included in administrative expenses and is provided on a straight-line basis over the following
estimated useful lives:

Years
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 3.7

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the usefu] economic life of the asset or the
rermaining life of the leaze when the asset is brought intousze.  Depreciation policies are reviewed on an ansiual
basis,

k. Fixed asset investments

Ficed assed investrments are stated al cost or amorlised cost, as applicable, less provision For any impainment.
Amertisation i5 included in administrative cxpenses.

I Cash at bank and in hand

Cazh at bank and m hand is highly liquid overnight depositz held in the ordinary course of business,
m. Financial instroments

I, Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.  The regular way purchase and sale of cash mventory B recognised and
derecognised using trade date accounting,

The company derecognises financial asscts when the contractual right to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire of if it transfers the financial azset and substantially all the risk and rewards of ewnership of that financial
asset. A financial hability 15 derecognised only when ot 1= extinguished (e, when the obligation specified m the
contract is discharged or cancelled or expires).
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L ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
m.  Financial instroments (continued)
. Classification and measurement

The company classifies its financial nstrurments into the below categories.  The classification depends on the
purpose for which the fnancial mstrenents were acquired or originated. The compary determines the
classification of its financial mstruments at initial recognition.

Financial instruments classified as held for trading inclede financial instruments owned and financial
instrurmnents sold, but not vet purchased,  This incledes derivative and cash mstruments,  Financial instruments
clazsified & held for trading are imtially recognised at fair value with transaction costs expensed in profit or loss,
Such financial instniments are carried in the balance sheet at fair value and all subsequent gains or losses are
recopnised i ndt revenue,  See v Er valiie peairerierits below for further informiation on the measuranent of
financial instruments classified as held for rading.

The directors are of the opimon that it would not be appropriate to classify them as currend assel investmenls or
to provide an analysis of such securities between those listed and unlisted,

Financdial instruments desi gnated ai Pair value ihroush profit or loss

The company designates certain of its other financial assets and financial liabilities at fair vatue through profit or
loss.  Fimancial instrumenis designated at fair value through profit or loss are mitially recognised at fair value
with transaction costs expensed in profit or loss,  Such financial instruments are carried in the balance sheet at
fair value and all subsequent gains or losses are recognised innet revenue.  The primary reasons for designating
such financial assets and fimancial habilities at fair value through profit o loss are:

*  The group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed and its performance evaluated on a
fair value basiz; and

*  Tocliminate or significantly reduce ameasurement of recognition mconsistency that would otherwise anise
from measuring azzelz or habilities or recognizmg the gaing and lesses on thermn on different bazes,

Hybirid fimancial instruments are instruments that contain bifircatable einbedded derivatives. I the company
elects to bifurcate the embedded derivative from the associsted debt, the derivative 1s accounted For 8t fair value
and the host contract is accounted for at amertised cost, adjusted for the effective portion of any fair value
hedges. I the company does not elect to bifurcate, the entire hvbrid Anancial instrument 15 desiznated at Gair
vahie through profit or loss.

Other financial assets and financial habilities designated at fair value through profit or less melude;
*  Resale and substantially all repurchase agrecments;
= Securities borrowed and loaned within Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities Client Execution;

= Substaptiallty all secured debt securities issued, which incledes cortain hybrid financial mstroments and
transfers of assets accounted for as financings rather than sales;

+  Certain unsecured debt securities issued, ncluding certain hybrid financial instruments; and

= Certain deblors, including transfers of assets accounted for as secured loans rather than purchases.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
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L ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
m.  Financial instroments (continued)

These financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value are generally valued based on discounted cash flow
techniques, which incorporate inputs with reasonable levels of price transparency, and are genecally classified as
level 2 becanse the inpuls are observable,  Valuation adjustments may be made for liquidity and for
counterparty and the GS Group's credit quality.

Loans and receivables; and linancial liabilities measured st amortised cost

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
queded inan active market.  They include centain collateralised agreements, substantially all debtors and cash at
bank and in hand.  Such financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method (see below).  Finance revenue is
recorded innet revenue

Fmnancial labilities measured at amortised cost include certain colbteralised financing and substantially all sther
creditors,  Such financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus transactions costs and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method (see below),  Finance costs, mcluding discounts
allowed on issue, are recorded innet revenue with the exception of interest on long-term subordinated loans,
which i recorded in interest payable and similar charges,

The effective interest methed is a method of caleulating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial
liabality (or a group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest
copense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate i= the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, s shorter
period to the net carrving amount of the financial asset or financial liability, When calculating the effective
uriberest rale, the company estimates cash flows considering all contractual terims of the financial instrument bt
docs not consider fiture credit losses,  The caloulation includes all fees and points paid or received that are an
mnkbegral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiwms or discounts.

The compary assesses its loans and receivables at cach balance sheet date for any objective evidence of
umgairmnent.  1f there 15 objective evidence that an impaimment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss s
measimed a8 the difference between the financial asset’s camying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial assel’s original efTective interest rate.  The amount of the loss is
included within net reverue, if trading related, or in administrative expenses if non-trading related.

lii. Classification of financial liabilities and equity

Financial Habilitiez and equity instroments are clazzsified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements.  An equily investment is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the entity
after deducting all liabilities, Instruments are evaluated to determine if they contain both liability and equity
components,  The initial caryving amount of a comgound Bnancial instrumeent is allocated first to the Lakility
componerd, measured at fair valee, and the equity i assigned the residual amount.

Iv. Offsetting Mnancial assets and Anancial labilities

Financial azzets and financial liabilities are offzet and the net amount presented in the balance heet where there
157

+  Currently a legally enforceable right to set offthe recognised amounts; and
= Intent to settle onoa nel basis or o realize the azeet and settle the hability simultaneously.

Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and financial habilities are presented on a gross basis on the
balance sheet,

68

245/296



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
m.  Financial instroments (continued)
v, Fair vahve measurements

The far vahie of a financial instrument 1= the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to tramsfer a
liability in an orderly tramsaction between market participants at the measurement date, ie. the exit price
Fmancial assets are marked to bid prices and financial labiliies are marked to offer prices.  Fair value
measurements do not mclude transaction costs,  Fair value gains or losses are included in net revenwe,  Certain
financial assets and financial liabilitics are measured as a portfolio (Le. based on its net exposure to market and /
or credit risksh

The best evidence of fair value i a quoted price in an active market.  1f quoted prices in active markets are not
available, fagr value 1= determined by reference to prices for similar instruments, quoted prices or recent
transactions i less active markets, or intemnally developed models that primarily wse market-based or
independently sourced parameters 2 inputs inchiding, but not limited to, mterest rates, volatilities, equity or
deb prices, foreign exchange rates, commodities prices, credil spreads and fimding spreads (Le. the spread, or
difference, between the interest rate at which a borrower could finance a given financial instrument relative to a
benchimark inberest rate).

UK. GAAP haz a three-level fair value hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements.  The fair vahie
herarchy prionitises inputs to the valuation techniques used to measure fair value, giving the highest prionty to
level 1 anputz and the [owest priovity (o level 3 inputz. A fmancial instrement*s level inthe fair valoe hierarcly
15 based on the lowest level of mput that 15 sigmficant to its fair value measurement.  The far vabue herarchy 15
a3 follows:

Level 1. Inputs are unadjusted queted prices in active markets to which the company had access at the
measurerment date foe identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.

Level 2, Inpusts to valuation techmiques are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3. One oF more inputs 1o valuation techimgues ae significant and unobeervable.

Certain level 2 and level 3 financial assetz and financial liabilities may require appropriate valuation sdjustments
that a market participant would require Lo armive at far value for factors such a5 counterparty and GS Group®s
credit quality, funding risk, transfier restrictions, illiquidity and bid 7 offer spreads.  Valuation adjustments are
generally based on market evidence.

Cash instruments

Cash instrumesnls include govermment and ageney obligations, bank loans and bridge loamns, comporate debt
securitics, equitics and convertible debentures, and other non-derivative financial instruments owned and
financial instruments sold, but not vet purchased.  Valuation techniques and significant inputs for each level off
the fair value hierarchy include:

*  Level 1 cash instrumenis that are valued nsmg quoted prices for identical unrestricted instnuments in active
markets,

*  Level 2 cash instruments that are valued by verifying to quoted prices, recent trading activity for identical
or gimilar instruments, broker or dealer quotalions or altermnative pricing sources with reasonable levels of
price transparency.  Consideration is given to the nature of the quotations (e.g. indicative or firm) and the
relaticnship of recent market activity to the prices provided from alermative pricing sources.
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L ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
m.  Financial instroments (continued)

Valuation adjustment= are typically made to level 2 cash instrument= (i) if' the cash instrument is subject to
transfer restrictions and £ or (i) For other premiums and liquidity discounts that a market participant would
require to arive at fair value.  Valuation adjustrments are generally based on market evidence.

*  Level 3 cash instruments that have one or more significant valuation inputs that are not observable.
Absent evidence to the contrary, level 3 cash instruments are mitially valwed at transaction price, which is
considdered to be the best imitial estimate of fairr value  Subsequently, the compamy uses other
methodologies 1o determine fair value, which vary based on the type of instrument,  Valuation inpats and
assumplions are clinnged when corobormted by substantive observable evidence, ineluding values realised
on sales of financial assets,

Drerivatives

Derivatives may be traded on an exchange (“exchange-traded ") or they may be privately negotiated contracts,
which are usually referred o as OTC derivatives.  Certain of the company’s OTC derivatives are cleared and
settled through central clearing counterparties (COTC-cleared ™), while others are bilateral contracts between two
coumterparties (‘bilateral OTC). Valuation techniques and significant inputs for each level of the fair value
hierarchy include:

= Level 1 derivatives mclude shori-tenm contracts for future delivery of securities when the underlying
security 15 a level 1 instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively traded and are valued
at their quoted market price.

+  Level 2 derivatives include OTC derivatives for which all significant valuation inputs are corroborated by
market evidence and exchangeraded derivatives that are not actively traded and / or that are vahied using
mindels that calibrate to market-clearing levels of OTC derivatives.  In evaluating the significance of a
vahsation input, the company considers, among other factors, a portfolio”s net risk exposure (o that mput.

The selection of a particular model to value an OTC derivative depends on the contractual tesmz of and
specific risks inherent in the instrument, as well as the availability of pricing information in the market.
For derivatives that trade in liguid markets, model selection does not involve significant management
Judgemnent because outpuls of models can be calibrated to market-clearing levels.

Valuation models require a variety of inputs, such as contraciual tenms, market prices, vield curves,
discount rates {inclusding those derived from interest rates on collateral received and posted as specified in
credit support agrecments for collateralised derivatives), credit curves, measures of volatility, prepayment
rates, loss severity rates and comrelations of such mputs.  Significant inputs to the valuations of level 2
derivatives can be verified to market transactions, broker or dealer quotations or other alternative pricing
sources with reasonable levels of price transparency. Consideration 15 given to the nature of the
quedations (e.g indicative or fimm)y and the relationship of recent market activity to the prices provided from
altermative pricing sources.

= Level 3 denvatives are valued using models which utilise observable level 1 and / or level 2 mputs, as well
a5 uncbservable level 3 mputs.  Unobservable imputs include certan comrelations as well as credit spreads,
equity velatility inputz, commodity prices and commaodity volatilities,

Subsequent to the initial valuation of a level 3 derivative, the compary updates the level 1 and level 2 inputs to
reflect observable market changes and any resulting gams and losses are recorded in level 3. Level 3 inputs are
changed when comeborated by evidence such as similar market transactions, third-party pricing services and / or
broker or dealer quotations or other empinical market data,  In circumstances where the companmy cannot verify
the model value by reference to market transactions, it s possible that a different valuation model could produce
a materially different estimate of fair vahe,
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L ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
m.  Financial instroments (continued)

Where there is a difference between the initial transaction price and the fair value calculated by internal models,
a gmin or oz 1& recognised afler initial recognition only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor
(mcluding time) that market participants would consider i sefting a price.

i, Hedge accounting

The company applics hedge accounting for certam interest rate swaps used to manage the interest rate exposure
of certain fixed-rate unsecured long-term and short-tenm borrowings,  To qualify for hedge accounting, the
denvative hedge must be highly effective at reducing the risk from the exposure bemg hedeed.  Additionally,
the company must formally decument the hedging relationship at inception and test the hedging relationship to
enzure the derivative hedge continues to be highly effective over the life of the hedging relationship,

n Collateralised agreements and financing

Collateralised agreements are resale agreements and securities borrowed,  Collateralized financing are
repurchase agreements mmd securilies loaned.  Befer to m. financial instruments, above, for further informstion
on the classification and measurement of these financial instruments,  Collateral received or posted can be in
the form of cash or securities.  Cash collateral is recognised | derecognised when received / paid  Collateral
posted by the company in the form of securities is not derecognised from the balance sheet, whilst collateral
received in the form of securities is not recognised on the balance sheet. I collateral received is subsequently
sold, the obligation to retum the collateral and the cash received are recognised on balance sheet.

o Current and deferred taxation

The tax expense for the peried comprises cumrent and deferred taxation.  Tax is recognised m the profit and loss
account, except to the extent it relates to items recognised in the staternent of total recognised gains and losses.

Current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in
the countries where the company operates and generates laxable income.

Deferred tax iz recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated, but not reversed at the
balance sheet date, where transactions or events have ocoured at that date that will result in an obligation to pay
more tax or a right to pay less tax i the future with the following exceptions;

+  Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the directors consider that it is more likely than
mol thal there wall be suitable taxable profits from which the futire reversal of the underlyving tming
differences can be deducted.

*  Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods
in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and faws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balunce sheet date.

Deferred tax 15 recognised m the profit and loss account or directly in the statement of total recogmised gains and
loszes according to where the associated gain or loss, to which the deferred tax is attributable, is recognised.
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L

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
p. Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised m the financial statements when it is probable that an owtflow of economic benefits
will be required to ettle a present (legal or constructive) obligation, which has arisen as a result of past events,
and for which a reliable estirmate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Legal obligations that may anse

a8 4 resull of proposed new laws are recognised a2 obligations only when the Iegislét'mn ig virtually certain (o be
enacted as drafted.

Contingent liabilities are:

= Possible obligations that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occumence,
or nen-occurmence, of one o more uncertain fiutire events outside the control of the company; or

+  Present obligations that have arisen from past events but which are not recognised because either an
otitflow of ecomomic bemnefits iz not probable or the amounm of the obligations canmot be reliab by measured

Comtingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements.  However, disclosure is made unless the
probability of settlement 15 remole,

REPORTING AND DISC LOSURE EXEMPTIONS
4. FRSS ‘Related Party Disclosures'

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Group Ing, whose consolidated financial statements include the
company and are publicly available.  As a result, under the terms of paragraph 3(c) of FRSS, ‘Related Party
Disclesures”, the company is exemnpl from disclosing franzactions with companies akko wholly owned within
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.

NET REVENUE

The company’s net revenue is categorized into the following business segments;

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

LSS (Wi LSS (Wi
Investment Banking 1,370 681 1,047,931
Institutional Client Services 3762428 3,715,380
Investing % Lending' 266,853 14,740
Investment Management' 480,640 328637
5808 602 5,156,658

1 Thecompany hasreclamsified IF55150 mullion of net reveanee for 20173 from Iiwesting & Landmg to Inv egtment Managerment atsocuted with
prondeg nvetng savices bo furds managed by O3 Oroup.  Thens 1= no srpact o tobal net revenie

In addition to transactions entered into with third parties, the company also enters into transactions with affiliates in
the noarial course of business as part of market-making activities and general operations.  Revenues are allocated to,
and received from, such affiliates for these transactions,

Net reverme in the above business segments includes mterest mcome and imterest expense on cash instnaments,
collateralised amangements, and other pozitions in relastion to the cash generated by, or funding requirements of, such
underlying positions with the exception of interest on long-term subordinated loans, which 1= presented in interest
pavable and similar charges (see mote 5 o the finaicial statements),
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NET REVENUE {continued)

Reter to ftem 5 (Renults of operations — Segmemnt reporting in Part 1 of this annueal repont for & description and
amaly sis of the company’s segments.

Met revenue includes net interedt income of USS415 million (2013: USS106 mulhon) and non-interest mcome of
US%5.5 billion (2013; US55.1 billion).

Met interest income ncludes interest meome of US$2.5 billion (201 3; US32.6 billion) and interest expense of USS2.1
billion (2003 USSL5 billion),  Of imterest income, USS22 million (2013 USS147 million) relates to parent and
group undertakings and of interest expense, USEE52 mllion (2013: USS059 million) relates to parent and group
undertakings,

Mon-interest income includes commissions and fees income of USS657 million for 2004 (2003 USS596 million),
which i included within the Institutional Client Services and Investment Management segments.  Nel revense in
Instiutional Chent Services mcludes net losses of USSA8% mullion (20013: USS84 millica) in relabon to the
compary *s financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value, The remaining net revenue within
Instiutional Client Services predominately relates to net gains from financial assets and financial habalities held for
trading.

Ceographical Analvsis

Due to the highly integrated nature of international financial markets, the directors consider that the company operates
in a single glebal market.  As a resull, no disclosure of segmental mfonmation relating 1o the geographical origin of
results has been provided.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
LSS 0 LSS (M)
Direct costs of employment {(see note 7) 342,037 3,800,742
Mark et development 100, 007 95,760
Commmmnications and technology 84,812 0,845
Depreciation of tangible fixed assels (see note 113 3 660 3304
Crocupancy {5ee node a) 180,472 166,665
Profeszional fees (see note b) 119,833 110,138
Other cxpenses (see note cb 93,640 280,964
3624470 4,538,515

. Ocoupancy expenses include opersting lease rentals for land and buildings of USS87 million (2013; US584
il lion )

b. Professional fees include fees payable of USSS.3 million (2013: USES.0 millian) to the company s auditors for
the audit of the compary 's annual accounts and fees payvable of USS006 million (201 3 US30.4 million) to the

company 's auditers for other services,

. Other expenses include miscellaneous taxes, charitable contributions, management fees charged by and to group
undertakings relaling to operational and administrative support, managemeni services received from and
provided to affiliates and losses on disposal of tangible fixed asscts of USS522 thowsand (200 3: USSnil).
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INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

LSS (0 LSS (i

Payvable to group undertakings 222124 83T

Interest payable and sirmilar charges payable to group indertakmgs arise on long-term subordinated loans (see nole
19a).

DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS

Year Ended Year Ended

3 December 2014 3 December 2013

LI5S (M LSS (i
Ageregate emoluments 5,856 4,737
Comparny pension comributions (o money purchase schemes T T
5863 4.744

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

LSS Wy LSS (Wb

Highest paid director:

Ageregate emoluments and benefits 1,930 1,400
Company pension comtributions to money purchase schemes 3 3
Accrued annual pension at end of year 8 T

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, directors’ emoluments above represail the proportion of total
emolments paid or pavable in respect of qualifving services only.  This total only includes the value of cash and
benefits in kind, and does not include the value of equity awards in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 5 of 51
2008 /410, Directors also receive emoluments for non-qualifving services which are not required to be disclosed,

Ome directer is a member of a defined contribution pension plan and one director is & member of the hybrid pension
plan (Gneluding the defined benefit section and defined contribition section),  Four directors, includimg the highest
paid director, have been granted Group Inc. shares in respect of lomg-term mcentive schemes during the year.  Two
directors, including the highest paid director, kave exercised aplions during the year,

STAFF COSTS
The average number of stafl {femployees includng directors, and consultants and temporary stafl) is analvsed below:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2014 3 December 2013
Number Number

Emplovees induding directors:
Investment Banking 696 674
Institutional Client Services 1,400 1,358
Investing & Lending 111 R
Investinent Managemeit 534 503
Support Functions 2,503 2470
£244 5142
Consultants and temporary stafl 338 320
5582 462
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
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STAFF COSTS (continued)

The company has the use of 3 number of individuals who are emploved by affiliated entities and seconded to the
company. These seconded individuals are meluded in the disclosure of headcount and related siaff costs.
Consultants and temporany staft costs are included in total direct costs of employment, below,  Total headcount as at
31 December 2004 was 5,730 (200 3: 5,555).

The emplovment costz incurred by the company, meluding thosze relating to directors, were:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
LSS 000 LI5S i)
Agpregate pross wages and salaries 2.621,155 3,331,710
Emplover’s National Insurance Comtributions 314,384 373,016
Pension costs, employer contributions to the:
Defined contribution plan and defined contribution section
of the hybrid pension plan 60,753 55,587
Defined benefit section of the hybrid pension plan 45,745 40,429
Total direct costs of ermployment 3042037 3,500,742

Total direct cots of emplovment include & charge of USSE3 million (2013: charge of USS 1.0 billioan) relating to the
mark-to-market of share-based compensation.

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS

The comgrany sponsors an open pension plan with a hyvbrid structure, having both a defined benefit section {"the Plan')
and a defined contribution section.  The Plan was closed to new entrants with effect from | April 2008 and was
replaced by a defined comtribution plan.  The Plan allows existing participants to continue to accrue benefits.  In
2014, the company nodified plan participants that it mtends 1o close the Plan io fidure benefit accruals after 31 March
2016,

A full actuarial valuation of the Plan was carried out by a qualified independent actuary as at 31 Decermber 2012 using
the projected unit funding method and updated 1o 31 Decemnber 2014,

The major fmvancial assumptions used by the actuary underlving the funding of the Plan which had the most significant
effect on the pension cost are set out below:

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

%o PET aHNITN % P DL

Discount rate 380 4.50

Rate of increase in salaries 4.00 4.00

Rate of increase in pensions in pavoment

(post-30 Novemnber 1996 accrual ) 310 340
Rate of increase in pensions in deferment

(post-30 November 1996 accrual) 230 2.60

Rate of price mflation 3.30 360

|
A
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PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

The xssets in the Plan attributable to the company and the expected rates of rehum were;

31 December 2014

31 December 2013

Expected Market Expected Market
rate of return value  rate of return value
Vs P LI USSm Yo Per @unim USSm
F,quil ics 6.8 WG 71 2691
Bonds 5 073 EX 4049
Cash and reinvested cash 7 1181 29 134.7
Total market value of assets 1,817.0 1,508,7
Development of the balance sheet:
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
204 2013 2inz 2011 2010
USEm USEm LUSEm USEm USSm
Market value of Plan assels 1.817.0 15087 1,.266.6 1.059.6 10536
Actuaril value of Plan liabilities 1,550.6 1.3523 1,0054.1 9274 06
Surplus in the Plan and pension
asset recognised in the balance
sheet before deferred taxation 2574 156.4 212.5 132.2 164.0

The defined benelit cost was Tormed of the following comp onents:

Analysis of amounts charged (o operating profit:
Current service cost
Total charged to operating profit

Analysis of the amount credited to net Minance income:

Interest on Plan liabilities

Expected retum on assets in the Plan
Total eredited to net finanece iIncome
Total charged to profit and loss before tax

Analysis of amounts recognised in the statement of Lotal

recognised gains and losses:
Actual less expected gan on asscls
Experience gain on liabilities
Loss on change in assumptions
{financial and demographic)

Total gain / (loss) recognised in the statement of total

recognised gaing and losses helore tax

Year Ended Year Ended
31 Decernber 2014 31 December 2013
USSm USSm
45.7 4.4
457 40,4
60,2 49.6
(88.7) (7L1)
(28.5) (21.5)
17.2 189
297.8 1111
151 110
(2267 (192.5)
90,2 (70.4)

76
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PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

History of experience gains and losses are as follows:

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2014 2013 2z 201 2010
Actual less expected gain /
{lossy on Plan asseis:
Amount (LIS Sm) 297.8 111.1 572 (101.1) 14.0
%% of Plan assels at end of
the vear 16.4% T4% 4.5% 2.5% 1.3%%
Experience gain on Plan
liakilities:
Armourt (LIS Smj 19.1 11.0 17.5 28.5 486
%o of Plan liabilites at encd
of the yvear 1.2%% 0. 8% 1.7% 3.1% 5.5%
Total actuarial gain/
{loss) recognieed in
staterment of total
recognised gains and
losses:
Amount (LISSm) 0.2 (Tk4) 0.4 (51.9) REZ
%o of Plan liabilitics at end
of the vear L8% 5.2% 5.7% 5.6% 0.9%%
Analysis of the moverment in Plan assets during the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
USEm USSm
Plan aszets at the start of the year 1.508.7 1,266.6
Expected retum on Plan aszels BR7 71.1
Actual bess expected gain on assets w078 111.1
Contributions paid — Emplover 436 323
Benefits paid (9.4 (2.2
Forelgn exchange (losses)’ gams on translation of Plan asscis (112.4) g
Plan assets af the end of the year LE17.0 1.508,7
Analysis of the movement in Plan liabilities during the year:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
USEm USSm
Plan liabilities at the start of the vear 1,352.3 1,054.1
Current service cost 43.7 4ihd
Interest on Plan habilitics 60,2 49.6
Lesz on change in assumphions 2367 1925
Experience gain on liabilities {19.1) (10,0
Benefits paid {0.4) (2
Foreign exchange (gaing) / losses on translation of Plan Labilities (96.8) 359
Plan Habilitles at the end of the vear LEEDG 1,352.3
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8.

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Analvsis of the movement in surplus in the Plan during the year:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 Decembier 2014 31 December 2013
LSSm U55m
Surplus m the Plan at the start of the year 156.4 2125
Confributions paid — Enmplover 436 23
Currenl service cost 457 (44
Met finance income 185 213
Actuarial gain / (loss) 20.2 (T4
Foreign exchange (losses) / gains on translation of surplus {15.6) 08
Surplus in the Plan at the end of the vear 2574 156.4
Additional disdosures:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
USSm USSm
Expected future benefit payments for the vear to
31 December 2005 / 31 December 2014 11.4 1.8
Expected contributions for the year to
31 December 2005 /31 December 2014 — Employer 409 41.9
Actual return on Plan assets during the year ended
31 Decemnber 2014 / 31 December 2013
Expected retum on Plan assets 887 711
Actual bess expected gain on assets 2978 111.1
Actual return on Plan asseis 3565 182.2

Cumulative amounts recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses since the adoption of

FRS517 Retirement Benefits:
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
USSm US5m
Actuartal loss relating to the pension scheme (11.1) {101.3)
LLE. deferred tax attributable to the actuarial losz 12 20,2
Net cumulative amount recognised in the statement of total
recognised gains and losses {85.9) (81.1)
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Stock incentive plan

Group Inc. sponsors a stock incentive plan. The Goldman Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (201 3)
("the 2013 S[P"), which provides for, amongst others, grants of restricted stock umits CRSUs") and mcentive stock

'D-IHEEI'IS.

G581 recorded share-based compensation in respect of the amortisation of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
US5529 million for 2004 (2003; USS525 million). The comesponding credit to equity has been transferred to
liabilities a= a result of the terms of the intercompanmy agreements with Group Inc.

Restricted stock units

Group Inc. grants KS5Us to GSI"s emplovees under the 200 3 31P, which are valued based on the ¢losing price of the
undertying shares on the date of grant after taking into account a liquidity dizcount for any applicable post-vesting
teansfer restrictions. RSUs generally vest and underlving share: of common stock deliver & outlined i the
applicable REU agrecments.  Employee RSU agreements generally provide that vesting is accelerated in certain
circumstances, such as on retirement, death, dizability and conflicted emplovment.  Delivery of the undertying shares
of common stock 15 conditioned on the grantees satisFring certain vesting and other requirements outlined i the award
agreements.  The table below presents the activity related to these R8Us,

31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Mo, of RS51s No. of RS
Mo Mature Future MNo future Future
service service service service
requirement  requirement requirement requirement
Cutstanding at the beginning of the year 4237913 2,214,358 5000853 2,533,081
Cranted 2267175 1,307,601 2,949,086 1,741,276
Forfeted {77,373) (Z88,3%4) [35,652) (219,059
Delivered (3,817,768 - (5.503,0642) -
Transtemed m / (out) 18953 28,640 7171 (192443)
Vested 1463485 {1,463 A85) 1,821,457 (1,821.497)
Outstanding at the end of the year 4,092,385 1,748, 720 4237013 2.214,358

The weighted average grant-date fair value of RSUs gramted during 2014 was USS153.80 (2013: USS126.38). The
fair value of the R8Us granted during the vear ended 31 December 2014 and the year ended 31 December 2013
includes a liguidity disceunt of 12.5% and 11.6%, respectively, to reflect post-vesting transfer restrictions of up to 4
VEArs.

In the first quarter of 2015, Group Inc. granted 3.7 mullion vear-end RSUs 1o the compamy 's employees, of which 0.8
million REUs require future service as a condition of delivery.  These awards are subject to additional conditions as
outlined in the award agreements. Generally, shares imderlying these awards, net of required withholding tax,
deliver over a three-year period but are subject to post-vesting transfer restrictions through January 2020, These
grants are noet inclisded i the above table,
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS {continued)

Stock options

Stock options granted to cmployees generally vest as outlined in the applicable stock option agreement. Mo oplions
have been granted since 2010, In general, optiong expire on the tenth anmversary of the grant date, although they
may be subject to carlier termination or cancellation under certain circumstances in accordance with the terms of the

applicable gtock option agreement and The Goldman Sachs Amended and Restated Steck Incentive Plan in effiect at

the time of grant. - The table below presents the activity related to stock options.

31 December 2004 31 December 2013
Weighted Weighted
average AVETAZE
Mo of stock exercse Mo of stock exer cise
options  price (LU55) options price (USS)
Chutstanding at the beginning of the year 10,214,739 00,53 10,256,821 Q055
Exercised (5,712.248) T8N (41,5342) 96,08
Expired - - (340 26, 08
Outstanding at the end of the year 4,502,491 105.13 10,214,739 0.53
Exercisable at the end of the year 4. 502491 105.23 10,214,739 HLE3

For these options exercised during the vear, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was UUSS169.82

(2013: USS133.08)  The table below presenis oplions cutstanding.

31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Weighted Weighted
AVErage AVEFAZE
Mo, of stock renmining Mo. of stock remaining
options  coniraciual opiions coniractual
outstanding Il (vears) oulstanding life {years)
Exercise Price
S75.00-585.90 3,383,700 4,06 9,078,708 5.00
S00.00-5119.99 - - - -
S120000-5134.9% 271,481 092 288,720 1.92
S135.00-5194.99 - - - -
5195008200, 9% 847310 2.51 847,310 351
Outstanding af the end of the vear 4,502,491 10,214,739
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TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

a.  Analysis of tax charge for the vear:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2014 3 December 2013
LSS (Wi LSS (Wb
Current fax:
UK. cormporalion L 243,315 151,241
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 39,264 2275
Owverseas bioation 61 980 50,153
Total current tax (see note 10h) 344,559 211 660
Deferred tax:
Provisions and cther tirmng differences 104 801 (117,580
Effect of decreazed tax rate on openimg asscl - 38317
Adjustments in respect of prior periods &, 6l {4,504)
Total deferred tax (see note 17) 111,445 (53, 767T)
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 456004 128,02

b, Factors afTecting tax charge for the year:

The difference between the total current tax shown above snd the amount caloulated by applvine the weighted average
rate of UK. corporation tax applicable to the compary for the vear of 21, 5% (2013 23.25%%) to the profit on ordimary

activities before s 15 as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
LI5S (W) LSS e
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 2080475 297,566
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate m the UK.

21.5% (203 23.25%) 447,302 59,154
Timing differences in respect of share-based compensation (93 503) 178 608
Timing differences in respect of pension contribution deduction (65,534 (1,831
Accelerated capital allowances and other timing differences 3,06 (10,529)
Permuonent differences {23,798) (29 23:0)
Expenses not dedictible for tax puposes 2,301 30, Ted
Tax losses surrendered from group undertakings for ml consideration (29,101 (30,018)
Effect of higher taxes on overseas eamings 11.8%4 4441
Exchange differences and other (6,530 (995
Adjustments i respect of prior pertods 39,264 2275
Total current tax 344,559 212,669

The timing differences in respect of share-bazed compensation comprizes the net tax effect of the amounts charged to
the profit and loss account during the vear and awards delivered to emplovees during the vear.

8l
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11. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

The movements in tangible fixed assets during the year were a3 follows:

Fixtures,
Leasehold Mitings and
improvements equipment Totad
LSS 000 LS 000 LISE 004
Cost
At 1 January 2014 25,000 T.921 32921
Addditions 36l 1,698 2.050
Disposals {77 (amn (793)
At 31 December 2014 24,582 9,602 34187
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2014 14,211 4,371 18,582
Charge for the year (zee note 4) 2,692 Divd 3660
Disposals {254) (17 (271)
Al 31 December 2014 16,649 S2 2197
MNet book value
At 31 December 2014 705G A4, 250 12216
At 31 December 2013 10,759 3,550 14,339
12, FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Other
Shares in investmments,
subsidiary other than
undertakings losans Total
LI5S 0k LSS (M) LSS 000
Cost
At 1 January 2014 - 1,267 1,267
Additions . 462 462
At 31 December 2014 - 1,729 1.729
Accumulated amortisation
A1 January 2014 - 69 62
Charge for the vear - - -
At 31 December 2014 . 69 69
MNet book value
Al 31 December 2014 - 1,640 1,660
At 31 December 2013 - 1,198 1,198

Cither investments, other than loans consists of exchange memberships,  The directors consider that the fair value of
investments in subsidiary undertakings and other imvestments, other than loans is not less than their book value
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12.

13

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

The subsidiaries over which the comparny exercizes control at the vear end are listed befow:

Holding and
Couniry of proportion of Class shares  Number Nature of
Name of company incorporation  voling rights  held held husiness
Goldman Sachs (Cavman) Cary an Ordinary Fmancial
Limited Islandds T shares 250 SETVICES
Ipopeama &0 Fundusz Iimvesty oy jny Inwestment
Lamkniety Foland 1 D . s fumd

* This subsidiary undertaking is included in the financial statements on the basis of control obtained other than
throwgh votimg rights attached to shares,

During 2014, the company sold 2 ordinary shares of USE1 each, being the entire share capital issued by Goldman
Sachis International lnvestments Limited, to Goldman Sachs Group UK Lmmted (GEGUK'), the company’s
immediate parent undertaking, for a total consideration of USS2 effective 29 August 2014,

In the prior year, the company acquired additional units for BRL 595 million (U85296 mallion) and redeemed units for
BELL2 billion (UI55569 million) in Sphere Fundo De Investimente Multimercado — Investimento No Exterior
Credite Privado (*Sphere Fundo®,. The compary then transferred iis remaining units in Sphere Fundo to GSGUK,
the company’s immediate parent undertaking, The consideration of USSI91 million was satisfied by way of a
short-term lean. The comparmy realized a net loss of USS36 million over the life of this investment due to the
weakening of Brazilian real against U5, dollar.  During 2014, the short-term loan of 755191 million was fully repaid
i the company.

The commparsy has interests in a number of special purpose vehicles and capital-guaranteed funds which do not meet
the definition of a legal subsidiary, but give rise to the risks and rewards that are, in substance, no different than if they
were legal subsidiaries.  The activities of these special purpose vehicles and the capital -guaranteed fimds consist of
the ssuance of loan notes under the terms of a repackaging programme.  These vehicles are consolidated i the
financial statements of GSGUK.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OWNED AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SOLD, BUT NOT YET
PURCHASED

Finamncial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, but not vet purchazed comprise financial instraments and
mvesiments within the operating activities of the company. Fmnancial instrumenis owned pledged as collateral
represcnis financial instruments owned and pledged to coumterparties that have the right to deliver or repledge,
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13.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OWNED AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS S30LD, BUT NOT YET

FURCHASED (contimied)

Financial instruments owned, mcluding financial instruments owned pledged 8 collateral, comprises:

Cash Instruments';

Comanercial paper, certificates of deposit, time deposits and other

memey meackel instruments
Government and agency obligations

Mortgage and other asset-backed loans and securitics

Bank loans and bridge loans
Corporate and other debt obligations
Equities and convertible debentures

Derbvative instrumenis':
Interest rates

Credit

Currencies

Commodities

Equities

Financial msinmments owned

Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral

Financial mstruments zold, but nod vet purchased comprizes:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013
LSS M) LSS 000
1,225,282 3,391,803
16,920,118 20,892,333
1,998 385 21708594
1,655,905 556,233
12217297 11,440,795
30,675,005 3,740,279
64,729,992 73192337
367,155,116 236,325,613
{4, 656,465 76,062,753
12717413 57,229,166
15,964,183 546429
67.024,263 67,248,503
627,497,440 442,912,464
692,227,432 516,104,801
667,823,041 489,541,270
24,404,391 26,263,511
692,227 432 £16, 104,801

31 December 2004

31 December 2013

LSS 000 TSS
Cash instruments:
Governmment and agency obligations 10,735,033 10,325,775
Corporate and other debt obligations 2270658 2663618
Equities and convertible debentures 14,626 885 13,775,194
27,641,576 26,764,587
Derivative instruments:
Interest rales 350427770 231,757,981
Credit 59,747 636 TO, 750,557
Currencies 113,264,254 57,063 641
Commodities 15,892,008 5403872
Equities 65,430,869 65413405
613,762,737 430,399, 546
641,404,313 457.164,133
1 The compeny has reclassified U552 3 billion of fnancial sstnements from derivative mtnemends bo cash mistnoments and presented cash

mdruments 5 more cabagonss a5 ab 31 Drescariner 1013

metrusnents cwmned pledged as collsteral

Ther= 13 no impact to totsl financial mamumerds owned, meludmg fnanoal
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14,

15

16.

COLLATERALISED AGEEEMENTS
31 December 2014 31 December 2013

USE 000 LISE" 00k

Resale agreements 131,734,812 136,100,718
Securities borrowed BT AU (A 9,753 547
219,235,902 IS BS4.255

Of collateralized agreements, USS] 36,9 billion (2013: USE133.3 billion) relates to group undertakings.

DEETORS

3 December 2014 31 December 2013
LSS iy LI5S 000

Amounts due from broker / dealers and customers 63,403,728 54,460,372
Amounts due from parent and group undertakings 13,710,892 15,025,954
Deferred tax (see note 17) 453,676 583,535
Ciher debrors 34,529 44,250
Prepayments and accrued income 30,383 22,221
Corperation tax receivable . 75,155
7642208 Tin 211,487

Debtors inchides USE77.1 billion (2013: USS&9.5 billion) of financial assets and USE300 million (2013: USST0
million} of non-financial assets,

Of the amounts due from broker/ dealers and customers, USS981 million (201 3: USS180 million) is due inmore than
one vear. These balances relate to secured lending and / or prepaid commodity confracts,

The remaining debtors are all due within oneyear of the balance sheet date,

COLLATERALISED FINANCING
31 December 2004 31 December 2013
LSS 000 LISE" 00k
Fepurchase agrecments 62,395,009 104 989,680
Securities boaned 04 972,786 85,221,168
157,368,695 190,210,548

Of collateralised financing, USS105.1 billion (2003 USS101. 0 billion) relates to group undertakings.

il
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18,

DEFERRED TAX
31 December 2014

31 December 2013

LSS (0 LTSS Wiy

Deferred tax balance comprises (see nofe 15):

Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 3,036 2960

Post-retirement benefits (51.473) (31,278)

Other timing differences 502,113 611,853
453,676 585,535
USS 00

The movements in the deferred tax balance were as lollows:

At January 2014 583,535

Transfer to the profit and loss account for the vear (see note 10a) (111.445)

Transfer tothe statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year (18,035)

Foreign exchange losses (379)

Al 31 Decembeer 2014 453,676

Cher timing differences mumnly relates 1o defermred tax inrespect of share-based compensation.

OTHER CREDITORS
Other creditors, all of which are payvable within one vear of the balance sheet date, comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013
LSS 000 LISE" 0040
Bank loans 110, 509 42,560
Crverdrafls (see note 265 8637 28,45
Drebt securities issued (see note a) 15,544,508 18,960,736
Amounts due to broker / dealers and customers 67,073,244 58457370
Amounts due to parent and group undertakings — unsecured
borrowirgs 49,463,853 37,856,952
Amounts due to parent and group undertakings — other unsecured
creditors 20,992 555 15,273,841
Accrual for msmagerment charges pavable to parent and group
undu'l}d{':ng:’. (see note 19d) 1076675 1,523,525
Corporation tax payalble Ta.033 .
Cdher tacces and social security costs 250,466 134,419
Caher creditors and accneals 875,528 T2 025
LE5. 474,005 133,349,677

Cither creditors ineludes U8S1 55,1 billion (2013: USS133.1 billion) of financial liabilities and USS328 million (2013;

US5234 million) of non-financial liabilites,
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15. OTHER CREDITORS (continued)
4. The classification of shon-tenm debt securities is as follows:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

USE 000 LISE" 0010
Unsecured debt secumities with affiliates 3807021 3819734
Unsecured debt securities with external counterparties 9,135,409 8417.081
Secured debt securities with affiliates 671 961 437,242
Secured debt securities with external counterpartics 1,930,117 6,286,679
15,544,508 18,960, 7346

Secured debt securities are secured by securities which have been pledged as collateral,  This pledged collateral
is either recognised within financial instruments owned or sourced through collsteralised agreements.

19.  CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

USS 000 LI5S 000
Long-term subordinated loans (see note a) 6,4 58, 000 458,000
Dbl securities issued (see note b) 6,386,954 4,205 847
Amoants due o parent and group undertakmgs ~ unsecured
borrowings {sec note cj 2,702,345 3,549,630
Amounts due to parent and groep undertakings - other unsecured
creditors 378547 -
Acerual for management chiarges payable to parent and group
undertakings (see note d) T4 196 1,118,204
16, 70, 42 15331681

As at 31 Decermber 2014 and 31 December 2003, all “creditors: amounis falling duee after more than one vear' are
financial liabilities.

. Themmounts outstandmg at 31 December 2004 and 31 December 2013 are comprised of long-term subordinated
loams from group undertakings, The loans are unsecured and carry interest at a margin over the U5, Federal
Rezerve's federal funds rate.  The margin & resel on a periodic basig 1o reflect changes in the G5 Group®s
weighted average cost of debt. Long-tem subordinated loans of USE6.5 billion (2013; USS6.5 billien)
constitute regilatory capital az approved by the PRA and are repavable subject to PRA approval and wpon giving
of receiving at least 5 years” notice to or from the group undertakings.
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19,

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR (continued)

b.  The clssification of lomg-term deld securities 15 a= follows:
31 December 20014 31 December 2013

USS 000 LISE" 0010
Unsecured delt secimities with affiliates 471,317 101,325
Unsecured debt securities with external counterparties 3,076,081 2,054,357
Secured debt securities with afTiliates 1189528 545,454
Secured debt securities with external counterparties 1,649,728 1,504,671
6,386,954 4,208,847

Secured debt secunities are secured by securities which have been pledged as collateral.  This pledged collateral
is either recognised within financial instruments owned or sourced through collateralised agreements,

The maturity of debi securities is=ued due after more than one vear is as follows:

3 December 2014 31 December 2013

LISZ 000 LIS 00

I more tham one year, but not more than two v ears 1,636,681 967,877
In more than two vears, but not more than five years 3058 0407 1,990,017
In more tham five years 1.691.276 1,247,053
6,386,954 4,205,847

Ameunts due i more than five vears predominantly relate to struchured debt secumities with maturitics falling
from 2020 to 2040,  Payments on these secumnities are typically referenced to underlying financial assets, which
are predominately interest rate-related.

. Amounts due to parent and group imdertakings relate to leng-tenm unsecured bomowings from affiliates, As at
31 December 2014, this includes a single loan with a maturity greater than five vears of US $400 million (201 3:
UE8400 milliony advanced by Restamove Ireland Limited, a fellow group undertaking, inder the terms of an
uncormmitted loan facility dated 26 June 2002 The facility is unsecured, carries interest at a variable rate and
has a matirity of 1 July 2022

d.  The accrual for management charges (per above and note 18) is in respect of share-based compensation.

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

oOoOooodn

LSS 0040
At 1 January 2014 17.740
Charge to the profit and loss accoumn 10, 000
Reduction in provision (160 OeCHy
Foreign exchange gain (H8)
At 31 December 2014 16,792

The remaining provisions of U517 million are in respect of legal claims made against the company.  Further detadls
relating to the provisions have nol been disclosed as permutted by accounting standard FRS12, "Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, on the grounds that it would be seriousky prejudicial to do so,
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21. SHARE CAPITAL
Al 31 December 2014 and 31 December 201 3, share capital comprized:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Mo. LSS 000 MNa. LIRS D)
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of USS1 each 533447150 533447 533447150 533447
533447 E33,447

21, RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN TOTAL SHAREHOLDER 'S FUNDS AND MOVEMENTS ON

RESERVES
Capital
Share reserve Profit Total
Called up premdum {non and loss shareholder’s
share capital account distributable) account funds
LSS (00 USS 000 LISS" Wiy LSS My LSS (M
Al 1 Janwary 2013 533,447 2,862,936 17,286 16,779,784 20193453
Prafit fior the financial year - - - 168,664 168,654
Other recosnised losses for the year - - - (61,6463 (6] &)
Share-based payments (see note 9) - - - 524,935 524,935
Marmgement recharge related to
share-based paviments - - - (524,935) (524.935)
At 1 January 2004 £33.447 2,862,936 17286 16,886,802 20300471
Prafit for the financial year - - - 1,624,471 1,624,471
Other recognised gains for the vear - - - 72,138 TL138
Share-based pmyments (sce note 9) - - - 528918 528918
Marmgement recharge related to
share-based payvments - - - (528.91%) (328.018)
At 31 December 2014 B33447 2,862,936 17286 18,583,411 21,997,050
Pension reserve
31 Decernber 2014 31 December 2013
USS i LSS0
Profit and losz account excluding pension sumpius 18,326,044 16,730,413
Perzion surplus (see note §) 257,367 156,389
Profit and loss accoummt 18,583,411 16,856,802

3. DIVIDENDS PAID

The directors do not recommend the payment of an ordinary dividend in respect of the vear (200 3: USSmil)
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RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING PROFIT TO NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES
31 December 2004 31 December 2013
LSS 0 LSS 000
Operating profit 2274,132 618,173
Depreciation cliurges (see notes 4 and 11) 3,660 3304
Loes on sale of fixed assets (see note 4) 522 -
Withhalding taxes related to the redemption of units in
subsidiary undertaking - 2,133
Pension charge net of cash contributions 2139 5148
Adjustment for foreign exchange losses [ (gains) 207,606 (185192
Increase in debtors (7,657,549 (7,160.552)
Increase | {decrease) m other creditors 21,993,607 (h,181,309)
Inerease in creditors: amounts Billing due after more than one
Vi 1,368,361 3,413,093
(Decrease) [ increase provisions for labilities (9480 2435
Decrease [ {ncrease) in collateralised agreements 6,620,353 (4,326, T00)
(Decrease) [ increase in collateralised financing (32,842,153) B.733465
(Increase) [ decrease in financial instnements owned, including
financial instruments owned pledged as collateral (176,122,631) 70,374,922
Increase / (decrease) m fmancial instnaments sold, but not vet
purchased 184,240,180 (63,010,318)
MNef cash inflow from operating activities B7.369 4278692

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT

31 Decemnber 2014 3 December 2013
USE i LTSS (i
et cash at the start of the year 4,003 836 12777 368
(Drecrease) / increase in cash (234,761 O0E 403
Client money adjustment (see note a) - (9.867,224)
Foreign exchange rate changes (191,570) 188,199
Total cash (see note 26) 3,577,505 4.003.836
Opening borrowings (6.458,000) (9,508,000)
Met decrease in long-term subordinated loans - 3,060,000
Closing horrowings (see note 19) {6, 458,000 {6,458, 0041)
Met debl (see note 26) (2,580,495 (2,454,164)

w.  Im 2013, following changes i industry practice governmg client money, the accounting treatment inrespect of
client money held under the FCA s CASS Chapter 7 was revised. Az at 31 December 200 3, US59.9 billion of
cash al bank aid i hand were no longer reated a5 the company’s assels with a cormesponding lability in other

creditors,
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ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET DEBT

Exchange
3 December 2013 Cash Flows Movements 31 December 2014
LSS (i LTSS B LSS 00 LSS (i
Cash at bank and in hand 4032081 (254, 3600 (191,570 3,586,142
Crverdrafts (28.245) 19,608 - (8.637)
Total cash 4,003,836 {234.761) {191,570) 3,577,505
Long-term subordinated loans
{see note 19) (6,458,000 - - (6,458.004)
Met borrowings (6, 455, (008) - - (6,458, 000)
Met debt (see note 25) (2,454,164) (234,761) (191,570) (2, 550,495)
FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
. Thetable below presents the company’s commitments.
31 December 2014 31 December 2013
LSS (i LISE 0040
Contingent and forward starting resale and securities
borrowing agreements 34,571,820 39 BIR 253
Forward starting repurchase and secured lending
agrecments 14,760,347 20820 153
Other < 000, 528 2,730,920
53,332,695 63,358 326

The company enters imo resale md securities bormrowing agreemenis and repurchase and secured lending
agrecmnents that settle st a future date, generally within three business days. The company also enters into
commitments to provide contingent financing to its clients and counterparties through resale agreements. The
company s funding of these commitments depends on the satisfaction of all contractual conditions to the resale
agreement and these commitments can expire unused,

Other commitments primarily relate to collateral commitments,

In addition, there are registered charges on the company’s asseds which have arisen in the ordinary course of
business.

b. The company leases certain buildmgs on long<erm leases.  Under these leases, which are subject o
rencgofiation &t various intervals specified in the leases, the compary pays all insurance, maintenance and
repairs of these properties,  The rentals that the company is commaitted to pay in the next vear are as follows:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013
LISE" 0040 LISE" 0040
Maturity of lease:

Less than one year 107 Q09
Between one and two years 1,497 22
Between two and five years 6,957 1,274
Owver five yvears 9,252 101,824
95,813 104,225

|
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27, FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

¢.  The comparry is mwvolved in the below legal proceedings, however it is not practicable to estimate an impact, if
amy, of these proceedings.

. The Ewrepean Cormmission anmounced in April 2011 that it was infliating proceedings to imvestigate
further numerous financial services companies, including G351, in comection with the supply of data
related to credit default swaps and in connection with profit sharing and fee smrangements for clearing of
credit default swaps, mwleding potential anticompetitive practices. Om 1 July 2013, the Ewropean
Commission issued to these financial services companies a Statement of Objections alleging that they
colluded to limit comgeetition in the trading of exchange-traded unfunded credit dervatives and exchange
trading of credit default swaps more generally, and selting oul its process for determining fines and other
remnedies.  G31's current inderstanding iz that the proceedings related to profit sharing and fee
arrangernents for clearing of credit default swaps have been suspended indefinitely.

ii. Warious alleged purchasers of, and counterparties involved in transactions relating to, morigage
pass-through certificates, CDOz and other mortgage-related products (including Aczora Bank, Lid., Basis
Yield Alpha Fund (Master), Demtsche Zentral -Genossenschaftbank and IKB Deutsebe Industriebank AGG)
have filed complaints in the United States against the company and certain of its affiliates, generally
alleging that the offering decuments for the securities that they purchased comtained unirue statemments of
miaterial fact and matenial omissions and generally secking rescission and / or damages.  Certain of these
complaints allege frawd and seek punitive danmges,

. GSIis the defendant inan action filed on 21 Jammary 2014 with the High Court of Justice in Lendon by the
Libvan Investinent Authonty, relating to mine dervative tramsactions between the plamtifT and GS1 and
seeking, among other things, rescission of the transactions and unspecified equitable compensation and
damages exceeding USSL billion. On 4 August 2014, GSI1 withdrew its 10 April 2014 motion for
summary judgment, and on 4 December 2014, the Libyan Investment Authority filed an amended
staterment of claim

iv. GSI is among the defendants in putative class actions, filed beginming 23 May 2014 in the U.S, District
Court for the Southermn District of New Yok, based en alleged violations of the federal amtitrnust laws in
comnection with the management of zinc storage facilities,  The complaints seek declaratory, injunctive
and other equitable relicf as well as unspecified monctary damages, including treble damages.

v, GEI s ammong the defendants nasmed in putstive class actions relating to trading in platinum and galladiom,
filed beginning on 25 MNovember 2014, in the U5, District Court for the Southemn District of Mew York,
The complaints generally allece that the defendants violated federal antitrust laws and the Commeodity
Exchange Act in connection with an alleged conspiracy to manipulate a benchmark for plysical platinum
and palladivm prices and seek declaratory and wgumctive reliel as well as treble damages in an unspeci fied
amunk.

25, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Certain disclosures required by UK. GAAP in refation o the company's financial risk management and capital

meanagement have been presented alongside other risk management and regulatory information in Part | of this annual
report
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a.  Finamcial instroment by category
The table below presents the carrving value of the company ‘s financial assetz md financial labilities by category.

31 December 2014

Total
Held for  Designated Loans and  Amortised carrying
irading at Falr value recelvables cost vilue
USSm USSm LSS LSSm USEm
Financial assets:
Fmancial mstrurments owned 657 823 - - - 67,823
Financial mstnuments owned pledged
a2 collateral 24,404 . . - 24,404
Collateralized agrecments - 174,527 44,707 . 219,234
Debrtors - 1,780 75362 . 77,142
Cash at bank and in hand - - 3,586 - 3,586
Total financial assets 692,227 176,307 123,655 - 992,189
Financial liabilities:
Fmancial matrumerits sold, but pot vet
purchased 641 404 - - - 41 404
Collateralized financing . 103,492 - 53,877 157,369
Chher creditors . 16,149 - 138,997 155,140
Creditors: amounts falling due after
meee than one vear - 5800 - 10,801 18, 700
Total Mnancial liabilities 641,404 125,540 - 203,675 70619
31 Decemher 2013
Total
Held lfor  Designated Loans and  Amortised carrying
trading at fair value receivables cost value
USSm LU5Sm USSm LSSm L'SEm
Financial assets:
Fmancial instruments owned 489 841 - - - 489,841
Fmancial mstruments owned pledged
as col lateral 25, 264 - i - 26,264
Collateralised agreements . 173 448 52,406 - 125854
Diebtors - 1,087 G424 < 6511
'ach at bark and in hand - - 4,032 - 4,032
Todal financial asseds 516,005 174,535 124,862 - R15.502
Financial liabilities:
Fmancial mstruments sold, but not yet
purchased 457,164 - - . 457164
Collateralised financing - 134,795 = 55416 190,211
Cither creditors . 18,9446 . 114,170 133,116
Creditors: amounts falling due after
more than one year - 3.181 - 12,151 15,332
Total fMinanclal Habilitles 457,164 156,922 - 181,737 TR 83

93
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)
b.  Fair valoe hierarchy

The table below presents, by level wathin the fair value hierarchy, financial azsetz and financial liabilities measured at
fair value.

31 December 2014

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
US%m L'S5m USEm USSm
Financial assets at falr value:
Financial mstruments owned, including financial
instrurments owned pledged as collateral 38,836 H38.233 15158 692227
Collateralized agreements - 174,527 - 174,527
Debrtors - 1.780 - 1,780
Total Mnancial assels al Mair valoe 38536 R14.540 15158 B6R, 534
Financdal Babilities at Fair value:
Fimancial mstrurments sold, but not yet purchased 12,785 H08,5306 10,083 41,404
Collateralized financing - 103,368 124 103,492
Other creditors - 13412 2,737 16,149
Creditors: amounts Falling due after more than one year - 5,056 43 5,899
Total financial liabilities at fair value 22,785 T303TL 13,787 T, 944

31 December 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
LS5m LUS5m USSm LSS m
Firsncial assets at fair value:
Financial mstruments owned, including financial
imstruments owned pledeed as collateral 45123 457568 13414 316,105
Collateralized agreements - 173448 - 173.448
Debtors - 27 180 1.087
Total financial assets at fair vabue 45,123 631,923 13,594 690, 640
Financial liabilities at fair value:
Fnancial mstrurmenis sold, but not vet purchased 22 580 425390 Q154 457,164
Collateralized financing - 133,785 1000 134,795
Other creditors . 16,765 2181 18,946
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year - ol 487 3,181
Total Onancial liabilities at Fair value 12,580 578634 12,572 614,086

During 2004 and 2003, there were no significant transfers between level 1 and 2 fmancial assets and financial
liabilities, The following tables present the changes in fair value for all the financial assctz and financial lisbilities
categorised as level 3. Gains and losses arising on level 3 assets are recogmized within net revenue in the profit and
lo=s account.

If a financial asset or financial lability was ransfermed to level 3 durmg a reporting vear, its entine gain or loss for the
vear iz included in level 3. Transfers between levels are recognised at the beginning of the reporting year in which
they occur.  Accordingly, the tables do not include gams or losses thal were reported i level 3 in prior year for
financial assets and financial liabilities that were transfermed out of level 3 prior to the end of the year,

o
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b.  Falr value hierarchy (continued)

Level 3 financial instrumems are frequently economically bedged with level 1, level 2 and level 3 financial
mstrmments.  Accordingly, gains or losses that are reported in level 3 can be partially offset by gains or losses
attribastable to level 1, level 2 or level 3 instrisments.  As a result, gains of lozses included in the level 3 rollforward
below do not necessanly represent the overall ompact on the company s results of operations, liquidity or capital
FESHITCES,

Financial

Instruments

awnied, induding

NMinancial
instruments owned Total financial
pledged as assels at
Reconciliation of level 3 Anancial assets al Fair collateral Drebtors fair value
value: USEm UISSm USSm
At 1 January 2014 13414 180 13,504
Profit for the year 4,423 - 4423
Purchases 2028 - 2028
Sales (irard ] = (7713
Settlemernits (3,006) {5,096)
Transfers into level 3 2,759 - 2759
Transfers out of level 3 (1.59%) (180) {1,775
At 31 December 2014 15,158 - 15,155

Other creditors
Fimancial and ereditors:

instruments sold, amounts falling ~ Total financial
Reconcllintion of level 3 bt mok yed Collateralised  due after more liabilities at
fMinandal liabilities at e purchased financing than one veur fair value
value: LU'SSm USEm U5Sm L'S5m
At 1 January 2014 9194 1.010 2,668 12,872
Profit for the year 2,330 - (132) 2204
Purchases (5) . 2 (3)
Sales 52 - 2,954 3936
Settlements (3,150 (386) (1,773) (5,838
Transfers into level 3 2,293 - 447 2740
Transfers out of level 3 (1,537 x (588) {2,123
At 3 December 2014 10,083 124 3,580 13,787

During 2014, level 3 trunsfers mto financial assets of USS28 billion and financial habilities of USS27 billion
primearily reflect ransfers of certain credit derivatives from level 2, principally due to reduced transparency of the
comelation inputs used to value these dervatives as a result of less observable trading activity, and transfers of certain
oiher credit derivatives from level 2, principally due to unobservable credit spread inputs becoming significant to the
valuation of these instruments.

During 2014, level 3 transfers out of financial aszets of USS1E billion and financial liabilities of USS2.1 billion
prinarily reflect transfers of certain credit derivatives to level 2, principally due to unobservable corelation inputs no
Iomger being significant to the valuation of these derivatives, and the transfers of certain credit derivatives to level 2,
principally due to unobservable credit spread inputs no longer being significant to the net sk of certain portfiolios.
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8,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

b.  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Financial
instruments
owned, incduding
financial
instruments owned Todal fnancial
pledged as assets al
Reconciliation of level 3 financial assets at Fair collateral Debtors Tair value
value; USEm USSm USSm
At 1 January 2013 16,075 166 16,241
Profit for the year 904 14 1,010
Purchases 1,601 - 1,601
Sales (1,307) - (1,307)
Settlements (4480 - {4,482
Transfers into level 3 2463 - 2463
Transfers mu of level 3 (1,932) - (1,932
At 31 December 2013 13,414 150 13,504
Other ereditors
Financial and creditors: .
instruments sold, amounts falling ~ Total financial
Recondilistion of level 3 bt mot vel Collater alised due alter more liabilities at
Mnancial lahilities at Galr purchased financing than one vear Fair value
value: USEm USEm USSm USSm
At 1 January 2013 0915 1,927 2,390 14,232
Profit for the vear 1,272 - o9 1,371
Purchases (8) - 3) (1)
Sales 581 . 1,654 2275
Settlements (3,136) (917 (1,540 (5,593)
Transfers into level 3 1,937 - s 2252
Transfers md of level 3 (1,367 - (287) {1,654)
At 31 December 2013 9,194 1,010 1,665 12,5872

During 2003, level 3 transfers into financial assets of USS2S billion and financial habilines of U823 billion
primarily reflect translers of certain credit derivatives from level 2, principally due to reduced transparency of upfront
creiit points and correlation inputs used to value these dervatives,

Durmg 2013, level 3 transfers out of financial azeets of USE1.9 billion and fnancial liabilities of USS1.7 billica
primanly reflect transfers of certain credit derivatives to level 2. principally due to unobzervable credit spread and
corelation impuls no longer being significant to the valuation of these dervatives ind unobservable inputs not beang
significant to the net risk of cenain portfolios,
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8,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)
t.  Fair value financial instruments valued using technigues that incorporate unobservable nputs

The fair value of fimancial instrumerts may be determined in whole or part uzing a valuation technique based on
assumptions that are not supported by prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument or
based on available chaervable market data and changing these assunptions will change the resultant estimate of fair
value, The potential impact as at 31 December 2004 of using reasomable possible altemative assumptions for the
valuations including significant unobservable inputs has been quantified as approximately USS179 million (2013;
USS113 rmlhon) for favourable chamges and USS146 million (2013: US5127 million) for unfavourable changes,  In
determining reasenably possible altermative unfavourable assumptions a detailed business and position level review
has been performed to identify and quantify instances where polential uncertainty exists.  This has laken into account
the positions" current value as compared to the range of availab le mark et information,

The amounts nod recopnised in the profit and loss account relatmg to the difference between the fair value of financial
instruments held for trading st initial recognition (the transaction price) and the amounts determined at initial
recommition using the valustion techniques ("Day 1 P&L") are a= follows:

2014 23
LIS Sm LSS
At I January a0 1k
Mew transactions 118 +
Amounts recognised in the profit and loss aceount during the
year (62) (68}
At 31 December 136 80

d.  Fair valie of Gnancial instraments nod measiced af fair value

The company has USS123.7 billion (2003: USS124.9 billion) of current financial aszets and USS192.9 billion (2013:
USS169.6 billion) of current financial liabilities that are not measured at far value. Given the short-termn nature of
these instruments, their camying amounts in the balance sheet are a regsonable approcimation of fair value,

The compary has USE10.8 billion (2013: US£12.2 billion) of financial liabilities that are due after more than one year
that are not measured ol far value which predominantly relate to long<erm intercompany bomowings.  The mterest
rates of these borrowings are variable in nature and approximate prevailing market interest rates for instnuments with
girmilar terms and characterstics,  As such, their carving amounts in the balince sheet are a reasonable
approximation of fair value,

2741296
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
e, Maturity of financal liabilities

The following table details the compamy’s cash flows of s financial Babilities by contractual maturity including
miterest that will acorue, except for financial instruments sold, but not yvet purchased.  Fmancial imstruments sold, but
ot vet purchased are classified a2 trading / on demand.  Firmncial liabilitiez, with the exception of those that are held
for tradmg or designated at fair value through profit and loss, are disclosed at ther undiscounted cash flows.  The fair
values of financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilitics designated at fair value through profit and loss
have been disclosed a= this i= consistent with the values used in the hguadity risk management of these instraments.
Liquidity risk on derivatives is mitigated through master netting agrecments and cash collateral arrangements,

31 December 2014

More More Maore
than one than three than one
vt by bt months year
Trading / Laess  less than but less but less  Grealer
On  than one three than one than five than five
Demaned moenth ment hs year YeArs YEars Total
USEm USSm USSm US5m LS8m USSm  USSm
Financial abilities:
Financial instruments sold,
bt ned vet purchased 641,404 - . . - = 641,404
Collateralised financing T4,056 63,446 7071 10,282 2418 ] 157,369
Other creditors 91919 13,1%6 439 0,068 - = 155622
Creditors: amounts falling doe
after more than one vear . 2 4 26 Q110 2675 17.817
Total - on-balance-sheet BOT 37T 76,644 7814 60,376 11,528 871 973212
Contingenit and forward
starting resale and scouritics
borrowing agreements - 34.572 - - - - 34,572
Operating leases - g 16 T4 3gs 20 563
Oaher 4,001 - - - - - 4,001
Toial ~ commitments 4,001 34,580 16 T4 3BE 0 30,136
Total 811,380 111,224 7530 6,450 11.913 B.851 1,011,348
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

e Maturity of Nnancial Nabilities (continued)

31 December 2013

More More Maore
than one than three  than one
manth but months Year
Trading / Less  lessthan bt less  butless  Greater
On  than one three  than one  than Ove  than five
Demand month mant hs Year Yedars ¥ears Total
LS3m USSm USEm LiS5m USEm USSm  USSm
Financial Habilities:
Financial instruments sold,
but not vet purchased 457,164 - . - - - 457164
Collateralized financing #4351 T1.878 13,645 17,708 1,000 149 190,211
Other creditors 75934 14,126 2331 41,173 - = 133,564
Creditors: amounts falling due
after more than one year - 2 1 8 7,770 8719 16523
Total — on-halance-sheet 617,429 86,06 15,950 28900 8770 10,368 797,462
Contingent and forward
starting rezale and securities
borrowing agrecments - 0,828 i & - = 30828
Operating leases - o 17 T8 409 184 697
Cither 2,740 - - - - - 2,740
Total — commitments 2,740 30,837 17 78 409 154 43,268
Total 620,169 125843 15,997 28,9587 9,179 10,552 540,727
I.  Collateral

The company receives financial instnements {e.g., govermiment and agency obligations, corporate debt securities,
equitiez and convertible debentures) az collateral. primarily in comnection with resale agreements, securitiez
borrowed, derivative transactions and customer margin loans,  The compamy obtains cash and securities as collateral
o an upfiront of contingent basis for dervative instnuments and collsteralised agreements to reduce its credit exposure
to individual counterparties,

In memy cases, the company & pemnitted Lo deliver o repledge hnancial instrienents received as collateral when
entering into repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements, primarily in connection with secured client
financing activity. The company 15 also permitted to deliver or repledee these financial instruments in connection
with other secured financings, collateralizsing derivative transactions and meeting comgany of customer seitlement
TeqUICETTETiLS.

The table below presents financial instruments received as collateral that were available to be delivered, or repledged
and were defivered or repledged by the company,

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

US3m USSm
Collateral available to be delivered or repledged 369,545 M2edl
Collateral that was delivered or repledged 294,994 279,698
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8,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
I Collateral {continued)

The company also pledges certam financial instruments owned in connection with repurchase agresments, secunities
lending agreements and other secured financings to counterpartics who may or may net have the right to deliver or
repledee.  Financial mstruments ovwned and pledged to counterparties that have the right to deliver or repledge are
mcluded within ‘Financial instruments owned pledzed a5 collateral” o the balance sheet, whereas financial
instruments owned and pledged to counterparties that did not have the right to =ell or pledge are included in “Financial
mstruments owned® m the balance sheet.  The table below presents information about financial mstriments pledged
1o counterpartics by the company.

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Carrying amoundt Carrying amount

USEm USSm

That had the right te deliver or repledge 24,404 26,264
That did not have the nght to deliver or repledze 17,656 22360

The company has received cash collateral in respect of financial nstnments owned of USSS7.5 billion (2013
US545.8 billion) and posted cash collateral in respect of financial instruments sald, but not yet purchased of US335.5
billion (2013: USS25.6 billion).

In addition to repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions, the company fimds cerfain assets through the
use of other secured financings and pledges fmancial instruments as collateral in these transactions. These other
secured financings consist of liabilities related to special purpose  entities, transfers of financial assets that are
accounted for as inancings rather than sales and other structured financing amangements.  Other secured financings
include arrangements that are non-recourse.

g Tramslerred assels
Assels conlinued to be recognised in Mull

Durmg the vear, the company transferved certain financial assets where the transfers fuled 1o meet the derecognition
criteria, as contamned in FES26 (TAS39) “Financial Instrument=: Kecognition and Megsurament”, and as a resull of
which the conpany continues to recognise these assets in full on the balance sheet.

The company transfers azsets owned to counterpanties in the ordinary course of business to collateralise repurchase
agreements and other securities lending transactions. In these ransactions the transferred assels comtinue Lo be
recomised by the company for sccounting purposes because the transactions require the financial istruments to be
repurchased at maturity of the agreement and the company remaing exposed to the price, credit and interest rate risk of
these instrurments.  When the company receives cazh procesds from the transfer of the asset, a fmancial liabilite is
recognised in respect of the consideration received and recorded within “collateralised financing’, When the
cofmpany receives non-cash collateral (in the form of securities) no liability i initially recognised. If collateral
received is subsequently sold, the obligation to return the collateral 15 recognised as a liability within “Financial
instruments sold, but not yet purchased”,

In addition to repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements, the company obtains fiunding through the use
of other ammgements that Fail to meet the derecogmition criteria  For exmnple, sales of securities with related
derivatives, such as total return swaps, through which the company retains substantialty all of the risk and reward of
the transferred assets. A financial liability is recognised in such cases for the proceeds received,

Other financial azsets transferred that continue to be recognised on balance sheet for accounting purposes relate o
pledges of securities as collateral, primarily for derivative transactions.  The obligations under such derivatives are
recorded in Financial instruments 2old, but not yet purchazed’,

100
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8,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

g.  Transferred assets (continued)

The following table presents limncial aszetz which have been transferred but which remain on bakance sheet for
gccounting purposes.  The camying amount of the associated financial liabilities generally approcimate the cammying

aimeumt of the assets transferred.

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Carrying amount Carrying amount
USSm LSSm

Comrmercial paper, certificates of deposit, time deposits and other
money market instnements 1,047 1,940
Government and agency obligations 11,085 14,518
Mortgage and other asset-backed loans and securities - Q5
Corporate and other debt obligations 6,248 7326
Equities and comvertible debreiiures 23670 28,745
42,0610 48,624

Derecognised assets with ongeing exposure

The compury has contimuing involvement m the form of dervative transactions and guarantees with certam
non-consolidated siructured entities to which the company had transferred financial assets.  These derivatives may be
credit-linked to the asset transfored and resull in the company retaning specific risks m the transferred asset or
require the company to make payments to the structured entity to compensate losses on the asset if certain contingent
EVERILE OCCUT,

In addition, the company transfers fmancial assets to securtisation vehicles, The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transforred assets but may have contimung involvement with the transfered assets, including
ownership of beneficial mterestz in the securitisation. The compamy may alzo purchase senior or subordinated
securities issusd by securitisation vehicles in connection with secondary market-making activities.

The followang disclosures provide further information about the company’s exposure through this contmuing
mvolvernent.  In all cases these retained mterests are cammied at fair value,

31 December 20014 31 December 20013
Carrying Masimum Carrying Maximim
amount  exposure to loss amount  exposure Lo loss
USEm UsEm USEm USSm
Finamcial instruments owned:
Derivative instriments 120 1.308 62 1,305
Cash instniments 64 [ 142 142
Financial instruments sold, bt not
yet purchased:
Desivative instniments et (93 (313 (235)
Other liabilities - . . .

Where the company”s contimuing involvement in transfiermed assets is through derivatives or guarantees, the macimum
exposure to less is the notional amounts of the derivative or guarantee.  For refained or purchased interests in
securitised assetz, the compary's risk of loss is limited to the fair value of these interests.

1
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8,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)
g.  Transferred assets (continued)

For transactions with continuing invelvemnent, the following table shows information about the gains or lesses,

31 December 20014 31 December 2013
Income / Cumulative Income / Cruarmlative
(expense) in the income /|  {expense) in the imeome /
Year (expense) year (expense)
USEm USEm USEm USEm
Financial instruments owned:
Dierivative nsinuments 6t 144 2 73
Cash instruments 27 11w 63 92
Financial instruments sold, but not
yel purchsed:
Derivative instruments 2 (31) (5 (33
Other liabilities - (1) - (1)

The company accounts for assets pending transfer at fair value and therefore does mot typically recogmise significant
gaing or losses upon the transfer of assets,  The company does not have comtinuing involvement that could require the
company lo repurchase derecognised financiml assets.

h.  Hedge accounting

The company designates certain interest rate swaps as fair value hedges.  These interest rate swaps hedge changes in
fair value attributable to the relevant benchmark interest rate (e.g.. London Interbank Offered Rate CLIBOR'Y),
cffectively converting fixced-rate obligations into floating-rate oblizations.

The company applics a statistical method that utilises regression analyvsis when assessing the effectiveness of its fair
value hedging relationships in achieving offsetting changes i the fair values of the hedging instrument and the risk
being hedeed (e, interest raterisk).  An interest rate swap 15 considered highly effective in offeetiing changes in fair
value attributable to changes in the hedged risk when the regression analysis results in a coefficient of determination
of 81¥% or greater and 2 slope between 309 and 125%

For qualifving fair value hedges, gains or lossez on derivatives and the change in fair value of the hedged item
attribastable to the hedged nisk are included m net revenue.  When a derivative i1s no longer designated 25 a hedge, amy
remaining difference between the camying value and par value of the hedgesd item is amortised over the remmining life
of the hedged item using the effective interest method,

The table below presents the gamns |/ (losses) from interest rate denivatives accounted for as hedges, the relsted hedged
borrowings aid the hedge ineffechiveness on these derivatives,

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

LI5S D LISS" i

Interest rate hedges 4870 (20367)
Heiged borrowings (72931 18.11%
Hedge inefMectiveness 4,939 (2.248)

The fair value of aszet and liability demvative metnaments designated az hedees were USS188 million and USS10
million, respectively, as at 31 December 2014 {2013 assets of USS113 million and liabilities of USS40 million).

102
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3.

OTHER ITEMS
Basel 111 Fillar 3 disclosures

The company is included in the consolidated Pillar 3 disclosures of GSGUE, which are required by the ELT Capital
Bequirements Regulation. GSGUK's 2014 Pillar 3 disclosures will be made available, m comunction with the
publication of its financial staterents, at www, goldmansachs com/disclosures’,

itry-hy- VI i

The company 15 included in the consolidated country-by-country reporting disclosures of GSGUK, which are
required by the Capital Requirements (Country-ty-Country  Eeporting) REegulations 2013, GSGUK's 2014
courdry-by-country  disclosures  will  be  made  available by 31 Decanber 2015 ol
www, goldmansachs comidisclesures!,

ULTIMATE AND IMMEDIATE PARENT UNDERTAKINGS

The immediate parent undertaking and the parent company of the smallest group for which consolidated financial
statements are prepared & Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited, a company incorporated and registered in England and
Wales. Copies of Goldiman Sachs Group UK Limited’s consolidated Nmmcsal statements are avalable on request
from The Company Secretary, Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited, Peterborough Court, 133 Fleet Street, London,
EC4A 2BB, United Kingdom

The ultimate controlling umdertaking and the parent company of the largest group for which consolidated financial
statements are prepared is The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc,, a company incorporated m the United States of America
Copies of ils consolidated financial staternents, az well az certain regulatory filings, for example Quarterly KEeport on
Form 10-0) and Aromal Report on Form 10-K, that provide additional information on GS Group and its business
activities, can be obtained from Investor Relations, 200 West Street. Mew York, NY 10282, United States of America,
G8 Group's principal place of business, or at www.goldmansachs.com'shareholders',
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Independent auditors report to the members of
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
(unlimited company)

Report on the financia statements

Our opinion
In our opinion the financia statements, defined below:

» give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2014 and of its profit and cash flows for
the year then ended;

*  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
This opinion isto be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report.

What we have audited

Thefinancial statements, which are prepared by Goldman Sachs International, comprise:

» thebalance sheet as at 31 December 2014;

» theprofit and loss account and statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year then ended;
» the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

* thenotesto the financial statements, which include other explanatory information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial
statements. These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in
respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future
events.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors Report and Strategic Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
» we have not received al the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

» adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or

» thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.
We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors
remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

290/296



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

Responsibilities for the financia statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities set out on page 57, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financia statements and for being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and ISAs
(UK & Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board' s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statementsinvolves

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (‘' 1SAs (UK & Ireland)’). An
audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of:

»  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed,;

» thereasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and

» theoverall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors judgements against available evidence, forming our own
judgements, and evaluating the disclosuresin the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide
a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls,
substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies
with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Duncan McNab (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

7 More London Riverside

London

SE12RT

26 March 2015
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of
Goldman Sachs International (unlimited company)

Report on the financia statements

Our opinion
In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International’ s financial statements (the “financial statements’):

» give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as of December 31, 2015 and of its profit and cash flows for

the year then ended;
»  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

»  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited

Thefinancial statements, included within the Annual Report, comprise:

» theBalance Sheet as of December 31, 2015;

» theProfit and Loss Account and the Statements of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended,;
» the Statements of Cash Flows for the year then ended;

» the Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and

» the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial

statements. These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited.

The financia reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financia statements is United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in
respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future

events.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors Report for the financial year for which the financial

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
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» we have not received al the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

»  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or

« thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors

remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities set out on page 50, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financia statements and for being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
Internationa Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“1SAs (UK & Ireland)”). Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board' s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may

come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statementsinvolves

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from

material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. Thisincludes an assessment of:

»  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed;

» thereasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and

» theoveral presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors judgements against available evidence, forming our own
judgements, and evaluating the disclosuresin the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide
a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls,
substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies

with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or
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materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any

apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Duncan McNab (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

7 More London Riverside

London

SE12RT

March 14, 2016
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